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Introduction
Frankston City Council is committed to
transparent reporting and accountability to
the community. The Report of Operations
2015-2016 is the primary means of advising
the Frankston City community about
Council’s operations and performance
during the financial year.

Snapshot of Council

Currently the City provides regional shopping,
education, health, community service, financial,
recreation, leisure and entertainment facilities for a
population catchment far greater than its municipal
boundaries.

Demographic profile
•
•
•

Welcome to Frankston City
We would like to acknowledge that we are situated
on the traditional lands of the Boonerwrung and
Bunurong, this special place now known by its
European name, Frankston. We offer our respect to
their elders and through them, all Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander people.

•

About Frankston City
Frankston City is located on the eastern shores of
Port Phillip Bay approximately 40 kilometres south
of Melbourne. It has a population of 135,971
(Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS)) which is
predicted to grow to 152,494 people by 2036.
Frankston City is within metropolitan Melbourne
and covers an area of about 131 square kilometres
from the Seaford Wetlands in the north, to
Frankston South in the south, and the Western Port
Highway in the east. The western boundary of the
City is made up of about 11 kilometres of beautiful
coastline, clean foreshores and beaches along the
Bay.
Frankston City comprises the suburbs of Frankston,
Frankston South, Frankston North, Seaford, Carrum
Downs, Langwarrin, Karingal, Sandhurst and Skye.
Frankston City is strategically placed as the regional
centre for the Mornington Peninsula and the southeast growth corridor of Melbourne.
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•

•

•

•

Frankston City has a population of 135,971
(ABS) which is predicted to grow to 152,494
people by 2036 (.id forecast)
There are 54,890 private dwellings in Frankston
City
41.4 per cent of people in Frankston City are in
the process of buying their own home (paying
off a mortgage), 27.2 per cent own their own
homes and 27.5 per cent are renting (2011
Census)
Manufacturing (at 14 per cent of the labour
force) was Frankston City’s largest employment
sector, followed by retail trade (12.3 per cent),
health care and social assistance (11.9 per cent)
and construction (11.6 per cent). The
percentage in each employment sector is
slightly higher than that of the Greater
Melbourne area (2011 Census)
Frankston City’s unemployment rate was 6.0
per cent for the June 2016 quarter, the lowest
unemployment rate since June 2011. This
compares with 5.9 per cent for both Greater
Melbourne and Victoria (Australian
Government Department of Employment)
Of the income ranges for households in
Frankston City, the largest group (12.4 per cent)
earn between $1,500 and $1,900 a week. This is
followed by households earning between $400
and $599 a week (9.7 per cent) (2011 Census)
14,046 people in Frankston City regularly
volunteer their time with an organisation or
group, or do unpaid work such as looking after
children, or provide unpaid assistance to a
person with a disability (2011 Census)
21.7 per cent of Frankston City residents (aged
15 and over) have a vocational qualification,
compared to 15 per cent of Greater Melbourne
residents. 11.9 per cent of Frankston City
1

•

residents have a Bachelor or higher degree and
8.5 per cent have an Advanced Diploma or
Diploma (compared to 23.6 and 8.8 per cent
respectively for Greater Melbourne residents)
(2011 Census)
Frankston City has a diverse population with 10
per cent of people coming from countries
where English is not their first language. 21.8
per cent of Frankston City’s population was
born overseas, with 7.9 per cent born in the
United Kingdom, 2.3 per cent born in New
Zealand and one per cent born in India (2011
Census)

Fast facts
In 2015-2016 in Frankston City, there were:
• 1,193 four year olds and 432 three year olds
enrolled in kindergarten
• 14,350 visits to a Maternal and Child Health
(MCH) centre and 2,021 home MCH visits
• 3,325 infants and 4,340 secondary students that
attended immunisation sessions
• 519 parents that attended a parent education
program session
• 35,019 young people that attended activities at
Youth Hangouts
• 118,170 hours of ageing and disability care
support provided to Frankston City residents
• 49,722 Meals on Wheels meals provided to
Frankston City residents
• 6,580 passengers on the community transport
buses
• 4,207,493 bins emptied (residential, commercial
and public place bins)
• 335 Public Health and Wellbeing inspections and
1,483 Food Act inspections conducted by Council
• 740 planning applications received and 750
planning decisions made by Council
• 1,700 fire hazard inspections undertaken by
Council
• 25,041 pets registered: 18,491 dogs and 6,550
cats
• 400,695 visits to Frankston City libraries
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• 160,241 attendances at the Frankston Arts
Centre
• 126,200 people that participated in major
festivals and events
In 2015-2016 Frankston City Council managed the
following facilities and assets on behalf of the
community:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

425 reserves
67 sportsgrounds
826 km of pathways
700 km of local roads
107 bridge and pedestrian structures
926 km stormwater drains
34,649 stormwater management pits
336 buildings, including community centre,
family and youth, parks and leisure, civic, aged
services and arts and library

Council purpose
Our vision
A sustainable regional capital on the Bay – vibrant,
inclusive and a natural lifestyle choice.
Our mission
Lead and govern a connected community and
deliver services and infrastructure which promote
the quality of life for our current and future
generations.
Our values
The core values that will help Council achieve the
vision are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Community
Respect
Excellence
Accountability
Team
Integrity
Sustainability
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Highlights of the year
Long term community outcome one:
planned city for future growth
Achievements in 2015-2016 include:
•

•
•
•
•

•
•
•

Council successfully lobbied for:
o A business case for the electrification of
the rail line to Baxter, which will reduce
pressure on parking and open up land for
development in the city centre
o Improved access to the Somerville Plant of
Inghams, which will facilitate further
expansion and job creation for Frankston
and Mornington Peninsula residents
o An expanded rollout of high speed
broadband to employment precincts
throughout the city to increase Frankston’s
economic competitiveness
o An independent assessment on
Melbourne’s need for a second port,
potentially reopening discussions of the
future about the Port of Hastings
Council’s economic development focus was
independently assessed by the Regional
Australia Institute as the fourth best in Australia
Continued focus on job creation as a priority
through the adoption of the Economic
Development Strategy 2016-2022
Invest Frankston campaign was named Best
Marketing Strategy at the Economic
Development Australia national awards
Ten businesses attracted to Frankston through
the ‘Business Investment Program’, creating
134 jobs, $36.6 million in Gross Output and
total Gross Regional Product of $17.7 million
Creation of the Entrepreneur's Network to
encourage innovation in the business
community
Launch of the South East Melbourne Group of
Councils Regional Plan
Commenced official planning work on the $63
million redevelopment of the Frankston Station
Precinct and Young Street
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Please refer to the ‘Our performance’ section for
more information about these achievements.

Long term community outcome two:
liveable city
Achievements in 2015-2016 include:
•

•

•

•
•
•
•
•

•

Improved access to Council services through
the:
o Relocation of Seaford Customer Service
Centre to the Seaford Community Centre
o Seaford Community Centre refurbished to
include a full branch library
o Expansion of Council’s call centre at the
Frankston Civic Centre
o Development and implementation of the
Customer Focused Strategy framework
Successful launch of the tourism event
attraction program resulting in five new events
coming to Frankston in 2016-2017, potentially
attracting an additional 20,000 visitors
The positioning of Wells Street as Frankston’s
premier retail street through streetscape works
and contracting renowned operators Craft
Markets Australia to run the Thursday market
Council-owned Peninsula Aquatic Recreation
Centre received a Victorian Government award
for disability access
Completion of the Frankston Yacht Club and the
Frankston Park Function Centre
redevelopments
A $1.3 million expansion of Delacombe Park
Preschool finished, doubling the capacity of the
centre
Upgrade of Frankston South Community and
Recreation Centre network providing improved
connectivity for the community
New Frankston War Memorial opened ahead of
ANZAC Day and Carrum Downs Memorial Hall
works completed with an honour board,
commemorative rock and new war memorial
Secured funding for the $12.7 million Frankston
Basketball Stadium expansion project and $1.05
million for the Carrum Downs Recreation
Reserve
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•
•

Frankston Arts Centre kitchen, bar and café
refurbished
Jubilee Park netball courts and Baxter Park
pavilion refurbishments completed and
McClelland Reserve Soccer Pavilion
redevelopment commenced

Please refer to the ‘Our performance’ section for
more information about these achievements.

Long term community outcome three:
sustainable city
Achievements in 2015-2016 include:
• Winner of the 2015 Australian Sustainable Cities
Award
• Launch of the MyFrankston App, enabling
payments and the reporting of issues via smart
phones
• Council’s corporate website
(frankston.vic.gov.au) and tourism website
(visitfrankston.com) were updated to be more
user friendly on tablets and smart phones
• Almost 700 residents attended Council's
Greening our Future events with excellent
positive feedback, including a Follow Your Waste
tour, Native Gardening for Wildlife workshop
and Before Going Solar session
• Nineteen solar power systems installed across
Council facilities, totalling approximately 230
kilowatts in size and reducing 375 tonnes of
greenhouse gas emissions per year, including
Council’s first ever grid connect battery backup
system on Langwarrin Hall
• Adoption of the Tree Local Law
• Reduction of rate arrears over the past 12
months has resulted in lower penalty interest
applied to outstanding debts and minimised
further distress to residents
• Adoption of the Rating Strategy to achieve an
equitable distribution of rates and charges
amongst the city’s ratepayers
• Adoption of the Long Term Financial Plan
demonstrates that Council is living within its
means in an environment of rate capping
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• Adoption of the Waste Minimisation and
Management Plan 2015-2020 to manage the
community’s waste services
• Adoption of the Integrated Water Action Plan
2016-2026 to provide strategic direction on
Council’s management of water (drinking,
recycling and stormwater)
• Completion of the draft Open Space Asset
Management Plan which informs Council’s
funding and management practices into the
future
• Frankston Regional Recycling and Recovery
Centre (FRRRC) opened in October 2015
Please refer to the ‘Our performance’ section for
more information about these achievements.
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Challenges and future outlook
Challenges
During the next five years Council will face
considerable pressure on its financial position,
particularly in the face of predicted ongoing cost
shifting by the Victorian and Australian
Governments to the entire Victorian local
government sector. This will push all councils to
consider greater reliance on rates and charges to
fund existing and new services and programs.
The Victorian Government has implemented a rate
capping policy preventing councils from raising
rates by more than inflation from 1 July 2016.
Council has met this rate cap in 2016-2017 and we
are committed to continuing to meet the growing
level of demand for Council services to ensure they
satisfy community needs.

employment and affordable housing – needs to be
addressed in collaboration with other tiers of
Government and the not-for-profit sector. Our
future will rely on sharing and capitalising on ideas,
smarter use of resources and adaptation to change.
The key to sustainably shaping Frankston City’s

future is effective planning via community
engagement that accurately gauges their needs and
expectations. Council’s role is to educate about the
use of resources and provide a viable economic and
financial plan which ensures Frankston City is a
place where people choose to live, work, learn, visit
and invest.

Outstanding financial management means we are
in a strong position, allowing us to operate as usual
in the coming year while we explore other ways to
deal with the funding shortfall, estimated to be
around $43 million over the next five years.
As a responsive Council we will continue to review
all of our services in order to cater for these
changed circumstances. Council will find a solution
in order to keep enhancing our municipality.

Future outlook
Frankston City’s plans for future growth are to
increase housing, jobs and services, while
protecting and enhancing our diverse range of
natural assets, including wetlands, coastline and
natural reserves.
Council will review its Municipal Strategic
Statement and policies to provide a clear
framework for a long term vision for growth and
development that ensures the city is well designed
and appropriately managed to become a
sustainable, inclusive and vibrant regional capital.
To fulfil its potential, the overall health and
wellbeing picture – including access to more local
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The year in review
Mayor and CEO message
On behalf of Frankston City Council it is a pleasure
to present Council’s 2015–2016 Annual Report.
This annual report details Frankston City Council’s
achievement of the 2013–2017 Council Plan and is
the fourth and final report for this Council.
The past year has seen us achieve the majority of
the priorities listed in the plan, and we have
worked alongside our community to realise our
vision of a liveable, sustainable and well planned
city.
Significant investments have been made in a
number of major projects including the Frankston
Regional Recycling and Recovery Centre which
opened in October 2015. This vital project was
recognised as a priority for our community and we
are proud to have delivered it.

Investment was also been made to ensure we
promote a healthy and active lifestyle to our
community.
Council upgraded the facilities at Jubilee Park with
new netball courts, lighting and court-side shelters
and is continuing work on improving Carrum Downs
Recreation Reserve, Ballam Park and Baxter Park.
Strong advocacy secured a $4.95 million
commitment from the Australian Government for
the redevelopment of the Frankston Regional
Basketball Centre, taking the overall project budget
to $12.45 million.
These investments – and many more – help make
Frankston City a better place for residents to live,
work and enjoy.
In recognition of Council and the community’s
work, Frankston City was named Australia’s
Sustainable City of the Year 2015 at the Keep
Australia Beautiful Sustainable Cities Awards — an
accolade of which everyone should feel proud.

Delacombe Park Preschool in Frankston South was
extended, doubling the capacity of this preschool to
offer kindergarten programs for local families.

Great improvements and growth in our city have
never been more obvious and there is no doubt
that this momentum will continue.

The now complete $10.7 million redevelopment of
the Frankston Yacht Club represents another
substantial achievement for Council and the
Frankston City community. The new building is a
stunning addition to the Waterfront Precinct,
architecturally designed to complement its natural
surrounds and boasting a 5 Green Star energy
rating.

Frankston City is well on the way to achieving its
status as a regional capital offering a vibrant,
inclusive and natural lifestyle choice.

Council delivered the new Frankston War Memorial
in picturesque Beauty Park, capable of hosting the
growing number of residents and visitors to our
annual Anzac Day commemorations.
The heart of Frankston City, Wells Street received a
makeover with street widening and footpath
upgrades, and the addition of bespoke lighting,
seating and planters. This premier shopping
destination is now an even better place for
residents and visitors to take advantage of what our
city has to offer.
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Cr James Dooley
Mayor

Dennis Hovenden
Chief Executive Officer
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Figure 2: Sources of operating income

Financial summary
Council’s financial position remains sound. A
summary of Council’s performance is outlined
below and detailed information is included in the
Financial Statements and Performance Statement.

1%
3%

Statutory fees and
fines
User fees

9%

Grants - operating

Operating position

11%

Council achieved a surplus of $23.662 million in
2015-2016. This surplus compares favourably to the
surplus of $13.252 million in 2014-2015. This is
mainly due to the requirement for Council to pay
$9 million in 2014-2015 to settle legal action
regarding the Stevensons Road landfill.
The adjusted underlying surplus of Council, after
removing non-recurrent capital grants, cash capital
contributions and non-monetary capital
contributions, is a surplus of $13.497 million or 8.76
per cent when compared to adjusted underlying
revenue. Sustaining an adjusted underlying surplus
is a critical financial strategy that provides capacity
to renew the $1.312 billion of community assets
under Council’s control. Figure 1 below shows the
adjusted underlying result ratio since 2012-2013.
Figure 1: Adjusted underlying result ratio
10%

Grants - capital
66%

3%

The total operating expenditure for the year was
$140.560 million, comprised of the following main
categories (see figure 3 below).
Figure 3: Categories of operating expenditure

2%

1%

31%

Employee costs
Materials and services
Depreciation and
amortisation

45%

8%

Other expenses
Net loss on disposal of
assets
Borrowings costs

4.20%

3.40%

4%

Bad and doubtful debts

2.00%

0%
2012-2013

1%
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18%
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Contributions monetary
Contributions - nonmonetary
Other income

Operating expenditure

8.76%

2%

Rates and charges

4% 3%

2013-2014

2014-2015

2015-2016

Operating income
The total operating income for the year was
$164.222 million, derived from a number of sources
as shown in figure 2 below.
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Liquidity
Cash has decreased by $7.843 million from 20142015 mainly due to surplus funds being invested in
longer term cash investments. The working capital
ratio – which assesses Council’s ability to meet
current commitments – is calculated by measuring
Council’s current assets as a percentage of current
liabilities. Council’s result of 224 per cent is an
7

indicator of a satisfactory financial position and
slightly above the target range of 120 to 200 per
cent. This compares favourably to previously years
(see figure 4 below).
Figure 4: Working capital ratio
250%
200%

224%
181%

163%

165%

Council’s asset renewal ratio – measured by
comparing asset renewal expenditure to
depreciation – was 86.60 per cent which was below
the target range of 90 to 110 per cent. This was
mainly due to delays in the delivery of major
projects. Figure 6 shows Council’s asset renewal
ratio has remained relatively consistent over recent
years.
Figure 6: Asset renewal ratio
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70%
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60%
40%

Obligations

20%

Council aims to maintain its infrastructure assets
while also continuing to deliver services needed by
the community. Council invested $20.835 million in
asset renewal works during 2015-2016. This was
funded from operational budgets ($18.825 million)
and cash reserves ($2.010 million).
At the end of 2015-2016 Council’s debt ratio –
which is measured by comparing interest bearing
loans and borrowings to rate revenue – was 34.44
per cent, which was within the target range of 20 to
60 per cent. This is a four per cent increase on
2014-2015 (see figure 5 below).
Figure 5: Debt ratio
34%

35%

29%

30%

30%

Stability and efficiency
Council receives revenue from a wide range of
sources including rates, user fees, fines, grants and
contributions. Despite this, Council’s rates
concentration – which compares rate revenue to
adjusted underlying revenue – was 71.46 per cent
for 2015-2016. This is toward the top end of the
target range of 40 to 80 per cent. The increase from
2014-2015 was 3.46 per cent (see figure 7).
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Figure 7: Rates concentration ratio
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Council has continued to focus on broadening its
revenue base and for 2015-2016 was able to keep
its rate increase to 5.5 per cent. This resulted in an
average residential rate per residential assessment
of $1,168 which compares favourably to similar
councils in the outer metropolitan area. Figure 8
below shows the average residential rate per
assessment over the last four years.
Figure 8: Average residential rate per assessment
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$800
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$400
$200
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2015-2016
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Description of operations
Frankston City Council is responsible for more than
150 services, from family and children’s services,
traffic regulation, economic development and
community building, to waste management,
planning for appropriate development and ensuring
accountability for Council’s budget. This broad
range of community services and infrastructure
supports the wellbeing and prosperity of our
community. Council’s vision, strategic objectives
and strategies to further improve services and
facilities are described in our Council Plan 20132017 and the associated Budget 2015-2016, and are
reported on in this annual report. Refer to the ‘Our
performance’ section for more information about
Council services.
The delivery of services, facilities, support and
advocacy to achieve the strategic objectives is
measured by a set of service performance
indicators and measures. Council also has a wide
range of responsibilities under Victorian and
Australian legislation.

Economic factors
There were no extraordinary economic factors that
impacted on Council’s performance in 2015-2016.

Jubilee Park playground redevelopment
Construction of the new playground commenced in
May 2015 and opened to the public in February
2016, with minor works continuing until April 2016.
The park features a number of unique elements
and custom made play structures, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The total design and construction budget was
$413,000. Council received a Municipal Association
of Victoria (MAV) Shade Grant which contributed
an extra $36,500 to the project (actual cost of
structure was $31,664). The final project
expenditure was $444,664.
Carrum Downs Recreation Reserve
The community and local sporting clubs which use
the reserve now benefit from an improved
purpose-built sporting ground.
The project included:

Low interest rates on new borrowings for the
purchase of the Frankston Regional Recycling and
Recovery Centre resulted in a favourable budget
variance of $0.33 million.

•

The performance of the share market has
underpinned the sustainability of the Vision Super
Defined Benefit fund and Council was advised
there would be no call for additional funds by
Council in 2015-2016.

•
•
•
•

Major capital works
During 2015–2016 major capital works included the
following:
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Slides
Climbing nets
Climbing wall
In-ground trampolines
A rendered wall
Bushland animal figures
Sandpit and swings
Planting and furniture

•

Removal of the existing surface and reshaping
the sub-base
Installation of new sub-surface drains and
irrigation system
New topsoil and grassing
New concrete perimeter spoon drain
New fence and balls catch net
New concrete wicket and coaches’ boxes

Designs were completed in July 2015, work
commenced in September 2015 and was completed
in February 2016. The project was fully funded by
Council at a cost of $928,000.
New Frankston War Memorial
With growing numbers attending Frankston City’s
annual Anzac Day commemorations, a new War
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Memorial and memorial site were needed to
accommodate patrons.

further $333,020 via the Melbourne Water Living
Rivers program.

Key elements of the project included:

Baxter Park Cricket and Football Pavilion
A major upgrade was undertaken to the Oval 6
pavilion which accommodates the Frankston
Bombers Football/Netball Club and Baxter Cricket
Club. Upgrades also took place on the Oval 1
pavilion change rooms.

•
•
•
•

Construction of a new memorial site and
memorial wall in Beauty Park
Relocation of memorial plaques, sculptures and
the memorial flame
Engraving the names of 228 local servicemen
and women on the new wall
Installation of flag poles and lighting

Concept designs were completed in December
2015 and construction was completed in April 2016
followed by an official opening in the same month.

The extended pavilions cater to the increasing
demands of male and female sporting clubs and will
enable more active participation from the local
community, improving health and fitness levels.
The Oval 6 pavilion includes:

The total project cost was $638,281, the majority of
which was funded by Council. Funding from the
Australian Government of $117,772, the Frankston
RSL of $31,735 and generous donations from the
community contributed to the project.

•
•
•
•
•

Frankston Yacht Club
A brand new environmentally-friendly facility was
constructed to replace the existing building. The
building was designed to complement its natural
coastal surrounding through the extensive use of
cyprus timber and galvanised steel.

•
•
•
•

The key features of the project include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

A yacht club at ground level
Boat yard
Public toilets
Kiosk
Landscaping
Board walk
Car park
Restaurant
Lookout tower

Construction started in December 2014 and the
facility was completed in March 2016.
Council funded the majority of the $10.7 million
project. The Australian Government contributed
$1.25 million and the Victorian Government a
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Male and female change rooms
First aid room
Storage and office space
Viewing deck
New entrance and canopy to the existing
function room
Commercial kitchen
Unisex accessible public toilet
Time keeper room
Umpires’ change facility

The Oval 1 pavilion included:
•
•
•
•
•

Four new change rooms
Umpires’ change facility
Canteen
Store rooms
Unisex accessible public toilet

Construction started in January 2015 and is
expected to be complete in September 2016. The
redevelopment is entirely funded by Council at a
cost of $1.4 million.
Seaford Community Centre
The existing community centre was developed to
create a more functional and accessible venue for
the whole community. The existing Seaford
Customer Service Centre was relocated to the new
facility from its former rented location on Nepean
Highway.
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Key features include natural lighting by solar tube,
saving on electricity costs during daylight hours.
This is complemented by light natural colours and
polished timber floors.
Key features of the project include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Refurbished entry, foyer, expanded Junior
Library and storytime room
New Customer Service Centre
Improved public amenities
Bookable meeting room facilities
Storeroom and kitchenette
Roof restoration

Construction commenced in August 2015 and was
completed in October 2015. The total cost of the
project was $756,048 including contributions of
$150,000 from the Australian Government, $20,000
from the Victorian Government and the remainder
funded by Council.
Frankston Basketball Stadium
The Frankston Basketball Stadium will be expanded
to be a 10 court facility, which will bring many
benefits to the community including job creation
and improved training facilities.
More than 700 teams per week use the stadium
and this project will deliver a vital sports and
recreation facility for the region. The project will
also equip the facility to be inclusive of all levels of
mobility and fitness, allowing for seniors’ health
programs and wheelchair basketball competitions
at the centre.
Significant planning work has been undertaken
during 2015-2016, including preparing the
architectural, civil, structural and services drawings
to design development stage.
The project will include:
• New entry, airlock, foyer and turnstiles
• New reception, office space, retail, kitchen
kiosk/bar and café area
• New lift and stairs
• Four new multi-use indoor basketball courts
including one show court
Frankston City Council Annual Report 2015-2016

• Change rooms, accessible toilets, referees’
room, treatment room, first aid and amenities
• Switch room, storage and cleaners’ rooms
• Renewal works to the existing facility
• Relocation and update of office area, including
projector room, kitchenette and off peak
reception
• Improved landscaping and car parking
Council will shortlist and invite the selected builders
to tender for the project in October 2016, with
construction likely to commence in January 2017.
Works are expected to take 18 months.
The total cost of the project is $12.45 million
including contributions from the Australian
Government $4.95 million, Victorian Government
$2.5 million, Council $4 million and the Frankston
Basketball Association $1 million.
Delacombe Park Preschool expansion
The Delacombe Park Preschool has been extended
and upgraded to create a larger more flexible child
and family centre. The completed facility has
doubled the capacity of this preschool to offer
kindergarten programs for local families, and
positive feedback has been received from parents
and preschool staff. Environmental design
principles have been incorporated into the building
design in line with Council’s Environmentally
Sustainable Design Standards.
Key features of the project include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

An additional playroom
Updates to the existing playroom
Enlarged playground
A large new entrance foyer
New bathrooms
A kitchen
New office space
Meeting room and storage

Construction started in May 2015 and was
completed in April 2016. The Victorian Government
contributed $350,000 towards this project with
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Council funding the majority of the works which
totalled $1.1 million
Solar photovoltaic installation at Council facilities
To reduce both costs and environmental impact,
Council installed solar panel systems at the
following Council properties during 2015-2016:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

43 Davey Street
Ballam Park Preschool
Cube 37
Delacombe Park Preschool
Ebdale Community Hub and Learning Centre
Frankston South Community and Recreation
Centre
Langwarrin Hall
Langwarrin Park Maternal and Child Heath
Centre
Langwarrin Park Preschool
Leawarra House
Levis Street Community Support and
Information Centre
Meals on Wheels Kitchen
Operations Centre
Seaford Community Centre
Seaford Maternal and Child Health Centre
Seaford Preschool
The Gathering Place located at Jubilee Park

The project was designed and tendered in August
2015. Installations began in late October 2015 and
were completed in June 2016. The total cost for the
project was $512,789 against a budget of $616,298.
Skye Recreation Reserve entrance relocation and
car park construction
The Skye Recreation Reserve was improved with a
new asphalt car park to increase the number of
parking spaces. The project also included upgrading
drainage and improving access for pedestrians and
cars through the entry and exit points.

•
•
•
•
•
•

Works commenced in April 2016 and construction
was completed in July 2106. The project was fully
funded by Council at a cost of $351,816.
McClelland Drive rehabilitation and widening
Works were undertaken to enhance road safety
along this narrow and busy strip of road. The
project was delivered through the Australian
Government’s Roads to Recovery Program.
The project included:
•
•
•

•

Construction of an asphalt car park including
kerb and channel
Line marking
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Rehabilitation and widening of McClelland
Drive including installation of turning lanes for
three side streets
Kerb and channel works
Drainage works

Works commenced in February 2016 and
construction was completed in June 2016. The
project was wholly funded by Council at a cost of
$783,105.
Wells Street
Wells Street is Frankston’s principal retail street
and provides access from the Frankston Station
precinct to the Frankston Waterfront as well as
adjacent streets and laneways. This project
involved the construction of a streetscape upgrade
for Wells Street to improve pedestrian connections,
meeting places, alfresco dining and to activate
retail frontages.
The project included:
•

The project included:
•

Signage
Drainage
Footpaths
Pram and vehicle crossing point
A new swing gate and slide rails
Minor landscaping

•
•

Upgrading and widening of footpaths with new
paving, providing more space for kerbside
trading
Replacement of drainage pipes, kerb, road
asphalt and services such as gas, power and
water
Custom street lighting
13

•
•

High quality sculptural seating and planter
boxes
Additional tree planting

Construction started in June 2015 and major
construction elements were completed in March
2016. Final completion is expected in 2016–2017.
The Victorian Government contributed $1.79
million, with Council funding the majority of this
$4.9 million project.
Frankston Regional Recycling and Recovery Centre
The new Frankston Regional Recycling and
Recovery Centre (FRRRC) provides residents from
Frankston City and neighbouring municipalities with
a much needed local recycling and recovery facility.
Council purchased an existing waste transfer
station site, upgraded existing buildings on site and
undertook additional works. The centre features
twin gatehouses with weighbridge, a 68 metre long
undercover receivables area and a resale shop
selling recovered goods.
The project included:
•
•
•
•
•

New amenities building
Installation of a fire service
Security cameras
Additional lighting
Improved drainage and onsite retention of waste
water
• Water tanks and plumbing works
• Landscaping
• Signage and line marking

The site was purchased for $11 million in July 2015,
with upgrade works taking place to open the centre
in October 2015. Upgrades were made at a cost of
$1.3 million with an overall project cost of $12.3
million, entirely funded by Council.

Major changes
A number of significant developments will be taking
place in Frankston City over the next few years.
Among them are the redevelopment of Young
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Street, the Frankston Station redevelopment, rail
level crossing removals at Eel Race Road, Seaford
Road and Overton Road and investigation into the
electrification of the rail line to Baxter and a third
rail line into Melbourne. With other private sector
developments, this equates to an investment of
over $500 million.
To ensure Council leverages the optimal outcomes
from these investments, temporary changes to the
organisational structure were implemented from
January 2016. The Central Activity Area Directorate
was established to enable a core group of Council
officers to focus on the planning and scoping of
works required to ensure that the projects are
delivered to provide the best outcome for the
Frankston City community

Major achievements
New policies and strategies adopted
• Frankston Arts and Culture Strategic Plan and
Business Plan 2015-2018 endorsed by Council
on 14 September 2015 at Ordinary Meeting 277
• Municipal Health and Wellbeing Plan 20132017: Annual Report (Year Two) adopted by
Council on 5 October 2015 at Ordinary Meeting
278
• Waste Minimisation and Management Plan
2015-2020 adopted by Council on 16 November
2015 at Ordinary Meeting 280
• Economic Development Strategy 2016–2022
adopted by Council on 7 December 2015 at
Ordinary Meeting 281
• Municipal Emergency Management Plan
endorsed by Council on 1 February 2016 at
Ordinary Meeting 282
• Tree Protection Local Law 2016 No. 22 adopted
by Council on 15 March 2016 at Ordinary
Meeting 284
• Coastal Management Plan 2016 endorsed by
Council on 6 June 2016 at Ordinary Meeting
288, now awaiting approval from the Minister
for Environment, Climate Change and Water
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•
•
•

Building Asset Management Plan adopted by
Council on 27 June 2016 at Ordinary Meeting
289
Integrated Water Action Plan 2016-2026
adopted by Council on 27 June 2016 at Ordinary
Meeting 289
Open Space Strategy 2016-2036 adopted by
Council on 27 June 2016 at Ordinary Meeting
289

2015 Keep Australia Beautiful Australian
Sustainable Cities Awards
Frankston City was named Australia’s Sustainable
City of the Year 2015, at the Keep Australia
Beautiful Australian Sustainable Cities Awards.

2015 Victorian Disability Sport and Recreation
Awards
PARC was recognised for its commitment to
ensuring all members of the community have an
exceptional experience at the centre irrespective of
their abilities, winning the category of Inclusive
Sport, Recreation or Open Space Infrastructure.
Municipal Emergency Management Plan
Council was awarded a Best Practice certificate of
audit from the State Emergency Services, certifying
that Council’s Municipal Emergency Management
Plan complies with guidelines issued by the
Minister.

Frankston City won the Environmental
Sustainability Category for the Peninsula Aquatic
and Recreation Centre (PARC), Council’s
commitment to solar panels on its buildings, the
alternative energy trial at the Frankston Arts Centre
and the recently completed Community Solar
Program.
High Commendations were received in the Litter
Prevention and Waste Resource Recovery Category
for the Halve Our Waste Program and in the
Community Action and Wellbeing Category for the
Waterfront Festival, environmental volunteers and
anti-graffiti programs.
2015 National Economic Development Awards
Council won the Best Marketing Strategy award for
the ‘Invest Frankston’ campaign.
2015 Victorian Coastal Awards for Excellence
The McCulloch Avenue Boardwalk in Seaford was
recognised with Council winning the Design and
Building Category.
2016 National Landscape Architecture Awards
The McCulloch Avenue Boardwalk in Seaford was
recognised with Council receiving an Award of
Excellence in the Parks and Open Space Category.
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Our Council
City profile
Frankston City, located on the eastern shores of
Port Phillip Bay approximately 40 kilometres south
of Melbourne, is known for its beautiful coastline,
award-winning beaches and natural bushland,
vibrant lifestyle, diverse community and growing
business, arts, education and health facilities.

Frankston is ideally located with a stunning aspect
next to the Bay and is also connected to the rest of
Melbourne by both rail and freeways.
The city also is host to venues, events and
attractions such as the Frankston Arts Centre,
McClelland Sculpture Park + Gallery, Frankston
Waterfront and Sand Sculpting Australia, making
Frankston City an even more desirable place to live,
work, learn, visit and invest.

Figure 9: Frankston City location
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Council offices
Frankston Civic Centre

Frankston Library

30 Davey Street, Frankston
PO Box 490, Frankston VIC 3199
Phone: 1300 322 322
Facsimile: 03 9784 1094
Website: frankston.vic.gov.au
Email: correspondence@frankston.vic.gov.au
Hours: Monday to Friday 8.20am–5pm

60 Playne Street, Frankston
Phone: 03 9784 1020
Hours: Monday to Wednesday 9am–8pm
Thursday and Friday 9am–6pm
Saturday and Sunday 10am–4pm

Langwarrin Customer Service Centre
Shop 6, Gateway Village Shopping Centre,
Frankston-Cranbourne Road, Langwarrin
Hours: Monday to Friday 9am–5pm
Saturday 9am–12pm

Seaford Customer Service Centre and
Seaford Library
Seaford Community Centre
1/6R Broughton Street, Seaford (corner of Station
and Broughton Streets)
Hours: Monday to Friday 9am–5pm
Saturday 9am–12pm
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Carrum Downs Library
203 Lyrebird Drive, Carrum Downs
Phone: 03 8773 9539
Hours: Monday to Wednesday 11am–6pm
Thursday 1pm–8pm
Friday 9.30am–4.30pm
Saturday 11am–4pm
Sunday 12pm–4pm

Frankston Visitor Information Centre
Frankston Waterfront
7N Pier Promenade, Frankston
Phone: 1300 322 842
Website: visitfrankston.com
Hours: Monday to Sunday 9am–5pm
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Our Councillors
Frankston City is divided into three electoral wards
with three Councillors elected to represent each
ward. The current Council was elected by the
Frankston City community on 27 October 2012 for a
four year term. The nine Councillors represent all

residents and ratepayers across the City, and are
responsible for making decisions about the whole
municipality. They have responsibility for setting
the strategic direction for the municipality,
providing services and facilities for the community,
improving and developing the municipality and
governing the local area.

North-East Ward: Langwarrin, Carrum Downs, Sandhurst, Skye
Cr Sandra Mayer
0400 236 107
crmayer@frankston.vic.gov.au
Elected to Council: 2012 and 2008

Cr Colin Hampton – Deputy Mayor
0400 236 109
crhampton@frankston.vic.gov.au
Elected to Council: 2012, 2008, 2005, 1993 and 1987

Cr Michael O’Reilly
0418 721 679
croreilly@frankston.vic.gov.au
Elected to Council: 2012

North-West Ward: Seaford, Karingal, Frankston North, Frankston
Cr Glenn Aitken
03 9786 3247
PO Box 490, Frankston VIC 3199
Elected to Council: 2012, 2008, 2005 and 2003
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North-West Ward: Seaford, Karingal, Frankston North, Frankston
Cr James Dooley - Mayor
0428 246 861
crdooley@frankston.vic.gov.au
Elected to Council: 2012

Cr Rebekah Spelman
0427 714 370
crspelman@frankston.vic.gov.au
Elected to Council: 2012

South Ward: Langwarrin South, Frankston City Centre, Frankston South, Frankston
Cr Brian Cunial
0400 236 977
crcunial@frankston.vic.gov.au
Elected to Council: 2012 and 2008

Cr Darrel Taylor
0428 137 268
crtaylor@frankston.vic.gov.au
Elected to Council: 2012

Cr Suzette Tayler
0428 448 081
crtayler@frankston.vic.gov.au
Elected to Council: 2012, 2005 and 2003
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Our people
Organisational structure
Council is the governing body that appoints the
Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The CEO has
responsibility for the day-to-day management of
operations in accordance with the strategic
directions of the Council Plan 2013-2017.
The CEO’s contract of employment was extended
for four years in October 2015.
The CEO, Director Corporate Development and
Director Community Development form the
Executive Management Team (EMT) and lead the
organisation. Details of the CEO and senior officers
reporting directly to the CEO are set out below.
Dennis Hovenden
Chief Executive Officer
Tim Frederico
Director
Corporate Development

Dr Gillian Kay
Director
Community Development

Vito Albicini
Director
Central Activity Area

Areas of responsibility:

Areas of responsibility:

Areas of responsibility:

• Administration and Corporate
Projects
• Business and Information
Technology
• Commercial Services
• Community Relations
• Corporate Planning
• Facilities
• Financial Services
• Human Resources
• Sustainable Assets

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

• Central Activity Area
redevelopment

Arts and Culture
Community Safety
Community Strengthening
Family Health Support Services
Infrastructure
Operations
Planning and Environment
Public Space and Leisure
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Organisational chart
The organisational structure of Frankston City Council is shown below in figure 10.
Figure 10: Frankston City Council organisational structure at 30 June 2016
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Council workforce
There has been further change in the organisational
structure during 2015-2016, following significant
changes in 2014-2015.
The Director City Development was taken “off line”
during the year to focus on the redevelopment of
the Central Activity Area (CAA) and the Frankston
Transit Interchange project.
The Director CAA has been working closely with the
Victorian Government to maximise the benefits for
the Frankston community from the investment in
these projects and to ensure that the decisions of
Council are incorporated in the planning for all
works to be undertaken.

As at 30 June 2016, Frankston City Council
employed 967 employees comprising full-time,
part-time, temporary and casual employees.
In 2015-2016, the turnover of permanent
employees was 13.05 per cent, which is lower than
the 2014-2015 figure of 14.76 per cent. Council
continues to review and consider feedback from
departing employees through exit questionnaires
to improve our working environment and
conditions.
A summary of the number of full-time equivalent
(FTE) Council employees by organisational
structure, employment type and gender is set out
in table 1 and figure 11.

The functional areas of the City Development
Directorate have been divided between the other
two Directorates.
This change is designed to support the delivery of
this critical project for the municipality.
Table 1: Number of Council employees (FTE) by organisational structure, employment type and gender
Employee type and gender
Permanent full-time, female
Permanent full-time, male
Permanent part-time, female
Permanent part-time, male
Temporary full-time, female
Temporary full-time, male
Temporary part-time, female
Temporary part-time, male
Casual, female
Casual, male
Total

CEO Office Corporate
Development
3
0
1.42
0
0
1
0
0
0.05
0
5.47
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40
38
26.21
2.32
12
8
4.31
0.89
0.26
0.08
132.07

Community
Development
98.92
168
127.61
15.16
13
18
24.68
1.94
2.58
1.63
471.52

Central
Activity
Area

Total
1
0
0
0
0
1
0
0
0
0
2

142.92
206
155.24
17.48
25
28
28.98
2.84
2.89
1.71
611.06
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Figure 11: Number of Council employees (FTE) by organisational structure, employment type and gender
180
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Permanent full-time, female

140

Permanent full-time, male
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Permanent part-time, female
Permanent part-time, male

100

Temporary full-time, female

80

Temporary full-time, male

60

Temporary part-time, female

40

Temporary part-time, male
Casual, female
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Casual, male

0
CEO Office

Corporate
Development

Community
Development

Central Activity
Area

A summary of the number of full-time equivalent (FTE) employees categorised by employment
classification and gender is set out below in table 2 and figure 12.
Table 2: Number of Council employees (FTE) by employment classification and gender
Employee classification Female FTE
Male FTE
Total FTE
Band 1
11.21
6
17.21
Band 2
23.55
43.63
67.18
Band 3
35.53
42.76
78.29
Band 4
80.20
35.17
115.37
Band 5
74.77
27.31
102.07
Band 6
56.36
40.09
96.45
Band 7
29.18
30
59.18
Band 8
0
0
0
Other*
44.25
31.05
75.30
Total
355.04
256.02
611.06
* Other classifications – includes nurses (Maternal and Child Health nurses and Immunisation nurses) and
employees on contracts of employment (Senior Officers and Senior Executive Officers).
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Figure 12: Number of Council employees (FTE) by employment classification and gender
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31.05

42.76
43.63
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80.2
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74.77
56.36
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11.21
Band 1

23.55
Band 2

44.25

35.53

Band 3

Female FTE

29.18

Band 4

Band 5

Band 6

Band 7

0
Band 8

Other*

* Other classification – includes nurses (Maternal and Child Health nurses and Immunisation nurses) and
employees on contracts of employment (Senior Officers and Senior Executive Officers).

Equal Employment Opportunity
Program

designed to ensure leaders are aware of their
obligations and are skilled, resourced and able to
address workplace issues as they arise.

Council aims to provide a workplace free from all
discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
bullying. The principles of Equal Employment
Opportunity (EEO) are upheld in all our activities.
Council protects and promotes the human rights of
all employees in accordance with the Charter of
Human Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006.

This program was implemented with all employees
with management responsibility to ensure there is
a clear understanding of the responsibility to
maintain appropriate standards of behaviour at all
times.

Council is progressively reviewing all human
resource management policies and procedures to
ensure they are up to date and consistent with
statutory obligations.
This year a major awareness and capability building
program was initiated for all leaders. The sessions –
Equal Opportunity Essentials for Managers – were
provided by the Victorian Equal Opportunity and
Human Rights Commission. These sessions were
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Council also worked with the National Disability
Recruitment Coordinator to assist with a review of
employment policies and practices to increase
participation of people with a disability in the
workforce and to identify suitable employment
opportunities.
In 2016-2017, Council will review and update the
Staff Code of Conduct and Workplace Behaviour
Guidelines, to ensure they reflect contemporary
requirements.
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A network of trained Contact Officers will be
established to assist and support employees in
need and to assist in identifying and addressing
workplace issues.

Injury management

Other employment matters

This program will be reviewed over the next year to
ensure it is working efficiently and is relevant to the
injury management of Council employees.

Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S)
‘Safety starts with me – arrive safe, work safe and
leave safe.’
This year a number of improvements to Council’s
Safety Management System were implemented,
including:
• Reviewing all Safe Work Method Statements
(SWMS) for the Operations Department
• Reviewing and restructuring the Designated
Work Groups (DWG) to ensure appropriate
coverage of Health and Safety Representatives
across Council
• Coordinating elections for Health and Safety
Representatives (HSR) whose tenure expired in
April 2016
• Continuing to review the online risk, health and
safety reporting system
• Reviewing safety procedures and guidance
documents. Council has implemented a
systematic approach to improving our current
Safety Management System. Approved
procedures include:
- Working in the Heat Policy
- Alcohol and Drugs in the Workplace
Procedure
- Incident Reporting and Investigation
Procedure
A number of priority areas have been identified
for review in 2015-2016, including Contract
Management, Emergency Procedures and
Security.
• New uniforms for outdoor employees, providing
a consistent, quality and safe uniform with allweather protection and comfort
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Council’s Early Intervention Program remained the
first line of treatment for Council employees who
sustained a work-related injury.

Council’s Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate
(LTIFR)
The frequency of injuries resulting in lost time per
million hours worked was 10.9 per cent at the end
of June 2016. This is an increase on last year’s rate
of 9.4 per cent and higher than the average
industry rate of 8.8 per cent.
Council’s aim in 2016-2017 is to reduce this by
closely managing injured employees on a personal
case management basis.

WorkCover and return to work
Council’s WorkCover claims rate is currently higher
than the industry average by 19.3 per cent. Our aim
is to significantly reduce this over the coming years
to bring the rate under the industry average.
During 2015-2016, Council achieved a decrease in
the average of lost time days to 36 days over the 15
lost time injuries (compared to 52.2 lost time days
over 14 lost time injuries in 2014-2015).

Health and wellbeing
Council received approval, in a specific ruling from
the Australian Taxation Office, to allow employees
to salary sacrifice membership at PARC – enabling
and encouraging employees to benefit from
membership of this outstanding health and fitness
facility.
Council employees were offered an influenza
vaccination at no cost and the offer was taken up
by approximately 250 employees.
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A number of initiatives and activities were
implemented during Health and Safety Week,
including:
• Health Check assessments offered to all
employees
• Demonstrations for employees, including
Healthy Cooking, Being Sunsmart and Healthy
Living
Council continues to provide the Employee
Assistance Program (EAP) to support employees
and their family members in times of need,
providing confidential counselling services for both
work related and personal issues. Approximately
eight per cent of employees used the EAP in 20152016.
There were no major organisational issues or trends
identifiable from the EAP usage data.

Learning and development
A Learning and Development Framework and
Leadership Development Program were developed
and approved during 2015-2016. These programs
have been designed to strategically build employee
and management capability through targeted
programs.
Implementation of the Leadership Development
Program has commenced, starting with the
Management Team – CEO, Directors and Managers
– and will continue in 2016-2017. This program will
be extended to Coordinators – and possibly Team
Leaders – to ensure there is consistency in
leadership capability throughout the organisation.
The following areas have been identified as
priorities for organisational development:
•
•
•
•

Customer service
People management
Project management
Procurement and contract management
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Consultative Committee and Enterprise
Bargaining Committee
The Consultative Committee continued to meet
throughout 2015-2016, only pausing as agreed by
members who are working on Enterprise
Agreement negotiations as members of the
Enterprise Bargaining Committee.
Council’s Enterprise Agreement expired on 31
March 2016. An Enterprise Bargaining Committee
has been established after issuing a Notice of
Employee Representational Rights to all employees,
in compliance with the Fair Work Act 2009.
Council has prioritised communicating regularly
with all employees concerning the progress of
negotiations and issues under discussion by the
Committee.
Implementation of the new Enterprise Agreement,
when approved by the Fair Work Commission, will
be a priority over the next 12 months.

Audit Reports
An Internal Audit reviewing Human Resource
Management and Workforce Planning was
completed. The audit report makes a number of
recommendations relating to:
• Workforce planning
• Recruitment procedures, including probation
management
• Learning and development
• Human Resources policies, procedures and
training
• Performance management and appraisals
• Documents management and protocols
• Governance and management of training
These recommendations are reflected in the
Human Resources Strategy and will be addressed
progressively in 2016-2017. The Internal Auditor’s
recommendations relating to Fraud Management
will also be addressed.
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Human Resources Strategy
The Human Resources Strategy has been finalised
for endorsement by EMT. The Strategy focuses on
four key pillars:
•
•
•
•

Culture
Leadership
People
Environment

Human resources policies and procedures
Council is continuing to review all human resource
management policies and procedures to ensure
they are contemporary and accurately reflect the
provisions of the Enterprise Agreement and
statutory requirements.
The aim is to develop a comprehensive procedures
manual which will provide clarity and support for
managers and employees to ensure consistency in
the implementation of various policies and
procedures.
Twelve procedures have been developed in
consultation with the Consultative Committee
during 2015-2016, with more to be developed in
2106-2017.
The reviewed or updated procedures are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Mothers’ Room Procedure
Abandonment of Employment Procedure
Emergency Services Leave Procedure
Caring for Family Members in the Workplace
Guidelines
Cultural and Ceremonial Leave Procedure
Employee Assistance Program Procedure
Cashing out Annual Leave Procedure
Defence Services Leave Procedure
Blood Bank Leave Procedure
Jury Service Procedure
Annual Salary Review Procedure
Separation of Employment Procedure
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Establishment management and workforce
reporting
Position establishment management has continued
to be a focus during 2015-2016 with improved data
accuracy enabling enhanced workforce reporting
and analysis during the year.
This improved reporting supports workforce
planning and informs management decision
making. Some key management issues have been
identified and managers and human resources
employees continue to work together to resolve
these issues.
Analysis of organisational demographics and
specific workforce trends will continue to be
enhanced throughout 2016-2017.

Payroll review
The payroll review recommendations were fully
implemented during 2015-2016.
Considerable work has been done to ensure all
employees receive the correct pay and
entitlements, through improving:
• Data entry and integrity
• The setup of the payroll system
• Interpretation and implementation of the
Enterprise Agreement and relevant legislation
• Procedures, forms and processes
A number of other issues were identified associated
with the setup of the payroll system and
interpretation of some entitlements. These issues
were addressed in 2015-2016.
A full review of leave rules and leave groups
ensured that all employees receive correct leave
accruals. A reconciliation of all leave entitlements
(annual leave, sick leave and long service leave) was
also undertaken this year.
Council implemented SuperStream in accordance
with Australian Government legislation. This has
created a more streamlined and efficient process
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for sending employees’ superannuation to their
preferred funds.
All payroll and human resources forms were
reviewed which resulted in numerous forms being
updated and new forms developed. These forms
now reflect legislation and Council procedures
more closely, and include more stringent
authorisation and a standardised appearance.
The purchased leave process was reviewed to
ensure enhanced accessibility for employees and
accountability for the organisation.

Next year – 2016-2017
The focus for 2016-2017 will be building
organisational capabilities, leadership
development, statutory responsibilities and
compliance. Work will continue on a number of
initiatives commenced during 2015-2016, including:
• Finalising negotiations on the new Enterprise
Agreement and implementing provisions as
appropriate
• Continuing to review policies and procedures to
ensure role clarity and increased accountability
• Implementing the Human Resources Strategy
• Increased investment in the professional
development and capacity of our employees
• Organisational demographic data and analysis to
facilitate workforce planning and enhanced
decision making
• Improved human resources reporting
• Strengthening Council’s hazard and risk
identification program to be a more proactive
process
• Delivering a positive OH&S culture change
program for all employees
• Reducing the Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate
• Reviewing Council’s Early Intervention Program
• Reviewing Council’s payroll system and Human
Resources Information System (HRIS)
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Our performance
Planning and Accountability
Framework
The Planning and Accountability Framework is
found in Part 6 of the Local Government Act 1989
(the Act). The Act requires councils to prepare the
following planning and reporting documents:
• A council plan within six months after each
general election or by 30 June, whichever is later

• A strategic resource plan for a period of at least
four years and include this in the council plan
• A budget for each financial year
• An annual report in respect of each financial
year
Figure 13 below shows the relationships between
the key planning and reporting documents that
make up the Planning and Accountability
Framework for local government. It also shows that
there are opportunities for community and
stakeholder input and feedback at each stage of the
planning and reporting cycle.

Figure 13: Planning and Accountability Framework
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Council Plan
The Council Plan 2013-2017 includes:
• Three long term community outcomes (strategic
objectives)
• Strategies for achieving these for the four-year
period
• Strategic indicators for monitoring achievement
of the strategic objectives
• A strategic resource plan
The following are the three long term community
outcomes as detailed in the Council Plan.

Long term community outcome one:
planned city for future growth
By 2050 Melbourne’s population is predicted to
grow to eight million. Much of this growth will be
accommodated in existing suburbs, designated
central activity areas and areas identified for
commercial and housing growth. Frankston City is
one of nine designated Metropolitan Activities
Areas in Melbourne, identified as a place that can
perform a ‘Capital City’ role for the Mornington
Peninsula and south-east bayside municipalities.

Long term community outcome two:
liveable city
Liveable city is the term given to cities seen as ideal
destinations due to the broad availability of goods
and services, effective infrastructure and transport.
Important considerations are safety, education,
health care, a natural environment, arts, cultural
and recreation opportunities and political and
economic stability.
As a city, Frankston boasts many enviable attributes
including its beaches, natural reserves, open
spaces, cultural and community facilities and easy
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rail access to Melbourne’s CBD. However, evidence
indicates that the health and wellbeing challenges
are greater in Frankston than many other parts of
Victoria.

Long term community outcome three:
sustainable city
Sustainability refers to a city’s ability to improve the
quality of life for its residents while living within its
environmental, social and economic resource limits
– ensuring good governance, financial viability and
a robust economy, managed infrastructure and
balanced development that protects the natural
environment.
The demands on Frankston City and its leaders are
changing with the community’s evolving needs. The
ongoing challenge is to meet community
expectations while achieving balance between the
level of development and the responsible use of
resources for the benefit of current and future
generations.

Performance
Council’s performance for the 2015-2016 year has
been reported against each long term community
outcome to demonstrate how Council is performing
in achieving the 2013-2017 Council Plan.
Performance has been measured as follows:
• Results achieved in relation to the strategic
indicators in the Council Plan
• Progress in relation to the major initiatives
identified in the budget
• Services funded in the budget and the persons
or sections of the community who are provided
those services
• Results against the prescribed service
performance indicators and measures
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Long term community outcome one: planned city for future growth
The following statement reviews the performance of Council against the Council Plan including results
achieved in relation to the strategic indicators for strategies included in the Council Plan.
Table 3: Planned city for future growth – strategies and strategic indicators
Council Plan strategy

Strategic
indicator

Result
2014-2015

Result
2015-2016

Work with other tiers of
Government, industry
and business to create
more jobs and job skills
in Frankston

Jobs in
Frankston City

Work with other tiers of
Government, industry
and business to create
more jobs and job skills
in Frankston

36,631

36,631

(Census
2011)

(Census
2011)

Government
(State and
Federal)
grants
received for
Capital Works
infrastructure

$5.481m

$5.062m

Capital Grants income was $5.062m
(State $2.451m and Federal $2.611m)
against budget of $2.603m, mainly due
to additional funding received for the
Frankston Basketball Stadium
redevelopment.

Enhance transport
connectivity

Frequency of
bus (public
transport)
services

0%

0%

A submission was made to the Victorian
Government’s Bus Services Review and
Council continues to advocate for
improved bus service routes and
frequency.

Review the Municipal
Strategic Statements
(MSS), to accommodate
future population
growth

New dwellings
in Frankston
City

402

412

Frankston has limited land available for
residential development. The MSS
recognises the need to provide medium
density residential dwellings to meet
population growth.
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Comments
Job growth from 2006 to 2011 (the last
two Census periods) was considerable,
with 3,080 jobs created, a 9.2 per cent
increase. Unemployment reduced from
8.3 per cent in March 2015 to 6.1 per
cent in March 2016. Health, community
services, construction, accommodation
and food were the most significant
industries.
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The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified in the
2015-2016 Budget.
Table 4: Planned city for future growth – major initiatives
Major initiatives

Progress

Work with Victorian Government to deliver optimal
design and investment outcomes

The current focus of investment attraction is within
the Frankston city centre. Council is working with the
Victorian Government to ensure the coordinated and
integrated delivery of the Frankston Station Precinct
revitalisation which will support future investment.

The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to initiatives identified in the 20152016 Budget.
Table 5: Planned city for future growth – initiatives
Initiatives

Progress

Adopt the Economic Development Strategy 20162022

Adopted by Council on 7 December 2015, this strategy has
been recognised as best practice by the Victorian
Government. Implementation has begun with an ongoing
focus on job creation and entrepreneurship. A cornerstone
of the strategy continues to be Council’s Small Business
Grants Program. Frankston City is one of the only councils in
Australia to offer such incentives, issuing $230,000 to small
businesses creating over 200 jobs and generating over $60m
per year in the local economy since the program’s inception.

Advocate for National Broadband Network (NBN)
in commercial, industrial and educational precincts

As a result of Council’s ongoing advocacy NBN Commercial
has announced updated rollout plans for Frankston City,
which covers the whole municipal area.

Advocate for duplication of Thompson Road,
interchange at Ballarto Road / Westernport
Highway and Nepean Highway Boulevard

Five Victorian Government funded road safety blackspot
projects were completed in 2015-2016, including the $8m
Wedge Road and Frankston-Dandenong Road intersection
upgrade. The Victorian Government announced $175m for
the duplication of Thompson Road and funding for the
design of Golf Links Road and Baxter Tooradin Road
intersection upgrade to assist Inghams Enterprises Pty Ltd’s
freight movements. VicRoads has commenced a
roundabout design at Robinson Road and Westernport
Highway intersection.
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Initiatives

Progress

Adopt and implement Frankston Metropolitan
Activity Centre (FMAC) Structure Plan, including:

Adopted on 25 May 2015. Implementation is being
undertaken through planning scheme amendments.

-

Frankston Station precinct
Nepean Highway Boulevard
Precinct Plan development guidelines
Health and Education precinct

Assist with the implementation of the Mornington
Peninsula Regional Tourism Board (MPRTB)
Destination Management Plan with key focus on
activities which benefit Frankston City

The Mornington Peninsula Events Strategy was a key priority
for the region in 2015-2016 and is due to be completed in
2016. The MPRTB Destination Management Plan has a
limited focus on Frankston City. Council has focused on
industry development, destination development, destination
marketing and improved visitor services.

Advocate to educational institutions to deliver
courses that meet industry and career pathway
needs

A detailed labour force study for the South-East Melbourne
region is required to enable Council to advocate for courses
that meet industry and career pathway needs. This project
has been delayed by Regional Development Australia (RDA).
Council is continuing to advocate to RDA to conduct the
project in 2016-2017.

Develop a workforce plan to enhance
opportunities for the use of trainees

Council had 40 work experience placements and 21 tertiary
placements. The work experience program has been
enhanced to increase student learning opportunities.

Work with the bus operators and Public Transport
Victoria (PTV) to improve bus services

An advocacy program, including discussions with Public
Transport Victoria (PTV), continues to enable improved bus
services as part of the Transit Interchange Project.

Work with State Government to seek timeframes
for funding the Overton Road project, as listed in
the State Government Top 50 projects

The Level Crossing Removal Authority (LXRA) briefed
Councillors in late 2015 in relation to the removal of three
crossings within the municipality at Eel Race Road, Seaford
Road and Overton Road. Council is finalising its position on
level crossing removals by July 2016.

Complete the Car Parking Precinct Plan

A planning scheme amendment along with update studies
for the Car Parking Precinct Plan will be presented to Council
in August 2016.

Adopt an Urban Design Policy and include the
Planning Scheme

A draft Urban Design Policy is currently being prepared.
Councillors were briefed by the Office of the Victorian
Government Architect (OVGA) on 15 February 2016. Council
has initiated a number of projects to provide materials and
input into the urban design policy.

Adopt the Open Space Strategy

Received by Council in June 2016, the strategy guides the
use and development of open space across the municipality.
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Initiatives

Progress

Adopt the Coastal Management Plan

Received by Council in April 2016 and submitted to the
Victorian Government for approval. The plan guides the use
and management of coastal reserves.

Review the Playground Strategy

A review of the strategy was considered by Council in June
2016. It was recommended that a new strategy be
developed in 2016-2017.

Develop a program to upgrade or redevelop
existing sports pavilions to ensure they are fit for
purpose to support future sporting needs

A program of works was developed and incorporated into
the 20 year capital works program.

Address homelessness, including:

An Affordable Housing and Homelessness discussion paper,
adopted by Council, has been used to advocate for local
needs. The Minister for Local Government agreed to host a
round table of relevant ministers to implement
improvements in the Planning Scheme data collection and
program support. Internal guidelines to monitor and inspect
rooming houses were implemented. A Council funded
project to increase accommodation for ‘rough sleepers’ was
also adopted in June 2016.

- Identify opportunities for more affordable
housing and facilitate a variety of housing
options
- Adopt and implement rooming house guidelines

The following statement provides information about the services funded in the 2015-2016 Budget and the
persons or sections of the community who are provided the service.
Table 6: Planned city for future growth – services

Service

Description

Community
Relations

Provides the first point of contact for our communities, including residents,
visitors, businesses, investors, media and internal departments. Manages
Frankston City’s and the organisation’s reputation, disseminates key messages
to our communities and positions the municipality as the preferred place to
live, learn, work, visit and invest.

Infrastructure

Provides traffic management solutions, strategic transport planning, road
safety programs and quality control on subdivisional and commercial
developments including protection of Council’s assets. Delivers project and
contract management for the design and construction of infrastructure
projects in the capital works program.
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Net Cost
Actual
Budget
Variance
$000
1,529
1,387
142

776
727
49
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Net Cost
Actual
Budget
Variance
$000

Service

Description

Planning and
Environment

Researches and prepares land use, development and environmental strategies
for the municipality. Undertakes timely assessment of development, land use,
subdivision and tree removal proposals. Develops and implements integrated
nature conservation and biodiversity protection strategies and action plans.
Educates and enforces (in close cooperation with Council’s Community Safety
officers) to ensure that all land use and development within Frankston fully
complies with approvals and relevant legislation.

1,465
2,032
(567)

Public Space and
Leisure

Supports the social, recreational, cultural and economic life of the community
through innovative planning and development initiatives, delivering projects
and managing quality public spaces. Facilitates increased participation in
structured and unstructured sport, recreation and a range of leisure activities
to improve community health and wellbeing. Creates aesthetic and accessible
spaces and linkages, delivers public realm and open space design elements
and capital works for recreation facilities and public spaces.

1,154
961
193
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The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and
measures including explanation of material variations.
Table 7: Planned city for future growth – prescribed service performance indicators and measures
Service/indicator/measure

Result
2014-2015

Result
2015-2016

105

96

68%

48%

$1,729

$1,760

The cost per application has remained
relatively consistent in Frankston City and
is lower than surrounding councils.
Implementation of electronic lodgement
and assessment of applications will assist
to keep these costs stable.

45%

56%

Council has experienced an increase in
the number of appeals made to VCAT.
While the number of appeals has grown,
Council’s determinations have been more
successful under such review.

Material variations

Statutory Planning
Timeliness
Time taken to decide planning
applications
[The median number of days between
receipt of a planning application and a
decision on the application]
Service standard
Planning applications decided within
60 days
[Number of planning application
decisions made within 60 days /
Number of planning application
decisions made] x100

In the past 12 months, Council has
focussed on reducing the backlog of longterm applications. This has impacted the
overall result.

Planning applications decided within 60
days has declined since 2014-2015. With
the cooperation of many applicants,
Council allows the statutory period to be
extended in order to provide a favourable
permit outcome.

Service cost
Cost of statutory planning service
[Direct cost of statutory planning
service / Number of planning
applications received]

Decision making
Council planning decisions upheld at
VCAT
[Number of VCAT decisions that did
not set aside Council’s decision in
relation to a planning application /
Number of VCAT decisions in relation
to planning applications] x100
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Long term community outcome two: liveable city
The following statement reviews the performance of Council against the Council Plan including results
achieved in relation to the strategic indicators for strategies included in the Council Plan.
Table 8: Liveable city – strategies and strategic indicators
Council Plan strategy

Strategic
indicator

Activate the city
centre and encourage
more housing, leisure
and retail options

Occupancy rate in
the city centre

Improve the
municipality’s safety,
image and pride

Overall image of
Frankston City

Engage the
community to shape
the services and
future of the city and
their local area

Safety in
Frankston City

Engage the
community to shape
the services and
future of the city and
their local area

Council’s
consultation and
engagement
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Result
2014-2015

Result
2015-2016

85.7%

85.4%

The slight decline in occupancy can be
attributed to a higher level of office
vacancies. Street frontage occupancy
rate has increased by 1.65 per cent
over the past two years. Council is
continuing its efforts to attract new
business, however an improvement in
the occupancy rate will be challenging
due to major construction works
within the city centre over the next
two years.

Score 61

Score 60

(88%)

(87%)

Overall 87 per cent of residents rated
Frankston City’s image as above
average. 90 per cent of residents also
agreed that Frankston City was
liveable, a 10 per cent increase since
2012.

57%

58%

There has been a six per cent increase
since 2012 of residents agreeing that
Frankston is safe.

Score 57

Score 57

(69%)

(69%)

While the score is consistent with the
previous year the result typically
improves when Council undertakes
consultation on the Council Plan,
Community Plan and Health and
Wellbeing Plan, which will
recommence in October 2016.

Comments
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Council Plan strategy
Engage the
community to shape
the services and
future of the city and
their local area

Strategic
indicator

Result
2014-2015

Result
2015-2016

Active Ageing

25,103

25,607

Libraries

7,720

16,702

Visitor
information

4,629

4,588

30

30

104

104

851,773 1

687,136

Volunteer hours
to Council
community
services:

Volunteer clubs:
Volunteer service
clubs
Sporting clubs
Improve the health
and wellbeing of
residents

Comments

Attendance at
events,
attractions, the
Libraries and
Frankston Arts
Centre

An excellent result for the year which
represents a total equivalent
contribution of approximately $1.2m
worth of donated time. This also
assists volunteers to stay active and
healthy.

The number of service clubs and
sporting clubs remains consistent.
There has been an increase in
participation at festivals and events.
However, there has been a decrease
in attendance at the Frankston Arts
Centre due to recent renovations and
also at the Library as a result of an
increase in online borrowing.

The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified in the
2015-2016 Budget.
Table 9: Liveable city – major initiatives
Major initiatives

Progress

Continue advocacy for improvements of the drug
and alcohol support and rehabilitation services

An advocacy campaign has been successful in attracting
attention and participation of government to address local
concerns. A funded project is focusing on dispersing the
prescribing and dispensing of pharmacotherapy and
securing drug treatment options in Frankston City.

1

The 2014-2015 result included attendance at the Frankston Skate Park, Centenary Park Golf Course and the Frankston South Community and
Recreation Centre.
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The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to initiatives identified in the 20152016 Budget.
Table 10: Liveable city – initiatives
Initiatives

Progress

Continue to rollout and improve Council’s program
of business attraction, retention and expansion in
accordance with the Economic Development
Strategy

Construction of several new apartment projects is now
imminent. Programs supporting start-up businesses and
business growth continue including the Small Business
Grants Program, Frankston Space Innovators and Business
Investment Program. Ten businesses have been attracted
by the Business Investment Program creating 134 jobs,
$36.3m in gross output and a total gross regional product
of $17.7m. An ongoing focus of marketing and facilitation,
complemented by the transit interchange project, aims to
encourage development in the Frankston city centre.

Activate the city centre through public art and
events

An existing program of public art has been implemented
this year including ‘The Bonfire’ panel art piece on the
Frankston Arts Centre facade, installation of Catenary
lighting in Station Street Mall and a number of street
murals in the city centre. Installation of ten sculptures is
planned for August 2016.

Complete Wells Street upgrade and commence
Young Street upgrade

The Wells Street upgrade is 95 per cent complete. Council
is heavily involved in supporting the Victorian Government
in delivering the Young Street upgrade which will be
undertaken in 2016-2017.

Advocate for a boulevard on Nepean Highway to
state government

Nepean Highway is a Victorian Government managed road.
Council continues to advocate for a boulevard treatment
from Mile Bridge to Olivers Hill.

Identify and implement laneway opportunities in the
city centre

The Frankston Streetscape Plan identifies opportunities for
laneway improvements. Catenary lighting has been
installed in Station Street Mall as the first stage of
implementation.

Institute a working group involving property owners

As part of the Future Frankston initiatives, planning is
underway for a developer and property owner forum to be
held in spring 2016.

Implement the Frankston Destination Development
Plan

‘Frankston, Enjoy Every Moment’ has been incorporated
into all marketing material, including the new quarterly
newsletter prepared and distributed by the Frankston
Visitor Information Centre. Metropolitan media has
demonstrated an increased interest in learning more about
Frankston City and generating positive stories about the
city.
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Initiatives

Progress

Implement Phase 4 Closed Circuit Television (CCTV)
network expansion
Implement CCTV software upgrades for alerts

Advocacy continues with Victoria Police in an attempt to
increase the proactive monitoring of CCTV. The emphasis
is on improved ‘intuitive software’ and greater proactive
use of existing equipment. A fault alert system has been
implemented and enhanced servicing arrangements
achieved.

Initiate revitalisation projects of roadside
revegetation and beautification

Vegetation within some Council controlled roadside areas
has been rejuvenated with the program continuing
incrementally across the municipality.

Continue a proactive response to graffiti removal

The proactive program continues with 25,614 square
metres of graffiti removed.

Work with Police and stakeholders and Crime
Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED)
mapping

Regular meetings are held with Victoria Police and key
stakeholders to review designs for public safety.

Work with Police and retail outlets for multi-agency
crime prevention strategy

Council is increasingly using proactive enforcement
methodologies such as test purchasing to identify illegal
tobacco and spray paint sales. Victoria Police is also
authorised to enforce Frankston City’s Local Laws.

Complete a draft Open Space Asset Management
Plan

A draft of the Open Space Asset Management Plan was
completed by 30 June 2016. This is a key part of the Open
Space Strategy.

Activate the Frankston North Community Centre
with health and education programs that align to
community needs and increase economic viability

23,107 people visited the Centre and 27 volunteers
contributed 1,894 hours. A dental assessment and
education service was launched in partnership with
Peninsula Health in October 2015 along with a range of
programs to enhance health and wellbeing. In June 2016,
work commenced to create a training kitchen and youth
hangout.

Adopt and implement a management framework
and standardise all new lease and licence
agreements

Standardised leases and licences have been established for
kindergartens, community and neighbourhood houses,
bowling clubs, bathing boxes and some special user groups
with seasonal agreements. Further categories of property
users including scouts, guides and tennis clubs will be
addressed during 2016-2017.

Adopt and implement a Property Strategy

Development of the Property Strategy has commenced
and is due for completion by the end of 2016.
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Initiatives

Progress

Work with communities to implement local
initiatives and review Frankston South and
Langwarrin local community plans

To better support development of community plans and
the new council plan a workshop and community
engagement using social media will commence in October
2016. As a result, a review of the Frankston South and
Langwarrin local community plans was deferred.

Commence a review of the Health and Wellbeing
Plan

The structure of the Health and Wellbeing Plan was
reviewed and a workshop together with community
engagement using social media will commence in October
2016. The Plan will be finalised by October 2017.

Implement the Child and Family Plan 2014-2018

New Kindergarten Licence Agreements have been
implemented for the 25 Council owned kindergarten
facilities. This has resulted in an increase in the number of
places. Delacombe Park Preschool was upgraded and
extended to create a larger more flexible child and family
centre.

Plan and implement children’s services

Council ceased as a service provider of the Family Day Care
Program Educators. Families were supported to transition
to new providers. Literacy development in children aged 0
to 5 is critical. Council continues to advocate for improved
fee arrangements for children of vulnerable families.

Plan and implement Maternal Child and Health
Immunisation Services

Council’s Maternal and Child Health service continues to
be delivered through a central booking system. The
Immunisation Services have two new vaccine refrigerators
to support Frankston’s 94 per cent immunisation rate.

Implement initiatives through Neighbourhood Youth
Services to engage young people

Events, drop-in programs and school holiday programs
were delivered through neighbourhood hangouts. A popup hangout was active over summer in White Street Mall.
120 year eight students attended the third annual
‘Frankston Stand for Change – Zero Tolerance to Bullying’
event in April 2016. 827 young people attended 104
school holiday program activities.

Undertake business modelling to inform the future
structure of Home and Community Care (HACC)
Services

A review of HACC was undertaken by the Productivity
Commission and informs recommendations on the future
role and structure of HACC services.

Develop partnership opportunities with arts and
culture heritage at McClelland Sculpture Park +
Gallery and Cruden Farm

A presentation by McClelland Sculpture Park + Gallery
‘Towards 2021’ was provided to the Frankston Arts Board
in May 2016. The future potential for partnerships
continues to be discussed.
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Initiatives

Progress

Continue to deliver arts access opportunities in local
communities

A range of accessible displays and projects are regularly
run in Cube 37, including the Art in Dialysis Exhibition, Hot
Art for Cool Kids and exhibitions by local artists.

Complete the refurbishment of the Seaford
Community Centre

The refurbished Seaford Community Centre featuring the
relocated Seaford Service Centre and an expanded library
operation commenced operation on 7 December 2015.
The centre was officially opened on 28 January 2016.

Implement the Food Security Action Plan, including:

Four active community garden groups operate within
Frankston City. These are located in Frankston North,
Frankston South, Frankston and Langwarrin. Over 400
people participated in 15 Community Food Fest activities
delivered by Frankston Fresh Food Access Network (FFAN)
volunteers. Activities included a pop-up vegetable garden,
beekeeping, backyard chooks and a fresh food day at
Community Support Frankston.

Celebrating community food week
Supporting community gardens and increasing
community access to fresh food
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The following statement provides information about the services funded in the 2015-2016 Budget and the
persons or sections of the community who are provided the service.
Table 11: Liveable city – services

Service

Description

Community
Relations

Provides the first point of contact for our communities, including residents, visitors,
businesses, investors, media and internal departments. Manages Frankston City’s
and the organisation’s reputation, disseminates key messages to our communities
and positions the municipality as the preferred place to live, learn, work, visit and
invest.

Arts and
Culture

Public Space
and Leisure

Community
Safety

Operations

Community
Strengthening

Stimulates activity in the municipality through events, festivals, performing arts,
public art, visual arts, libraries, library services and lifelong learning initiatives and
community development programs. Provides facilities and services for events and
functions.

Net Cost
Actual
Budget
Variance
$000
1,529
1,387
142
4,038
4,313
(275)

Supports the social, recreational, cultural and economic life of the community
through innovative planning and development initiatives, delivering projects and
managing quality public spaces. Facilitates increased participation in structured and
unstructured sport, recreation and a range of leisure activities to improve
community health and wellbeing. Creates aesthetic and accessible spaces and
linkages, delivers public realm and open space design elements and capital works for
recreation facilities and public spaces.

312

Ensures the safety of the community by managing school crossing supervision,
animal registration, parking services, building services, planning enforcement, crime
prevention and foreshore patrols. Undertakes local law prosecutions, emergency
management and illegal dumping responses. Responsible for protecting and
enhancing the health and safety of the community and increasing hygiene
standards.

825

262
50

411
414

Preserves local amenity and promotes a safe, clean and attractive city through
maintaining civil infrastructure, shopping centre precincts, natural resources,
foreshore, infrastructure and recreation reserves while also providing services and
strategies for waste management.

8,671

Undertakes research and develops and implements policies including the Health and
Wellbeing Plan to enhance community wellbeing, social inclusion, participation,
empowerment and resilience. Departmental portfolio includes youth services,
Frankston North Community Centre, Ebdale Hub, Frankston South Community and
Recreation Centre, community grants, Frankston Charitable Fund, community
planning and engagement of local areas.

3,437
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8,779
(108)

3,446
(9)
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Service

Description

Sustainable
Assets

Delivers, maintains and manages municipal assets and services for current and
future generations, by planning sustainable assets that perform to desired service
outcomes, implementing best practice asset management, managing Council’s
Capital Works Program, managing Council fleet, supporting the efficient and
sustainable use of natural resources and assisting Council and the community to
prepare for a changing climate.

Commercial
Services

Family Health
Support Service

Manages Council’s property portfolio and provides business support and regulatory,
contractual and policy compliance monitoring of business related transactions and
risk in all service areas. Ensures the organisation makes informed, transparent,
ethical and justified decisions through: the procurement of goods and services, Best
Value service reviews, contract management, risk management, leases and licences,
property acquisition and responsible divestment.
Supports and enhances the health and wellbeing of families, children and young
people through Maternal and Child Health and Immunisation services, Kindergarten
Infrastructure and the Central Registration Scheme for 3 and 4 year old
kindergarten, Child Care and advocacy. Supports other local providers of children
and family services. Also, provides home and community based services and
support to maintain the dignity and independence of older people, people with a
disability and their carers, including supporting positive ageing, volunteering
opportunities, in-home services, Meals on Wheels, senior citizens, U3A, transport
and social support activities.
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Net Cost
Actual
Budget
Variance
$000
499
478
21

328
578
(250)

5,371
6,120
(749)
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The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and
measures including explanation of material variations.
Table 12: Liveable city – prescribed service performance indicators and measures
Service/indicator/measure
Libraries

Result
2014-2015

Result
2015-2016

5

8

60%

57%

Reduced expenditure on new collection
items in 2015-2016 has had an impact
on the result.

$9

$10

The result is consistent with 2014-2015
and represents physical visits to the
library. The 2015-2016 cost includes
the provision of e-books.

15%

14%

This result is heavily influenced by the
increasing use of online resources and
the public computers in the library.
19,324 patrons borrowed a physical
library item, 7,381 patrons used the
public computers and 333,424 digital
loans and online database users were
recorded.

Utilisation

Material variations
Overall library collection usage has
increased with 37 per cent of loans
being digital resources.

Library collection usage
[Number of library collection item loans /
Number of library collection items]
Resource standard
Standard of library collection
[Number of library collection items
purchased in the last 5 years / Number of
library collection items] x100
Service cost
Cost of library service
[Direct cost of the library service / Number
of visits]

Participation
Active library members
[Number of active library members /
Municipal population] x100
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Service/indicator/measure
Animal Management

Result
2014-2015

Result
2015-2016

N/A 2

8 days

66%

64%

Of the 1,655 animals impounded 1,052
animals were reclaimed.

$42 3

$54

There are 25,041 animals registered in
the municipality at a cost of $1.35m per
year. The result for 2014-2015 was
incorrect; the actual result is $60.

37 4

82

59 per cent of households in Frankston
City own a registered dog or cat. Of the
82 prosecuted pet owners the majority
were a direct result of an unregistered
animal and irresponsible pet ownership.

97%

N/A

In 2016 there was an initiative to
transition the majority of Victorian
councils offering Maternal and Child
Health Services to a new database. The
database is not expected to provide
reliable information until the end of
September 2016. Therefore, Council is
unable to report this data for the 20152016 financial year. 5

Timeliness

Material variations
There were 3,787 animal requests
received and actioned.

Time taken to action animal requests
[Number of days between receipt and first
response action for all animal management
requests / Number of animal management
requests]
Service standard
Animals reclaimed
[Number of animals reclaimed / Number of
animals collected]
Service cost
Cost of animal management service
[Direct cost of the animal management
service / Number of registered animals]
Health and safety
Animal management prosecutions
[Number of successful animal management
prosecutions]
Maternal and Child Health (MCH)
Satisfaction
Participation in first MCH home visit
[Number of first MCH home visits /
Number of birth notifications received]
x100

2

This is a new measure reported in 2015-2016
The 2014-2015 result was incorrect. This has been noted in the 2015-2016 material variations
4
In the Annual Report 2014-2015 Council had calculated the number of animal management prosecutions as the total number of charges as
opposed to the total number of individual offenders which were prosecuted. There were 37 offenders which were prosecuted and 139
charges in total.
5
Comments provided by Local Government Victoria (LGV)
3
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Service/indicator/measure
Service standard

Result
2014-2015

Result
2015-2016

95%

N/A

In 2016 there was an initiative to
transition the majority of Victorian
councils offering Maternal and Child
Health Services to a new database. The
database is not expected to provide
reliable information until the end of
September 2016. Therefore, Council is
unable to report this data for the 20152016 financial year. 6

N/A 7

$65

Council continues to monitor costs to
ensure the delivery of the MCH service
remains efficient.

78%

N/A

In 2016 there was an initiative to
transition the majority of Victorian
councils offering Maternal and Child
Health Services to a new database. The
database is not expected to provide
reliable information until the end of
September 2016. Therefore, Council is
unable to report this data for the 20152016 financial year. 8

Infant enrolments in the MCH service
[Number of infants enrolled in the MCH
service (from birth notifications received) /
Number of birth notifications received]
x100

Service cost
Cost of the MCH service

Material variations

[Cost of the MCH service / Hours worked by
MCH nurses]
Participation
Participation in the MCH service
[Number of children who attend the MCH
service at least once (in the year) / Number
of children enrolled in the MCH service]
x100

Participation in the MCH service by
Aboriginal children
[Number of aboriginal children who attend
the MCH service at least once (in the year)
/ Number of Aboriginal children enrolled in
the MCH service] x100

74%

N/A

In 2016 there was an initiative to
transition the majority of Victorian
councils offering Maternal and Child
Health Services to a new database. The
database is not expected to provide
reliable information until the end of
September 2016. Therefore, Council is
unable to report this data for the 20152016 financial year. 9

6

Comments provided by Local Government Victoria (LGV)
This is a new measure reported in 2015-2016
8
Comments provided by Local Government Victoria (LGV)
9
Comments provided by Local Government Victoria (LGV)
7
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Service/indicator/measure
Food Safety

Result
2014-2015

Result
2015-2016

Material variations

N/A 10

2 days

92%

98%

During the 2015 calendar year, 491 food
safety assessments were conducted on
class 1 and 2 food premises requiring an
assessment. An additional 78 food
safety assessments on medium and high
risk premises were conducted.

$488

$475

The food safety service includes new
business set up, routine food sampling,
inspections at all medium and high risk
premises and investigation of all food
related complaints. In 2015-2016,
Council received a higher than usual
number of new home-based businesses
and business transfers.

86%

99%

New comprehensive mobile checklists
developed in 2015-2016 have enabled
Environmental Health Officers to assess
each food premises more accurately.
As a result there has been a higher
number of critical and major
notifications this year.

Timeliness
Time taken to action food complaints

The Environmental Health team
respond to food safety complaints to
ensure the safety and hygiene of food
premises are maintained.

[Number of days between receipt and first
response action for all food complaints /
Number of food complaints]
Service standard
Food safety assessments
[Number of registered class 1 food
premises and class 2 food premises that
receive an annual food safety assessment
in accordance with the Food Act 1984 /
Number of registered class 1 food premises
and class 2 food premises that require an
annual food safety assessment in
accordance with the Food Act 1984] x100
Service cost
Cost of food safety service
[Direct cost of the food safety service /
Number of food premises registered or
notified in accordance with the Food Act
1984]

Health and safety
Critical and major non-compliance outcome
notifications
[Number of critical non-compliance
outcome notifications and major noncompliance notifications about a food
premises followed up / Number of critical
non-compliance outcome notifications and
major non-compliance notifications about
food premises] x100

10

This is a new measure reported in 2015-2016
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Service/indicator/measure
Home and Community Care (HACC)

Result
2014-2015

Result
2015-2016

N/A 11

9 days

There were 672 new clients who have
received the HACC service. This
includes in-home care, Meals on
Wheels, home maintenance and social
support. These services assist clients to
live independently in their homes.

100%

100%

Compliance with the Community Care
Common Standards remains
outstanding. Planning is underway to
ensure the same outcome for the next
audit.

N/A 12

$56

Council continues to monitor costs to
ensure the delivery of these services
remains consistent.

N/A 13

$47

Council continues to monitor costs to
ensure the delivery of these services
remains consistent.

N/A 14

$55

Council continues to monitor costs to
ensure the delivery of these services
remains consistent.

Timeliness
Time taken to commence the HACC service
[Number of days between the referral of a
new client and commencement of HACC
service / Number of new clients who have
received a HACC service]
Service standard
Compliance with Community Care Common
Standards
[Number of Community Care Common
Standards expected outcomes met /
Number of expected outcomes under the
Community Care Common Standards] x100
Service cost
Cost of domestic care service

Material variations

[Cost of the domestic care service / Hours
of domestic care service delivered]
Cost of personal care service
[Cost of the personal care service / Hours
of personal care service delivered]
Cost of respite care service
[Cost of the respite care service / Hours of
respite care service delivered]

11

This is a new measure reported in 2015-2016
This is a new measure reported in 2015-2016
13
This is a new measure reported in 2015-2016
14
This is a new measure reported in 2015-2016
12
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Service/indicator/measure
Participation

Result
2014-2015

Result
2015-2016

23%

23%

HACC services were delivered to 2,695
clients. Services include in-home care,
Meals on Wheels, home maintenance
and social support. These services
assist clients to live independently in
their homes. Despite growth in the
ageing population, demand for the
service has remained stable.

9%

18%

HACC services were delivered to 385
Culturally and Linguistically Diverse
clients in 2015-2016, which is an
increase of 191 CALD clients from the
previous year. These services assist
clients to live independently in their
homes.

1

1

Council has two aquatic facilities both of
which were inspected. Council also
conducts inspections at all swimming
pools with public access.

13 15

3

There were three incidents at the
Peninsula Aquatic Recreation Centre
(PARC) requiring WorkSafe notification
and none at Pines Forest Aquatic
Centre. No improvement notices were
issued. The result of 13 in 2014-2015
was incorrect due to the inclusion of
minor incidents; the actual result is 5.

Participation in HACC service
[Number of people that received a HACC
service / Municipal target population for
HACC services] x100

Participation in HACC service by Culturally
and Linguistically Diverse (CALD) people
[Number of CALD people who receive a
HACC service / Municipal target population
in relation to CALD people for HACC
services] x100
Aquatic Facilities
Service standard
Health inspections of aquatic facilities

Material variations

[Number of authorised officer inspections
of Council aquatic facilities / Number of
Council aquatic facilities]

Reportable safety incidents at aquatic
facilities
[Number of WorkSafe reportable aquatic
facility safety incidents]

15

The 2014-2015 result was incorrect. This has been noted in the 2015-2016 material variations.
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Service/indicator/measure
Service cost

Result
2014-2015

Result
2015-2016

$3

-$0.15

Improved performance, continual
growth in memberships and casual
attendances since opening PARC in
September 2014 has driven this result.

$14

$10

Peninsula Leisure Pty Ltd took over
management of the Pines Forest
Aquatic Centre. Growth in attendance
during the season with improvements
to the facility and other community
opportunities has contributed to this
result. This outdoor facility operates
from 1 November to 31 March each
year.

4

6

Cost of indoor aquatic facilities
[Direct cost of indoor aquatic facilities less
income received / Number of visits to
indoor aquatic facilities]
Cost of outdoor aquatic facilities
[Direct cost of outdoor aquatic facilities
less income received / Number of visits to
outdoor aquatic facilities]

Utilisation
Utilisation of aquatic facilities
[Number of visits to aquatic facilities /
Municipal population]
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Material variations

PARC had 807,937 visits during 20152016. The average visits per day was
2,207 and the highest monthly
attendance was in February 2016 with
73,507. The facility provides world class
health, wellness, swim and fitness
programs, a cafe and a creche. Pines
Forest Aquatic Centre had 25,585 visits
for the 2015-2016 season. This outdoor
facility operates from 1 November to 31
March each year.
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Long term community outcome three: sustainable city
The following statement reviews the performance of Council against the Council Plan including results
achieved in relation to the strategic indicators for strategies included in the Council Plan.
Table 13: Sustainable city – strategies and strategic indicators
Council Plan
strategy

Strategic
indicator

Result
2014-2015

Result
2015-2016

Plan, build,
maintain and
retire
infrastructure to
meet the needs of
the city and its
residents

Capital Works
Program
delivered

75%

89%

Council expended $52.597m against the
adjusted budget of $59.119m.

Plan, build,
maintain and
retire
infrastructure to
meet the needs of
the city and its
residents

Capital Works
projects
delivered on
schedule and
within +/-5%
approved
budget

92%

100%

All key capital works projects were completed
on time and within budget at the end of 20152016.

Build a local
community
culture of good
stewardship of
the environment

Household
waste to landfill
per household
per week

8.4 kg

8.5 kg

While the increase of 80 grams per household
per week in waste to landfill is minor, it is still
well ahead of other municipalities.

Build a local
community
culture of good
stewardship of
the environment

Adopt a long
term waste
management
solution by 30
June 2017

Achieved

Achieved

The Frankston Regional Recycling and
Recovery Centre (FRRRC) opened on 16
October 2015.

Build a local
community
culture of good
stewardship of
the environment

Council’s
greenhouse gas
emissions

11,720 T

10,321 T

Council's greenhouse gas emissions decreased
by 1,086 tonnes achieving the annual target of
less than 12,022 tonnes.
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Council Plan
strategy

Strategic
indicator

Ensure good
governance and
management of
Council resources

Underlying
operating result
deficit/(surplus)

Ensure good
governance and
management of
Council resources

Council’s
liquidity (ability
to pay liabilities
within one
year)

Ensure good
governance and
management of
Council resources

Overall
direction of
Council

Ensure good
governance and
management of
Council resources

Overall
performance of
Council

Result
2014-2015

Result
2015-2016

($5.036m)

($13.497m)

While Council reached a higher result in 20152016, the $14m budget surplus target was not
reached due Victorian Grants Commission
funding not being received in advance.

3.02:1

2.24:1

Council’s working capital ratio has declined
over the year, however still represents a sound
outcome in terms of short-term liquidity.

Score 59

Score 57

(96%)

(87%)

Score 62

Score 61

(88%)

(86%)

Comments

87 per cent of residents rated the overall
direction of Council as above average. The
result is six points higher than the state wide
result.
86 per cent of residents rated the overall
performance of Council as above average. The
result is two points higher than the state wide
result.

The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified in the
2015-2016 Budget.
Table 14: Sustainable city – major initiatives
Major initiatives

Progress

Complete the Frankston Yacht Club
development project

The construction of the Frankston Yacht Club is complete and
the building will be ready for occupancy early in 2016-2017.

Advocate for funding for recreation
infrastructure improvements

Council was successful in obtaining funding for the Frankston
Basketball Stadium, Frankston BMX track, McClelland Reserve
Pavilion, Jubilee Park cricket nets and the RF Miles Reserve
cricket nets.

Open the Waste Recycling Centre

FRRRC opened on 16 October 2015 and is being used to
increase recovery and recycling from the kerbside hard waste
collection.
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The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to initiatives identified in the 20152016 Budget.
Table 15: Sustainable city – initiatives
Initiatives

Progress

Adopt the Building Asset Management Plan

Adopted by Council on 27 June 2016. This document provides
Council with a direction to better manage its municipal
buildings over their lifecycle and operate them in a sustainable
manner.

Adopt the Integrated Water Action Plan

Adopted by Council on 27 June 2016. This plan will provide
guidance to Council to seek water from alternative sources and
better manage storm water discharges to natural waterways to
have a minimal impact on the environment.

Implement Biodiversity Action Plan

Implementation of the action plan is underway. Work on an
Urban Forest Strategy has progressed and will be used to
inform a revised street tree planting program.

Determine the impact of rate capping on
Council services

Council will complete a review of all services to remain
financially sustainable within a rate capped environment. A
framework is being developed to make objective assessments
of service provision.

Deliver the annual internal audit program

The Audit and Risk Management Committee has reviewed and
endorsed the annual internal audit program including Projects
and Capital Works Management, Human Resource
Management and Workforce Planning, and Centenary Park Golf
Course.

Implement the Well Governed policy framework A number of policies which are significant components of the
Well Governed policy framework have been adopted. These
include the Records Management Policy, Election Period
(Caretaker) Policy, Councillor Code of Conduct and Procurement
Policy.
Continue the implementation of the Frankston
Arts Centre Best Value service review

Recommendations continue to be implemented. These include
re-tendering of the catering contract, replacement of the
commercial kitchen and preparation of a three year business
plan and budget to reduce Council’s subsidy to the Frankston
Arts Centre.

Adopt the Human Resources Strategy

The draft strategy has been finalised for presentation to EMT in
October 2016.
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Initiatives

Progress

Adopt the Customer Service Strategy

The strategy has been adopted. The actions include an
increased customer service focus and a review of processes and
procedures across the organisation.

The following statements provide information in relation to the services funded in the 2015-2016 Budget
and the persons or sections of the community who are provided the service.
Table 16: Sustainable city – services
Net Cost
Actual
Budget
Variance
$000

Service

Description

Facilities

Delivers, maintains and retires facility buildings in Frankston City. Constructs
new or develops old Council-owned building facilities in the municipality to
accommodate a range of community groups. Provides cleaning, security and
maintenance to about 338 Council buildings including the Civic Centre, Library
and Frankston Arts Centre, public toilets, sporting pavilions, preschools and
other community buildings.

4,511

Preserves local amenity and promotes a safe, clean and attractive city through
maintaining civil infrastructure, shopping centre precincts, natural resources,
foreshore, infrastructure and recreation reserves while also providing services
and strategies for waste management.

17,582

Delivers, maintains and manages municipal assets and services for current
and future generations, by planning sustainable assets that perform to
desired service outcomes, implementing best practice asset management,
managing Council’s Capital Works Program, managing Council fleet,
supporting the efficient and sustainable use of natural resources and assisting
Council and the community to prepare for a changing climate.

(752)

Operations

Sustainable Assets

Planning and
Environment

Researches and prepares land use, development and environmental strategies
for the municipality. Undertakes timely assessment of development, land use,
subdivision and tree removal proposals. Develops and implements integrated
nature conservation and biodiversity protection strategies and action plans.
Educates and enforces (in close cooperation with Council’s Community Safety
officers) to ensure that all land use and development within Frankston fully
complies with approvals and relevant legislation.
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4,246
265

17,285
297

(362)
(390)

683
672
11
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Service

Description

Financial Services

Ensures organisational financial sustainability through financial management,
accounting services, rates and valuations.

Net Cost
Actual
Budget
Variance
$000
2,940
3,055
(115)

Business and
Information
Technology

Manages technology, projects and business systems to support Council to
deliver services to the community while driving business improvement
initiatives across the organisation.

3,463
3,479
(16)

Human Resources

Administration and
Corporate Projects

Community
Relations

Ensures the organisation has the required leadership, people, skills and
capabilities, culture and environment, at the right time, to achieve and
implement Council’s priorities, deliver quality services and facilities to the
community, and meet all relevant statutory obligations and requirements.
Provides administrative support in areas of governance including policies,
procedures, elections, Local Laws, statutory processes, compliance,
delegations, Freedom of Information, privacy, records and cemetery
management. Also manages a number of key organisational projects.
Provides the first point of contact for our communities, including residents,
visitors, businesses, investors, media and internal departments. Manages
Frankston City’s and the organisation’s reputation, disseminates key messages
to our communities and positions the municipality as the preferred place to
live, learn, work, visit and invest.
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1,801
1,756
45
1,345
2,933
(1,588)
929
914
15
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The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and
measures including explanation of material variations.
Table 17: Sustainable city – prescribed service performance indicators and measures
Service/indicator/measure
Waste Collection

Result
2014-2015

Result
2015-2016

101

96

An improvement in overall bin
condition has been achieved with
annual bin audits and the
subsequent bin repair and
replacement program.

1

1

Council’s collection contractor
recorded one bin missed in every
10,330 bins collected.

$83

$91

While the cost of collection has
reduced, there have been increases
in the Victorian Government landfill
levy, disposal charges and
administration costs along with an
increased amount of waste
collected.

$19

$17

The cost of the collection service has
been reduced due to savings
negotiated as part of a contract
extension.

54%

53%

Waste diversion has remained
relatively stable over the past 12
years. Ongoing public education on
recycling has contributed to this
stability. On average, household
waste to landfill increased by 80
grams per household per week.

Satisfaction
Kerbside bin collection requests
[Number of kerbside garbage and recycling bin
collection requests / Number of kerbside bin
collection households] x1,000
Service standard
Kerbside collection bins missed
[Number of kerbside garbage and recycling
collection bins missed / Number of scheduled
kerbside garbage and recycling collection bin
lifts] x10,000
Service cost
Cost of kerbside garbage collection service
[Direct cost of the kerbside garbage bin
collection service / Number of kerbside
garbage collection bins]
Cost of kerbside recyclables collection service
[Direct cost of the kerbside recyclables bin
collection service / Number of kerbside
recyclables collection bins]
Waste Diversion
Kerbside collection waste diverted from
landfill
[Weight of recyclables and green organics
collected from kerbside bins / Weight of
garbage, recyclables and green organics
collected from kerbside bins] x100
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Service/indicator/measure
Roads

Result
2014-2015

Result
2015-2016

128

87

The number of sealed local road
requests has declined due to
Council’s proactive approach to
maintenance following
implementation of the new Road
Management Plan (RMP) in
September 2015.

98%

97%

The standard of the road network
has remained stable.

$102

$69

The cost of local road reconstruction
is dependent on the varied work
required each year to ensure road
standards are maintained.

$22

$24

The cost of sealed local road
resealing has remained consistent
due to competitive tendering.

64

63

Satisfaction with sealed local roads is
nine points higher than the state
wide average. Construction works
on Council roads included segments
of McCormicks Road and McClelland
Drive with works totaling
approximately 4,119 square metres.
There was also approximately
112,884 square metres of asphalt
resurfacing works completed.

Satisfaction of use
Sealed local road requests
[Number of sealed local road requests /
Kilometres of sealed local roads] x100
Condition
Sealed local roads below the intervention level

Material variations

[Number of kilometres of sealed local roads
below the renewal intervention level set by
Council / Kilometres of sealed local roads]
x100
Service cost
Cost of sealed local road reconstruction
[Direct cost of sealed local road reconstruction
/ Square metres of sealed local roads
reconstructed]
Cost of sealed local road resealing
[Direct cost of sealed local road resealing /
Square metres of sealed local roads resealed]
Satisfaction
Satisfaction with sealed local roads
[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with
how Council has performed on the condition
of sealed local roads]
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Service/indicator/measure

Result
2014-2015

Result
2015-2016

16%

28%

During the year there were a
significant number of contracts over
the delegation limit which were
required to go to Closed Council
Meetings for a decision.

57

57

While the score is consistent with
the previous year the result typically
improves when Council undertakes
consultation on the Council Plan,
Community Plan and Health and
Wellbeing Plan, which will
recommence in October 2016.

91%

83%

There were 16 Ordinary Meetings
and six Special Meetings held
throughout the year. A new term of
Council will commence in November
2016.

$44,170

$45,069

Council expenses are reimbursed in
accordance with the Local
Government Act 1989 and Council’s
policy.

59

58

Overall 74 per cent of residents
rated satisfaction with Council
decisions above average. This result
is four points higher than the state
wide average.

Material variations

Governance
Transparency
Council resolutions at meetings closed to the
public
[Number of Council resolutions made at
ordinary or special meetings of Council, or at
meetings of a special committee consisting
only of Councillors, closed to the public /
Number of Council resolutions made at
ordinary or special meetings of Council or at
meetings of a special committee consisting
only of Councillors] x100
Consultation and engagement
Satisfaction with community consultation and
engagement
[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with
how council has performed on community
consultation and engagement]
Attendance
Council attendance at Council meetings
[The sum of the number of Councillors who
attended each ordinary and special Council
meeting / (Number of ordinary and special
Council meetings) x (Number of Councillors
elected at the last Council general election)]
x100
Service cost
Cost of governance
[Direct cost of the governance service /
Number of Councillors elected at the last
Council general election]
Satisfaction
Satisfaction with Council decisions
[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with
how Council has performed in making
decisions in the interest of the community]
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Governance, management
and other information
Council operates in an open and transparent
manner, and is accountable to the Frankston City
community.

Governance
Frankston City Council is constituted under the
Local Government Act 1989 (the Act) to provide
leadership for the good governance of Frankston
City and the local community.
Council has a number of roles including:
• Taking into account the diverse needs of the
local community in decision making
• Providing leadership by establishing strategic
objectives and monitoring achievements
• Ensuring that resources are managed in a
responsible and accountable manner
• Advocating for the interests of the local
community to other communities and
governments
• Fostering community cohesion and encouraging
active participation in civic life
Council is committed to effective and sustainable
governance as the key to ensuring that Council
responds to the community’s priorities. The
community has many opportunities to provide
input into Council’s decision making processes
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including community consultation, public forums
and the ability to make submissions to Special
Committees of Council.
Council’s formal decision making processes are
conducted through Council Meetings and Special
Committees of Council. Council delegates the
majority of its decision making to Council officers
through the CEO. These delegations are exercised
in accordance with adopted Council policies.

Meetings of Council
Council conducts open public meetings every three
weeks. Members of the community are welcome to
attend these meetings and observe from the public
gallery. Council meetings provide the opportunity
for community members to submit a question to
the Council, make a submission or speak about an
item. For the 2015-2016 year Council held the
following meetings:
• 16 Ordinary Council Meetings
• 6 Special Council Meetings
Council also conducts regular Councillor Briefings,
where matters that are intended or likely to go
before Council for decision are considered. In 20152016, 51 Councillor Briefings were held.
Table 18 provides a summary of Councillor
attendance at Council Meetings, Special Council
Meetings and Councillor Briefings for 2015-2016.
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Table 18: Councillor attendance at meetings and briefings
Councillor

Ordinary Meeting

Special Meeting

Councillor Briefing

Total

Cr Glenn Aitken

15

6

41

62

Cr Brian Cunial

11

6

22

39

Cr James Dooley

16

5

49

70

Cr Colin Hampton

14

6

50

70

Cr Sandra Mayer

13

6

43

62

Cr Michael O’Reilly

14

5

34

53

Cr Rebekah Spelman

15

4

37

56

Cr Suzette Tayler

12

4

27

43

Cr Darrel Taylor

14

2

35

51

Total meetings held

16

6

51

73

Council reports
In 2015-2016, 316 Council reports were prepared
by Council officers for Council. In 2015-2016, 87
closed Council reports were also prepared for
Council.

Questions
In 2015-2016, 32 questions were submitted to
Council by members of the public.

Special Committees
The Act allows councils to establish one or more
Special Committees consisting of:
•
•
•
•

Councillors
Council officers
Other persons
Any combination of the above

Tables 19 and 20 on the following pages contain
lists of all Special Committees established by
Council that are in operation and the Councillor
members of each committee.
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Table 19: Councillor nominees for internal committees
Internal committee

Councillor nominee/s

Audit and Risk Committee

Mayor and Cr Hampton

Ballam Park Homestead Advisory Committee

Cr Aitken, Cr Cunial and Cr Spelman

Cash in Lieu Car Parking Scheme Steering
Committee

Cr Hampton

Centenary Park Golf Club Communications
Committee

Cr Hampton

Chief Executive Officer’s Performance Review
Committee

All Councillors

Community Grants Program Committee

Cr Aitken and Cr Spelman

Frankston Arts Centre Board

Cr O’Reilly and Cr Taylor (sub-delegate Cr Mayer)

Frankston Cemetery Trust Committee

Cr Cunial, Cr Hampton and Cr Spelman

Frankston City News Committee

Mayor, Cr Hampton and Cr Mayer

Frankston Environment Advisory Committee

Discretion of the CEO

Heritage Assets and Promotion Committee

Cr Aitken, Cr Cunial and Cr Mayer

Local Area Planning Committees

All Councillors

Miscellaneous Grants Program Committee

Mayor and Deputy Mayor

Planning Scheme Review Committee

Mayor, Cr Mayer and Cr Taylor

Soccer Liaison Committee

Cr Hampton

Urban Design Advisory Committee

Cr Aitken, Cr Mayer and Cr Tayler
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Table 20: Councillor nominees for external committees
External committee

Councillor nominee/s

ANZAC Day Celebrations – Sub Committee

Mayor, Cr Aitken, Cr Hampton

Association of Bayside Municipalities

Discretion of CEO

Australian Local Government Association (ALGA)

Mayor

Australian Local Government Women’s Association

Mayor and Cr Mayer

Frankston Charitable Fund Committee of
Management

Cr Aitken and Cr Cunial

Frankston Regional Aquatic Centre Pty Ltd Board

Mayor

Metropolitan Waste Management Forum

Cr Cunial and Cr Hampton

Mornington Peninsula Regional Tourism Board –
Leaders Forum

Cr Tayler

South-East Metro Mayoral Group

Mayor

Youth Advisory Council

Cr O’Reilly, Cr Spelman and Cr Tayler

Code of Conduct

•

The Act requires councils to develop and approve a
Councillor Code of Conduct within 12 months after
each general election. The Local Government
(Improved Governance) Act 2015 introduced
amendments to the Act, requiring every council to
review its Councillor Code of Conduct and make
necessary changes at a special meeting by 4 July
2016.

•

On 6 June 2016 (Special Meeting 195), Council
adopted the Councillor Code of Conduct 2016,
which was based on Frankston’s existing Councillor
Code of Conduct 2013 with minor amendments and
additions to achieve compliance with the new
legislative requirements.
The Councillor Code of Conduct 2016 is designed
to:
•

Assist the Mayor and Councillors to discharge
the responsibilities of their public office
appropriately
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•

Assist Councillors to maintain the highest
standards of conduct and behaviour
Provide an internal resolution process for
addressing alleged contraventions of the
Councillor Code of Conduct
Provide a means for Councillors to deal with
problems they may encounter

Conflict of interest
Councillors are elected by residents and ratepayers
to act in the best interests of the community. This is
a position of trust that requires Councillors to act in
the public interest. When a Council delegates its
powers to a Council officer or a committee, the
committee or officer also need to act in the public
interest.
A conflict of interest occurs when a personal or
private interest might compromise the ability to act
in the public interest. Council has a comprehensive
procedure in place to accommodate the disclosure
of a conflict of interest. Declaration of a conflict of
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interest is a standard agenda item for all Council
and committee meetings.
While the procedures vary depending on the
particular role and circumstances, in general they
involve disclosing the relevant interests in a specific
way and then stepping aside from the relevant
decision making process or from the exercise of the
public duty. A register is maintained to record all
disclosed conflicts of interest. During 2015-2016, 15
conflicts of interest were declared at Council and
Special Committee meetings.

Councillor allowances
In accordance with Section 74 of the Act,
Councillors are entitled to receive an allowance
while performing their duty as a Councillor. The
Mayor is entitled to receive a higher allowance.

The Victorian Government sets the upper and lower
limits for all allowances paid to Councillors and
Mayors. Councils are divided into three categories
based on the income and population of each
council. In this instance Frankston City Council is
recognised as a category 3 Council (as defined by
the Act).
For the period of 1 July to 12 November 2015, the
Councillor annual allowance for a category 3
Council was fixed at $28,202 per year and the
allowance for the Mayor was $90,081 per year.
For the period 13 November 2015 to 30 June 2016,
the Councillor annual allowance for a category 3
Council was fixed at $28,907 per year and the
allowance for the Mayor was $92,333 per year.
Table 21 outlines the allowances paid to each
Councillor during the year.

Table 21: Councillor allowances 2015-2016 (amount in $)
Councillor

Allowance (per year, pro-rata)

Allowance (per year, pro-rata)

Up until 12 November 2015

From 13 November 2015

Cr Glenn Aitken

28,202

28,907

Cr Brian Cunial

28,202

28,907

Cr James Dooley

28,202

92,333 (Mayor)

Cr Colin Hampton

28,202

28,907

Cr Sandra Mayer

90,081 (Mayor)

28,907

Cr Michael O’Reilly

28,202

28,907

Cr Rebekah Spelman

28,202

28,907

Cr Suzette Tayler

28,202

28,907

Cr Darrel Taylor

28,202

28,907
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expenses for Councillors. The policy provides guidance for the
payment of reimbursements of expenses and the provision of
resources, facilities and other support to the Mayor and
Councillors to enable them to discharge their duties.
The details of Councillor expenses for 2015-2016 are set out in
table 22.

Councillor expenses
In accordance with Section 75 of the Act, Council is required to
reimburse a Councillor for expenses incurred while performing
his or her duties as a Councillor. Council is also required to adopt
and maintain a policy in relation to the reimbursement of
Table 22: Councillor expenses 2015-2016 (amount in $)
Councillor

Child care

Conferences
and training

Equipment

Meals and
networking

Mobile
phone

Office
supplies

Travel

Total

Cr Glenn Aitken

-

-

-

53

1,150

121

3,594

4,919

Cr Brian Cunial

-

-

278

-

452

-

-

730

Cr James Dooley

-

7,912

787

1,126

1,242

541

379

11,987

Cr Colin Hampton

-

2,279

116

366

2,394

135

893

6,182

Cr Sandra Mayer

-

3,294

676

360

2,506

-

1,731

8,568

Cr Michael O’Reilly

-

-

-

-

695

-

-

695

Cr Rebekah Spelman

-

-

114

-

1,656

538

96

2,404

Cr Suzette Tayler

-

-

-

55

779

-

970

1,803

Cr Darrel Taylor

-

476

1,227

440

977

534

448

4,103

Total

0

13,960

3,198

2,400

11,851

1,869

8,111

41,390
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Management
Council has implemented a number of statutory
and better practice elements to strengthen its
management framework. Having strong
governance and management frameworks lead to
better decision making. The Act requires Council to
undertake an assessment against the prescribed
Governance and Management Checklist and include
this in its report of operations. Council’s
Governance and Management Checklist results are
set out in table 24. The following items have been
highlighted as important components of the
management framework.

Audit and Risk Management Committee
The Audit and Risk Management Committee is an
independent advisory committee to Council
established under Section 139 of the Act.
The Audit and Risk Management Committee’s role
is to provide independent advice and
recommendations to Council about the systems
and activities of Council to ensure:
• Reliable financial reporting and management
information
• Standards of corporate governance
• Appropriate application of accounting policies
• Compliance with applicable laws and regulations
• Effective monitoring and control of all identified
risks
• Effective and efficient internal and external audit
functions
• Measures to provide early warning of any issues
affecting the organisation’s financial wellbeing
• The level and effectiveness of appropriate
business continuity and disaster recovery
planning
• Maintenance and fostering of an ethical
environment

for a three-year term. The chair is appointed from
the independent members. Councillor members are
nominated annually.
Independent members:
• David Fraser
• Neil Greenaway (Chairperson)
• Leanna La Combre
Councillor members:
• Cr James Dooley, Mayor (since November 2015)
• Cr Colin Hampton
• Cr Sandra Mayer (until November 2015)
The Audit and Risk Management Committee meets
five times a year. The CEO, Directors and Manager
Financial Services attend all Audit and Risk
Management Committee meetings. Other
management representatives attend as required to
present reports. The external auditors attend
meetings each year to present the audit plan,
Independent Audit Report and to review the
financial statements.
Recommendations from each Audit and Risk
Management Committee meeting are subsequently
reported to and considered by Council.
Committee member attendance is outlined in table
23.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee
consists of three independent members and two
Councillors. Independent members are appointed
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Table 23: Audit and Risk Management Committee
member attendance
Member

Eligible
to attend

Attended

Cr James Dooley, Mayor

3

3

David Fraser

5

5

Neil Greenaway (Chair)

5

5

Leanna La Combre

5

5

Cr Colin Hampton

5

4

Cr Sandra Mayer, Mayor

2

1

Internal audit
Council’s internal audit function provides
independent and objective assurance that the
appropriate processes and controls are in place
across Council. Council’s internal audit function is
managed by Pitcher Partners.
A risk-based three-year Strategic Internal Audit Plan
(SIAP) is revised annually to ensure the audit
resources remain focused on the appropriate areas.
The review process considers Council’s risk
framework, the Council Plan, the impact of any
change on operations, systems or the business
environment, prior audit coverage and outcomes
and management input.
Representatives of Pitcher Partners attend each
Audit and Risk Management Committee meeting to
report on the status of the SIAP, provide an update
on the implementation of audit recommendations
and to present findings of completed reviews. The
responsible director and manager for each area
reviewed are required to attend the Audit and Risk
Committee meeting to respond to questions in
relation to the review. All audit issues identified are
risk rated.

the Executive Management Team and the Audit
and Risk Management Committee. Quality
assurance is measured through client satisfaction
surveys for each review, the annual Audit and Risk
Management Committee self-assessment,
completion of the SIAP and benchmarking against
other internal audit functions.
The following audits were undertaken during 20152016:
• Human resources management and workplace
planning
• Centenary Park Golf Course
• PARC project evaluation
• Fraud management
• Digital engagement

External audit
Council is externally audited by the Victorian
Auditor-General. For the 2015-2016 year the
annual external audit of Council’s Financial
Statements and Performance Statement was
conducted by the Victorian Auditor-General’s
representative. The external auditors attend Audit
and Risk Management Committee meetings
throughout the year as required to present the
annual audit plan and Independent Audit Report.
The external audit management letter and
responses are also provided to the Audit and Risk
Management Committee.

Recommendations are assigned to the responsible
manager and tracked in Council’s corporate system.
Managers provide quarterly status updates that are
reviewed by the Internal Auditor and reported to
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Governance and Management Checklist
Table 24: Governance and Management Checklist
Governance and Management Items

Assessment

1

Community engagement policy

Policy

(policy outlining council’s commitment to engaging
with the community on matters of public interest)

Date of operation of current policy:
26 October 2015

Community engagement guidelines

Guidelines

(guidelines to assist staff to determine when and
how to engage with the community)

Date of operation of current policy:
24 May 2016

2





Community Engagement Toolkit
3

Strategic Resource Plan
(plan under Section 126 of the Act outlining the
financial and non-financial resources required for at
least the next 4 financial years)

4

Annual budget
(plan under Section 130 of the Act setting out the
services to be provided and initiatives to be
undertaken over the next 12 months and the funding
and other resources required)

5

Adopted in accordance with Section 126 of the
Act



Date of adoption:
16 May 2016
Adopted in accordance with Section 130 of the
Act



Date of adoption:
16 May 2016

Asset Management Plans

Plans

(plans that set out the asset maintenance and
renewal needs for key infrastructure asset classes
for at least the next 10 years)

Date of operation of current plans:



Drainage: July 2008
Roads: May 2010
Facilities/Buildings: June 2016
Parks & Leisure: May 2010
Road Management Plan: May 2015

6

Rating strategy

Strategy

(strategy setting out the rating structure of Council
to levy rates and charges)

Date of operation of current strategy:
27 June 2016



Reviewed and adopted every two years
7

Risk policy

Policy

(policy outlining Council’s commitment and
approach to minimising the risks to Council’s
operations)

Date of operation of current policy:
24 May 2014

Frankston City Council Annual Report 2015-2016
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Governance and Management Items

Assessment

8

Fraud policy

Policy

(policy outlining council’s commitment and
approach to minimising the risk of fraud)

Date of operation of current policy:
1 April 2016



Fraud is incorporated in the Risk Management
Policy.
In operation since 1 April 2000
9

Municipal emergency management plan
(plan under Section 20 of the Emergency
Management Act 1986 for emergency prevention,
response and recovery)

10

Procurement policy
(policy under Section 186A of the Local Government
Act 1989 outlining the matters, practices and
procedures that will apply to all purchases of goods,
services and works)

11

12

13

Prepared and maintained in accordance with
Section 20 of the Emergency Management Act
1986.



Date endorsed by Council:
1 February 2016
Prepared and approved in accordance with
Section 186A of the Local Government Act 1989



Date of approval:
6 June 2016

Business continuity plan

Plan

(plan setting out the actions that will be undertaken
to ensure that key services continue to operate in
the event of a disaster)

Date of operation of current plan:
30 June 2015

Disaster recovery plan

Plan

(plan setting out the actions that will be undertaken
to recover and restore business capability in the
event of a disaster)

Date of operation of current plan:
28 March 2015

Risk Management Framework

Framework

(framework outlining Council’s approach to
managing risks to the Council’s operations)

Date of operation of current Framework:
20 October 2015



Reviewed annually. In operation since
11 April 2007


Reviewed annually. In operation since
1 December 2009


Reviewed annually. In operation since
1 April 2008
14

Audit Committee
(advisory committee of council under Section 139 of
the Act whose role is to oversee the integrity of a
council’s financial reporting, processes to manage
risks to the council’s operations and for compliance
with applicable legal, ethical, and regulatory
requirements)
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Established in accordance with Section 139 of
the Act



Date of establishment:
27 October 1997
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Governance and Management Items

Assessment

15

Internal Audit

Engaged

(independent accounting professionals engaged by
the council to provide analyses and
recommendations aimed at improving council’s
governance, risk and management controls)

Date of engagement of current provider:
14 July 2014

Performance Reporting Framework

Framework

(a set of indicators measuring financial and nonfinancial performance, including the performance
indicators referred to in Section 131 of the Act)

Date of operation of current framework:
1 July 2015

Council Plan reporting

Report

(report reviewing the performance of the council
against the Council Plan, including the results in
relation to the strategic indicators, for the first six
months of the financial year)

Date of reports:
16 November 2015
22 February 2016
16 May 2016

16

17







Quarterly Performance Reports noted by Council
since February 2011.
18

Financial reporting
(quarterly statements to Council under Section 138
of the Act comparing budgeted revenue and
expenditure with actual revenue and expenditure)

19

20

21

Statements presented to Council in accordance
with Section 138(1) of the Act



Date statements presented:
26 October 2015 (Annual Report)
16 November 2015
22 February 2016
16 May 2016

Risk reporting

Reports

(six-monthly reports of strategic risks to council’s
operations, their likelihood and consequences of
occurring and risk minimisation strategies)

Date of reports:
26 September 2016
25 February 2016

Performance reporting

Reports

(six-monthly reports of indicators measuring the
results against financial and non-financial
performance, including performance indicators
referred to in Section 131 of the Act)

Date of reports:
27 November 2015
26 February 2016
27 May 2016

Annual Report

Considered at a meeting of council in accordance
with Section 134 of the Act

(annual report under Sections 131, 132 and 133 of
the Act to the community containing a report of
operations and audited financial and performance
statements)
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Governance and Management Items

Assessment

22

Reviewed in accordance with Section 76C of the
Act

Councillor Code of Conduct
(Code under Section 76C of the Act setting out the
conduct principles and the dispute resolution
processes to be followed by Councillors)

23

Delegations
(a document setting out the powers, duties and
functions of council and the Chief Executive Officer
that have been delegated to members of staff)

24

Meeting procedures
(a local law governing the conduct of meetings of
council and special committees)



Date reviewed:
6 June 2016
Reviewed in accordance with Section 98(6) of
the Act



Date reviewed:
23 May 2016
Meeting procedures local law made in accordance
with Section 91(1) of the Act



Date local law made:
17 April 2015

I certify that this information presents fairly the status of Council’s governance and management
arrangements.

____________________________
Dennis Hovenden
Chief Executive Officer
Dated: 30 August 2016
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Cr James Dooley
Mayor
Dated: 30 August 2016
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Statutory information
The following information is provided in accordance
with legislative and other requirements applying to
Council.

Documents available for public inspection
As required by legislation, Council makes certain
information available for viewing by the public,
during normal office hours and by prior
arrangement. Below is a list of documents available
for public inspection in accordance with Regulation
12 of the Local Government (General) Regulations
2015. Inspection of these documents can be
arranged by contacting Council on 1300 322 322.
• A document containing details of overseas or
interstate travel (other than interstate travel by
land for less than three days) undertaken in an
official capacity by a Councillor or any member
of Council staff in the previous 12 months
• Minutes of Ordinary and Special Meetings held
in the previous 12 months which are kept under
Section 93 of the Act, other than those agendas
and minutes relating to part of a meeting which
was closed to members of the public under
Section 89 of the Act and are confidential
information within the meaning of section 77(2)
• The minutes of meetings of Special Committees
established under Section 86 of the Act and held
in the previous 12 months, other than those
minutes relating to a part of a meeting which
was closed to members of the public under
Section 89 of the Act and are confidential
information within the meaning of Section 77(2)
of the Act
• A register of delegations kept under Sections
87(1) and 98(4) of the Act, including the date on
which the last review took place under Sections
86(6) and 98(6), respectively, of the Act
• A document containing details of all leases
involving land which were entered into by the
Council as lessor, including the lessee and the
terms and the value of the lease
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• A register maintained under Section 224(1A) of
the Act of authorised officers appointed under
that section
• A list of donations and grants made by the
Council in the previous 12 months, including the
names of persons who, or bodies which, have
received a donation or grant and the amount or
each donation or grant

Best Value
The Best Value principles set out in the Act state
that a Council’s services must meet quality and cost
standards, be responsive to community needs, be
accessible to those members of the community for
whom the service is intended and achieve
continuous improvement in service provision. At
least once every year Council must report to the
community about what it has done to ensure it has
given effect to the Best Value principles (Section
208B(f) of the Act).
Council is committed to value for money in service
delivery and undertakes regular business planning,
performance monitoring and reviews of services in
accordance with Best Value principles.
The following Best Value service reviews were
undertaken during 2015-2016:
• Tourism and Visitor Services – review of delivery
models, resourcing and capabilities
• Home and Community Care – review of the
service in light of the Australian Governments
Aged Care Reforms
• Media and communications – review of
communication requirements, resources and
capabilities
• Frankston Arts Centre – implementation of a
four year plan to improve business outcomes
and reduce Council subsidy
• Information services – ensuring alignment to
Council business priorities and optimal delivery
of services
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Carer’s recognition

Disability Action Plan

Councils are required to report annually on their
obligations set out in Section 11 of the Carers
Recognition Act 2012. Council has taken all practical
measures to comply with its legislative
responsibilities by promoting the principles to
people in care relationships and to the wider
community.

In accordance with Section 38 of the Disability Act
2006, Council has prepared a Disability Action Plan
and implemented the following actions:

Council has also:

•

• Implemented the Care Relationship Principles
outlined in Part 2 of the Carers Recognition Act
• Ensured employees and agents have an
awareness and understanding of the care
relationship principles
• Incorporated requirements in the Municipal
Health and Wellbeing Plan
• Developed, provided and evaluated support
assistance for carers
• Distributed printed material through relevant
Council services

Contracts
No contracts were entered into as a result of an
emergency or the subject of Ministerial approval
under Section 186 of the Act.
One contract was entered into not in accordance
with Section 186:
Contract
name

Contractor Contract
type

Development SW19 Pty
of a Facilities Ltd
Management
Model

Value (ex
GST)

Consultant $191,300
services

Council confirms that as far as it is aware it is
compliant with the National Competition Policy
requirements.

•

•

•

Promoted and supported events such as
International Day of People with a Disability, in
addition to National Disability Insurance
Scheme (NDIS) information forums
Regularly consulted with the Disability Access
and Inclusion Committee (DAIC) in relation to
key Council projects
Achieved “Changing Places” accreditation for
toilet facilities at George Pentland Gardens and
PARC to cater for the needs of people with
profound disabilities
PARC was recognised with the Victorian
Disability Sport and Recreation’s inaugural
Inclusive Infrastructure Award. PARC’s design
includes four accessible change rooms including
adjustable adult size change tables, ceiling hoist
and tracking systems, access ramps into all pool
areas, portable chair hoists, hearing loops in
group fitness rooms and a range of Technogym
fitness equipment that is adaptable for wheel
chair users

Domestic Animal Management Plan
In accordance with the Domestic Animals Act 1994,
Council is required to prepare a Domestic Animal
Management Plan (DAMP) at four yearly intervals
and evaluate its implementation in the Annual
Report.
Council’s 2012-2016 DAMP sets the strategic
direction for animal management in Frankston City,
allowing for review on an annual basis. Council’s
2012-2016 DAMP was adopted by Council on 16
September 2013.
The DAMP was developed in consultation with
Council officers, a stakeholder reference group and
the community.
The DAMP seeks to promote responsible pet
ownership through education, encouragement and
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enforcement. Enforcement of the DAMP assists in
keeping parks, reserves and streets clean of animal
waste and provides improved levels of safety within
the community.
Issues addressed in the DAMP include:
•
•
•
•

Roaming dogs and cats
Irresponsible dog and cat owners
Dogs walking off lead in public places
Difficulty confining cats

These issues are addressed by implementing the
following actions:
• Improved animal management training and
development
• Encouraging responsible pet ownership –
community education
• Identification and registration
• Compliance and enforcement – Local Laws and
orders
• Regulation of domestic animal businesses
• Regulation of declared dogs
Achievements in 2015-2016 included:
• Information provided to the community about
responsible pet ownership
• Community satisfaction targets for Pets’ Day Out
were met
• All staff undertook relevant training
• The percentage of lost and stray dogs and cats
reunited with their owners exceeded targets and
previous years
• All domestic animal businesses – for example pet
shops and boarding kennels – were inspected
and compliant with requirements

Food Act Ministerial Directions
In accordance with Section 7E of the Food Act 1984,
Council is required to publish in its Annual Report a
summary of any Ministerial Directions received
during the financial year.
No such Ministerial Directions were received by
Council during the financial year.
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Freedom of Information Act 1982
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 provides the
public with a right of access to documents held by
Council. Certain exemptions exist to protect
interests such as the personal privacy of individuals
and trade secrets of businesses. Applications for
access to documents must be in writing, and be as
specific as possible about the documents being
sought. Council received 32 applications in 20152016.
Applications should also be accompanied by the
appropriate application fee (which may be waived
in certain circumstances). Access charges may also
apply once documents have been processed and a
decision on access is made.
Further information is available on Council’s
website or from the Freedom of Information Officer
on 1300 322 322.

Information privacy
Responsible handling of personal and health
information is a key aspect of good governance.
Council is committed to complying with the
obligations and principles in the Privacy and Data
Protection Act 2014 and the Health Records Act
2001.
Council will only collect personal, sensitive and
health information that is necessary for its
functions and activities. Individuals are entitled to
access their personal information, except where
Council is entitled by law to withhold it.
If an individual feels aggrieved by Council’s handling
of their personal, sensitive or health information,
they may make a complaint to Council’s Privacy
Officer. A complaint will be investigated as soon as
possible (but within five business days) and a
written response will be provided.
No health privacy complaints were received during
2015-2016 under the Health Records Act 2001.
Three complaints relating to information privacy
were received during 2015-2016, but no complaints
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were lodged with the Commissioner for Privacy and
Data Protection.
Further information regarding privacy, including
Council’s Privacy Policy, is available on Council’s
website. Council’s Privacy Policy is also available
upon request by contacting the Privacy Officer on
1300 322 322 or by emailing
privacyofficer@frankston.vic.gov.au

Protected Disclosure Procedures
In accordance with Section 69 of the Protected
Disclosure Act 2012 Council must include in its
Annual Report information about how to access the
procedures established by the Council under Part 9
of that Act. It is also required to provide certain
information about the number and types of
protected disclosures complaints investigated
during the financial year.

encouraging people to disclose improper conduct
within the public sector and provide protection for
people who make disclosures. Procedures on how
to make a disclosure are available on Council’s
website.
Council is not aware of any disclosures to the
Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption
Commission (IBAC) in 2015-2016 relating to any
Frankston City Council Councillors or officers.

Road Management Act Ministerial
Directions
In accordance with Section 22 of the Road
Management Act 2004, Council must publish a copy
or summary of any Ministerial Direction in its
Annual Report. No such Ministerial Directions were
received by Council, in its capacity as a road
authority, during 2015-2016.

The Protected Disclosure Act 2012 aims to ensure
openness and accountability in government by
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Glossary A-Z
2015-2016: 1 July 2015 to 30 June 2016
Accrual accounting: An accounting method in which revenue and costs are recognised for the period in
which they are incurred rather than as cash received or disbursed.
Accumulated surplus: The value of all net assets accumulated over time.
Actual 2015-2016: Actual performance achieved where this measure was used in the 2015-2016 financial
year.
Advocacy: Publicly supporting or recommending programs or services on behalf of the community to
other levels of government or service providers for community benefit.
Assets: Everything owned by or owed to Council such as roads, equipment and buildings. Assets are listed
in the Financial Report.
Australian Accounting Standard: Accounting standards issued by the Australian Accounting Standards
Board.
Balance Sheet: A quantitative summary of Council’s financial condition as at 30 June 2016, including
assets, liabilities and net equity.
Best value: An ongoing program of reviews of Council services to ensure they meet the required cost
standards and needs of the community to deliver value for money.
Biodiversity: The variety of all living things including plants, animals and micro-organisms, their genes and
the ecosystems of which they are a part.
Budget: Council’s published budget detailing the financial position of Council.
Buildings and improvements: Includes all capital building improvements to any land owned or controlled
by Council.
Capital expenditure: The expenditure on items which are expected to produce future economic benefits
for Council and have a useful life of more than 12 months.
Capital improved value: The market value of the property at the date of valuation including the value of
the land and all improvements built on the land.
Capital works program: Program of scheduled infrastructure works for road, drainage and building assets.
Cashflow statement: Reports all cash movements during the financial year. Cash movements consist of
cash inflows (receipts/proceeds) less cash outflows (payments).
Committee: A group that assists Council with the decision making process and has a Council
representative to assist with the consultation process.
Commitment: Commitments represent the key issues for the Frankston City community as identified in
the Council Plan.
Community Grants: Council allocates a sum of money for the Community Grants Program as part of the
annual budget process. The funding supports not-for-profit community organisations in Frankston City.
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Community Satisfaction Survey: A Victorian Government requirement whereby councils conduct a survey
once a year to obtain community feedback in order to gauge satisfaction levels with Council services.
Councillors: Elected representatives of Frankston City.
Council Plan: Council Plan guides the development and strategic priorities for Frankston City and Council
over a four year period. This plan is reviewed annually.
Cultural diversity: Celebrating the community’s many different cultures expressed through languages,
tradition, religions, dress, arts, dance and lifestyle.
Depreciation: The process of allocating the value of a non-current physical asset over its useful life having
regard to any residual value remaining at the end of that economic life.
FTE: Full Time Equivalent (FTE) – 1 FTE is equivalent to one person working 38 hours per week for 52
weeks of the year.
Employee entitlements: Benefit entitlements that employees accumulate as a result of their employment
as at the reporting date including, but not limited to, wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave, long
service leave, superannuation benefits and other post-employment benefits.
Equity: The residual interest in the assets of Council after deduction of its liabilities, which is made up of
accumulated surplus and reserves. Total equity is also equal to net assets.
Expense: An outgoing payment made by Council.
Extraordinary items: Items of revenue or expense that are attributable to transaction or other events of a
type that are outside the ordinary operations of Council and are not of a recurring nature.
Fair value: The amount an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties where
available markets exist or the amount of the asset’s current replacement cost less accumulated
depreciation.
Financial year: This document reports on the financial year 1 July 2015 to 30 June 2016.
Financial statements: Incorporates the income statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity,
cashflow statement plus the notes to and forming part of the accounts that support these statements.
Fixed assets: Physical assets owned or controlled by Council and that are used for operational
requirements.
Frankston City News: Council’s newsletter, distributed six times per year, providing residents with
information about Council’s activities. It is delivered by Australia Post to all residents and businesses
within Frankston City.
Frankston City Planning Scheme: Outlines state and local planning policies including zones, overlays and
other provisions.
Furniture and fittings: Assets and capital acquisitions relating to computer equipment, electronic
equipment, appliances, furniture, fixtures and fittings.
Governance: Governance relates to Council’s purpose, objectives, role and functions as set out in the Local
Government Act 1989.
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Grants – non-recurrent income: Grant income received for a ‘one-off’ specific purpose, generally for a
particular project.
Grants – recurrent income: Grant income received on a regular basis (i.e. quarterly, annually) and granted
to Council by another entity for specific or general purposes.
Green Wedge: A non-urban area of Frankston City defined in the Victorian Government’s Planning
Strategy. The area is to be maintained as a predominantly green environment.
Heritage assets: Includes antiques, artefacts, artworks, photographs, Mayoral chains and heritage
buildings owned by Council.
Income statement: Identifies all revenues earned and expenses incurred during the financial year.
Indicators: Indicators define what will be measured to show we are meeting our objectives.
Infrastructure: Stock of fixed capital equipment including roads, public buildings and footpaths.
Internal audit: An independent appraisal function which examines and evaluates Frankston City’s financial,
management and internal control systems.
Key Performance Indicator (KPI): A significant measure used on its own or in combination with other key
performance indicators to monitor how well a business is achieving its quantifiable objectives.
Land: All land owned or controlled by Council.
Land improvements: Includes all capital improvements, other than buildings, to any land owned or
controlled by Council.
Liabilities: Future sacrifices of economic benefits that Council is presently obliged to make to other entities
as a result of past transactions or other past events.
Local Law: The laws adopted by Council that prohibit, regulate and control activities, events, practices and
behaviours within Frankston City.
Local roads: The municipal road network which is maintained by Council.
Metropolitan Activity Centre: Metropolitan Activity Centre (MAC) as defined by the Frankston Structure
Plan and State Planning Policy.
Master plan: A plan which outlines a preferred future vision for a particular area in Frankston City. It is
usually developed for an area being considered for redevelopment or redesign.
Municipal Strategic Statement: The Municipal Strategic Statement (MSS) is Council’s long-term plan to
guide development of the City and its urban form. It forms part of the Frankston City Planning Scheme.
Municipal Association of Victoria (MAV): The industry body which advocates on behalf of Victoria’s 79
Councils.
Net assets: The difference between total assets and total liabilities, which represents Council’s net worth.
Net assets are also equal to total equity.
Operating leases: A lease under which the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and benefits
incidental to ownership of the leased asset.
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Performance measures: Mechanisms such as unit costs or response times which can be used to measure
Council’s performance over time.
Plant and equipment: Assets owned by Council including ticket machines, garbage bins, fleet and trailers.
Pre-payments: Payments made to Council in advance of receiving good or services.
Provisions: Includes accrued long service leave, annual leave and rostered days off owing to employees at
reporting date.
Rates and charges income: Income received from ratepayers in relation to general rates, garbage rates
and special rate schemes.
Rating strategy: The process by which Council’s rate structure is established and how the quantum of rate
change has been determined taking into consideration long-term issues.
Reserves: Monies set aside in the statement of financial position for specific purposes in accordance with
statutory and discretionary principles.
Revaluation: The process where the fair value of an asset or the useful life of an asset is reassessed.
Revenue: Revenue is the amount of money that Council actually receives from its activities, mostly from
rates and services provided to customers and ratepayers.
Risk management: A policy and process for identifying business risks and controlling the likelihood and/or
impact of a risk event occurring.
Roads: Includes road pavements, footpaths, kerb and channel, traffic signals and speed restriction devices.
Statement of changes in equity: Summarises the change in Council’s net worth.
Statement of financial position: Reports all assets owned by Council (includes amounts owed to Council)
and all liabilities owed by Council.
Strategic Resource Plan: Sets out the long-term financial resources of Council and includes key financial
indicators.
Strategy: A plan of action intended to accomplish specific objectives.
Surplus (deficit): Represents the difference between total revenues, expenses, net gain (loss) on disposal
of property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and share of net profits (losses) of associates and joint
ventures accounted for by the equity method.
Sustainable: Ability to meet present day needs without compromising the ability of future generations to
meet their needs.
Triple bottom line: Measures community wellbeing by assessing economic, social and environmental
considerations.
Trust funds and deposits: Monies received by Council for a specific purpose, which are to be refunded
upon a specific event occurring (i.e. Council assets are not damaged). If that specific event does not occur,
Council is entitled to recognise these monies as income.
User fees: Income received by Council from a variety of fees and charges such as aged and health service
fees, animal and local law fines and registrations, building permits and other charges, childcare, children’s
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program fees, debt collection recovery charges, election fines, parking meter fees, ticket machine fees,
leisure centre and recreation fees, library fines and other charges.
Values: Values are beliefs that underpin behaviours and processes. The values of an organisation guide its
culture.
Victorian Auditor-General: Independent officer of the Victorian Parliament appointed to examine the
management of resources within the public sector on behalf of the Parliament and the community.
Vision: A description of the future we aim to achieve for our City and community.
Ward: Defined electoral area to which a representative is elected as Councillor.
Wellbeing: A general term to encompass health, happiness, welfare, security, comfort, quality of life and a
sense of belonging.
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Appendix one:
Performance Statement

Performance Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Description of municipality

Frankston City is located on the eastern shores of Port Phillip Bay approximately 40 kilometres south of
Melbourne. It has a population of 135,971 (ABS Census 2015) which is predicted to grow to 152,494 by
2036. Frankston City is within metropolitan Melbourne and covers an area of approximately 131 square
kilometres from the Seaford Wetlands in the north, Frankston South in the south, and the Western Port
Highway in the east. The western boundary of the City is made up of about 11 kilometres of beautiful
coastline, clean foreshores and beaches along Port Phillip Bay. Frankston City comprises the suburbs of
Frankston, Frankston South, Frankston North, Seaford, Carrum Downs, Langwarrin, Karingal, Sandhurst
and Skye.
Frankston City is strategically placed as the regional centre for the Mornington Peninsula and the south
east growth corridor of Melbourne. The main industries include health care and community services,
manufacturing, retail trade, education and training. Frankston City also provides recreation, leisure and
entertainment facilities for a population catchment far greater than its municipal boundaries.
It was a significant year for achieving progress towards the community’s and council priorities with the
opening of the Frankston Regional Recycling and Recovery Centre, completing the new Frankston Yacht
Club and the relocation and redevelopment of the Frankston War Memorial to Beauty Park. Funding has
been secured for the Frankston Station Precinct redevelopment project to provide for improved
connectivity and a safer, modern and thriving place of business and activity. Council has upgraded the
facilities at Jubilee Park with new netball courts, lighting and courtside shelters and work continues to
improve other sporting precincts and public play spaces.

Sustainability capacity indicators
For the year ended 30 June 2016
Indicator/measure
Own-source revenue
Own-source revenue per head of
municipal population

Results
2014-2015 2015-2016

Material Variations

$914

$1,000

Council has a high dependency on its ownsource income and has continued to identify
and pursue alternative revenue sources.

$176

$109

The Financial Assistance Grants decreased in
the current year as a result of the Victorian
Grants Commission pre-paying half of the 20152016 grants in 2014-2015. Also, Council has
withdrawn family day care services.

$1,058

$1,034

It is expected that the result for this measure
will improve over the four year period to 2020.
The improving trend is due to ongoing cost
containment measures implemented.

$5,207

$5,415

The population has increased by 728 to 135,971
in the last 12 months. The written down value
of infrastructure increased to $736,451 million.

194

194

Council’s road network has increased from
698.55 km in 2014-2015 to 700.09 km in 20152016. This measure has remained consistent
with the 2014-2015 result.

6

6

Frankston City ranks in the sixth decile in
Victoria. The first decile indicates the most
disadvantaged and the tenth decile indicates
the least disadvantaged.

[Own-source revenue / Municipal
population]
Recurrent grants
Recurrent grants per head of
municipal population
[Recurrent grants / municipal
population]

Population
Expenses per head of municipal
population
[Total expenses / Municipal
population]
Infrastructure per head of municipal
population
[Value of infrastructure / Municipal
population]
Population density per length of road
[Municipal population / Kilometres
of local roads]

Disadvantage
Relative socio-economic
disadvantage
[Index of Relative Socio-economic
Disadvantage by decile]

Definitions
"adjusted underlying revenue" means total income other
than:
(a) non-recurrent grants used to fund capital
expenditure; and
(b) non-monetary asset contributions; and
(c) contributions to fund capital expenditure from
sources other than those referred to above
“infrastructure” means non-current property, plant and
equipment excluding land
"local road" means a sealed or unsealed road for which the
council is the responsible road authority under the Road
Management Act 2004
"population" means the resident population estimated by
council

"own-source revenue" means adjusted underlying revenue
other than revenue that is not under the control of Council
(including government grants)
"relative socio-economic disadvantage", in relation to a
municipality, means the relative socio-economic
disadvantage, expressed as a decile for the relevant
financial year, of the area in which the municipality is
located according to the Index of Relative Socio-Economic
Disadvantage (Catalogue Number 2033.0.55.001) of SEIFA
"SEIFA" means the Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas
published from time to time by the Australian Bureau of
Statistics on its Internet website
"unrestricted cash" means all cash and cash equivalents
other than restricted cash.
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Service performance indicators
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Results
Indicator/measure

2014-2015

2015-2016

Material Variations

59

58

Overall 74 per cent of residents rated
satisfaction with Council decisions above
average. This result is four points higher than
the state wide average.

45%

56%

Council has experienced an increase in the
number of appeals made to VCAT. While the
number of appeals has grown, Council’s
determinations have been more successful
under such review.

64

63

Satisfaction with sealed local roads is nine
points higher than the state wide average.
Construction works on Council roads included
segments of McCormicks Road and McClelland
Drive with works totalling approximately 4,119
square metres. There was also approximately
112,884 square metres of asphalt resurfacing
works completed.

15%

14%

This result is heavily influenced by the
increasing use of online resources and the
public computers in the library. 19,324 patrons
borrowed a physical library item, 7,381 patrons
used the public computers and 333,424 digital
loans and online database users were recorded.

Governance
Satisfaction
Satisfaction with Council decisions
[Community satisfaction rating out
of 100 with how council has
performed in making decisions in the
interest of the community]
Statutory Planning
Decision making
Council planning decisions upheld at
VCAT
[Number of VCAT decisions that did
not set aside council’s decision in
relation to a planning application /
Number of VCAT decisions in
relation to planning applications]
x100
Roads
Satisfaction
Satisfaction with sealed roads
[Community satisfaction rating out
of 100 with how council has
performed on the condition of
sealed local roads]

Libraries
Participation
Active library members
[Number of active library members /
Municipal population] x100
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Results
Indicator/measure

2014-2015

2015-2016

Material Variations

54%

53%

Waste diversion has remained relatively stable
over the past 12 years.
Ongoing public
education on recycling has contributed to this
stability. On average, household waste to
landfill increased by 80 grams per household
per week.

4

6

Peninsula Aquatic Recreation Centre (PARC) had
807,937 visits during 2015-2016. The average
visits per day were 2,207 and the highest
monthly attendance was in February 2016 with
73,507. The facility provides world class health,
wellness, swim and fitness programs, a cafe and
a creche.

Waste Collection
Waste diversion
Kerbside collection waste diverted
from landfill
[Weight of recyclables and green
organics collected from kerbside bins
/ Weight of garbage, recyclables and
green organics collected from
kerbside bins] x100

Aquatics facilities
Utilisation
Utilisation of aquatic facilities
[Number of visits to aquatic facilities
/ Municipal population]

Pines Forest Aquatic Centre had 25,585 visits
for the 2015-2016 season. This outdoor facility
operates from 1 November to 31 March each
year.

Animal management
Health and safety
Animal management prosecutions
[Number of successful animal
management prosecutions]

37

82

59 per cent of households in Frankston City own
a registered dog or cat. Of the 82 prosecuted
pet owners the majority were a direct result of
an unregistered animal and irresponsible pet
ownership.
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Results
Indicator/measure

2014-2015

2015-2016

Material Variations

86%

99%

New
comprehensive
mobile
checklists
developed in 2015-2016 has enabled
Environmental Health Officers to assess each
food premises more accurately. As a result
there has been a higher number of critical and
major notifications this year.

23%

23%

Home and Community Care (HACC) services
were delivered to 2,695 clients. Services
include in-home care, Meals on Wheels, home
maintenance and social support. These services
assist clients to live independently in their
homes.
Despite growth in the ageing
population, demand for the service has
remained stable.

9%

18%

HACC services were delivered to 385 Culturally
and Linguistically Diverse (CALD) clients in 20152016, which is an increase of 191 CALD clients
from the previous year. These services assist
clients to live independently in their homes.

Food safety
Health and safety
Critical and major non-compliance
outcome notifications
[Number of critical non-compliance
notifications and major noncompliance notifications about a
food premises followed up / Number
of critical non-compliance
notifications and major noncompliance notifications about food
premises] x100
Home and Community Care
Participation
Participation in HACC service
[Number of people that received a
HACC service / Municipal target
population for HACC services] x100

Participation
Participation in HACC service by
Culturally and Linguistically Diverse
(CALD) people
[Number of CALD people who
receive a HACC service / Municipal
target population in relation to CALD
people for HACC services] x100
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Results
Indicator/measure

2014-2015

2015-2016

Material Variations

78%

NA

In 2016 there was an initiative to transition the
majority of Victorian councils offering Maternal
and Child Health Services to a new database.
The database is not expected to provide reliable
information until the end of September 2016.
Therefore, Council is unable to report this data
for the 2015-2016 financial year.*

74%

NA

In 2016 there was an initiative to transition the
majority of Victorian councils offering Maternal
and Child Health Services to a new database.
The database is not expected to provide reliable
information until the end of September 2016.
Therefore, Council is unable to report this data
for the 2015-2016 financial year.*

Maternal Child and Health
Participation
Participation in the MCH service
[Number of children who attend the
MCH service at least once (in the
year) / Number of children enrolled
in the MCH service] x100
Participation
Participation in MCH service by
Aboriginal children
[Number of Aboriginal children who
attend the MCH service at least once
(in the year) / Number of Aboriginal
children enrolled in the MCH service]
x100
* Comments provided by Local Government Victoria (LGV)

Definitions
"Aboriginal child" means a child who is an Aboriginal person
"Aboriginal person" has the same meaning as in the Aboriginal
Heritage Act 2006
"active library member" means a member of a library who has
borrowed a book from the library
"annual report" means an annual report prepared by a council under
sections 131, 132 and 133 of the Act
“CALD” means culturally and linguistically diverse and refers to
persons born outside Australia in a country whose national language
is not English
“class 1 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of
the Food Act 1984, that have been declared as class 1 food premises
under section 19C of that Act
“class 2 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of
the Food Act 1984 , that have been declared as class 2 food premises
under section 19C of that Act
"Community Care Common Standards "means the Community Care
Common Standards for the delivery of HACC services, published from
time to time by the Commonwealth
"critical non-compliance outcome notification" means a notification
received by council under section 19N(3) or (4) of the Food Act 1984
, or advice given to council by an authorised officer under that Act, of
a deficiency that poses an immediate serious threat to public health
"food premises" has the same meaning as in the Food Act 1984

"HACC program" means the Home and Community Care program
established under the Agreement entered into for the purpose of the
Home and Community Care Act 1985 of the Commonwealth
"HACC service" means home help, personal care or community
respite provided under the HACC program
"local road" means a sealed or unsealed road for which the council is
the responsible road authority under the Road Management Act
2004
"major non-compliance outcome notification" means a notification
received by a council under section 19N(3) or (4) of the Food Act
1984, or advice given to council by an authorized officer under that
Act, of a deficiency that does not pose an immediate serious threat
to public health but may do so if no remedial action is taken
"MCH" means the Maternal and Child Health Service provided by a
council to support the health and development of children within the
municipality from birth until school age
"population" means the resident population estimated by council
"target population" has the same meaning as in the Agreement
entered into for the purposes of the Home and Community Care Act
1985 of the Commonwealth
"WorkSafe reportable aquatic facility safety incident" means an
incident relating to a council aquatic facility that is required to be
notified to the Victorian WorkCover Authority under Part 5 of the
Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004.
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Financial Performance Indicators
For the year ended 30 June 2016
Dimension/indicator/measure

Results

Results

Forecast

20142015

20152016

20162017

20172018

20182019

20192020

Material Variations

3.4%

8.9%

10.9%

9.7%

9.2%

7.6%

The declining trend over the four year forecast
period is due to the introduction of rate capping.

164.0%

223.6%

200.4%

221.5%

253.4%

272.6%

This measure is expected to remain stable in 20162017 and increase over the following three years.

55.0%

45.4%

107.6%

125.4%

154.0%

170.1%

Council’s cash position is favourable and is
expected to remain stable over the next four
years.

Operating Position
Adjusted underlying result
Adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit)
[Adjusted underlying surplus
(deficit)/Adjusted underlying revenue]
x100
Liquidity
Working capital
Current assets compared to current
liabilities
[Current assets / Current liabilities] x100
Unrestricted cash
Unrestricted cash compared to current
liabilities
[Unrestricted cash / Current liabilities]
x100
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Dimension/indicator/measure

Results

Results

Forecast

20142015

20152016

20162017

20172018

20182019

20192020

Material Variations

30.0%

34.4%

31.8%

30.4%

28.9%

27.5%

The 2015-2016 result was high due to Council
entering into new loan borrowings. It is expected
that this measure will decrease over the four year
period to 2019-2020 which reflects the scheduled
repayment of debt.

4.0%

4.5%

2.9%

2.4%

2.3%

2.3%

The result for this measure is expected to decrease
over the next four years. The decreasing forecast
trend reflects the scheduled repayment of debt
over this time.

19.0%

28.3%

25.4%

24.3%

22.9%

21.9%

Council has an appropriate level of long term
liabilities.

70.0%

86.6%

88.3%

81.8%

67.8%

76.5%

This measure is expected to remain stable until
2017-2018. An anticipated decrease is a result of
a plateau of renewal expenditure based on current
condition assessments.

Obligations
Loans and borrowings
Loans and borrowings compared to
rates
[Interest bearing loans and borrowings /
Rate revenue] x100
Loans and borrowings repayments
compared to rates
[Interest and principal repayments on
interest bearing loans and borrowings /
Rate revenue] x100
Indebtedness
Non-current liabilities compared to own
source revenue
[Non-current liabilities / Own source
revenue] x100
Asset renewal
Asset renewal compared to depreciation
[Asset renewal expenses / Asset
depreciation] x100
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Dimension/indicator/measure

Results

Results

Forecast

20142015

20152016

20162017

20172018

20182019

20192020

Material Variations

68.0%

71.5%

69.3%

69.6%

69.4%

69.8%

Council has a stable dependency on rate revenue.
This also highlights that Council has a secure
income source however should continue to
identify and pursue alternative revenue sources.

0.4%

0.4%

0.4%

0.4%

0.4%

0.4%

The result for this measure indicates that rate
revenue will remain stable over the next four
years.

$2,377

$2,256

$2,379

$2,218

$2,418

$2,512

There was a slight decrease of $121 in 2015-2016.
however it is anticipated this will increase over the
following four years by $256. The slowing upward
trend reflects cost containment measures taken by
Council.

$1,099

$1,168

$1,187

$1,216

$1,224

$1,232

This measure is expected to increase marginally by
2020.

Stability
Rates concentration
Rates compared to adjusted underlying
revenue
[Rate revenue / Adjusted underlying
revenue] x100
Rates effort
Rates compared to property values
[Rate revenue / Capital improved value
of rateable properties in the
municipality ] x100
Efficiency
Expenditure level
Expenses per property assessment
[Total expenses / Number of property
assessments]
Revenue level
Average residential rate per residential
property assessment
[Residential rate revenue / Number of
residential property assessments]
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Dimension/indicator/measure

Results

Results

Forecast

20142015

20152016

20162017

20172018

20182019

20192020

Material Variations

13%

14.81%

8.40%

8.40%

8.40%

8.40%

Of the 14.8 per cent turnover, 11.1 per cent was
voluntary turnover which compares favourably
with recent surveys. The 2014 Australian Institute
of Management (AIM) National Salary Survey
found that voluntary staff turnover was 12.2 per
cent and rising. Some turnover has occurred as a
result of organisational changes to increase
efficiency or reflect changed service delivery
needs.

Workforce turnover
Resignations and terminations
compared to average staff
[Number of permanent staff
resignations and terminations / Average
number of permanent staff for the
financial year] x100

Definitions
"adjusted underlying revenue" means total income other than—
(a) non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and
(b) non-monetary asset contributions; and
(c) contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other than those referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b)
"adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit)" means adjusted underlying revenue less total expenditure
"asset renewal expenditure" means expenditure on an existing asset or on replacing an existing asset that returns the service capability of the asset to its original capability
“current assets” has the same meaning as in the AAS
"current liabilities" has the same meaning as in the AAS
“non-current assets” means all assets other than current assets
"non-current liabilities" means all liabilities other than current liabilities
“non-recurrent grant” means a grant obtained on the condition that it be expended in a specified manner and is not expected to be received again during the period covered by a
council's Strategic Resource Plan
"own-source revenue" means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under the control of council (including government grants
"population" means the resident population estimated by council
“rate revenue” means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges
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"recurrent grant "means a grant other than a non-recurrent grant
"residential rates" means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges levied on residential properties
"restricted cash" means cash and cash equivalents, within the meaning of the AAS, that are not available for use other than for a purpose for which it is restricted, and includes
cash to be used to fund capital works expenditure from the previous financial year
"unrestricted cash" means all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash.
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Other Information

For the year ended 30 June 2016

1. Basis of preparation
Council is required to prepare and include a Performance Statement within its annual report. The Performance
Statement includes the results of the prescribed sustainable capacity, service performance and financial
performance indicators and measures together with a description of the municipality and an explanation of
material variations in the results. Council has made a number of comments under ‘Material Variations’ to assist
readers to interpret the results. This statement has been prepared to meet the requirements of the Local
Government Act 1989 and Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014.
Where applicable the results in the Performance Statement have been prepared on accounting bases consistent
with those reported in the Financial Statements. The other results are based on information drawn from Council
information systems or from third parties (e.g. Australian Bureau of Statistics).
The Performance Statement presents the actual results for the current year and for the prescribed financial
performance indicators and measures, the results forecast by Council’s Strategic Resource Plan. The Local
Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 requires explanation of any material variations in the
results contained in the Performance Statement.
The forecast figures included in the Performance Statement are those adopted by Council in its Strategic
Resource Plan on 25 May 2015 and which forms part of the Council Plan. The Strategic Resource Plan includes
estimates based on key assumptions about the future that were relevant at the time of adoption and aimed at
achieving sustainability over the long term. Detailed information on the actual financial results is contained in
the General Purpose Financial Statements. The Strategic Resource Plan can be obtained by contacting Council.
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Guide to understanding the Financial Report
Introduction
The Plain English Guide has been prepared to help readers understand and analyse the Financial Report. Particular
terms required by the Accounting Standards may not be familiar to all readers, and some of the generally recognised
terms used in private sector company reports are rephrased to be more appropriate to a Council’s report.
As part of its commitment to accountability, Council has developed this Plain English Guide to help readers with
their understanding of Council’s financial information.
The Financial Report is a key report by Frankston City Council. It shows how Council performed financially during the
financial year and the position as at 30 June 2016.
The Financial Report is prepared by Frankston City Council staff to meet the requirements of the Local Government
Act 1989, the Local Government (Finance and Reporting) Regulations 2004, the Local Government (Planning and
Reporting) Regulations 2014 and Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations. In addition, the Department
of Environment, Land, Water and Planning model accounts are used to assist with standardised financial reporting
for Local Government organisations in Victoria.
The Financial Report is audited by the Auditor‐General of Victoria and is reviewed by Council’s Audit and Risk
Management Committee, which recommends adoption by Council in principle.
The Financial Reports are then forwarded to the Auditor‐General’s office for provision of independent opinions on
the Financial Statement and Performance Statement.
Once approval has been obtained from the Auditor‐General’s office, the Financial Report is made available to the
public as a part of the Annual Report.
For the 2015‐2016 financial year, Council has received a clear audit of its Financial Report.

What is contained in the Financial Report?
Council’s Financial Report has two main sections, namely; the Financial Statements and the accompanying
explanatory notes. The Financial Statements comprise of Consolidated Financial Statements of Council and those
entities over which Council has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain the benefits
from their activities. For 2015‐2016 this represents the consolidated performance of Frankston City Council and
Frankston Regional Aquatic Centre Pty Ltd. The Financial Report is made up of five key financial statements. The
five statements are as follows:
1. Comprehensive Income Statement
2. Balance Sheet
3. Statement of Changes in Equity
4. Statement of Cash Flows
5. Statement of Capital Works.
The explanatory notes to the statements disclose Council’s accounting policies and provide greater detail on the
values contained in the statements.
Each statement has a purpose and provides the reader with information in relation to an aspect of Council’s
financial operation. When the Statements are read in conjunction with each other, it assists in the overall
understanding of Council’s financial position.

4

The statements are prepared on an ‘accrual’ basis. Preparing the statements using accrual basis allows Council to
recognise income and expenses as they are incurred (services or goods exchanged) at a particular point in time
where payment may not yet have changed hands. By recognising debts owed and owing Council is able to more
accurately present the income and expenses and their related assets and liabilities (matching principle).

Comprehensive Income Statement
The Comprehensive Income Statement measures Council’s financial performance over the year and shows if a
surplus or a deficit results delivering Council services. The statement lists:
• The sources of Council’s revenue under various income headings such as rates and charges.
• The expenses incurred in the day‐to‐day running of Council over the financial year. These expenses relate
only to the daily operations and do not include the cost associated with capital purchases or the building of
assets. While capital purchase costs are not included in the expenses there is an item for ‘depreciation’. This
value is the value of the assets “used up” during the year.
The key figure in this statement is the surplus for the reporting period, which is the best measure of Council’s
financial performance. This figure is determined by deducting total expenses from total income. The figure indicates
whether Council operated at a surplus or a deficit (a figure inside brackets reflects a deficit).
Other comprehensive income comprises items of income and expense (including reclassification adjustments) that
are not recognised in surplus or deficit as required or permitted by other Australian Accounting Standards. The
components of other comprehensive income includes changes in revaluation reserve.

Balance Sheet
The Balance Sheet is a one page summary, presenting a snapshot of the financial position of Council as at 30 June. It
outlines what Council owns (its assets) and what it owes (liabilities). Council’s net worth (net assets or equity) is
determined by deducting total liabilities from total assets — the larger the net equity, the stronger the financial
position. Council’s financial position at 30 June 2016 is sound, reflecting its commitment to financial and
infrastructure sustainability.
The assets and liabilities are separated into current and non‐current. Current assets are realisable or convertible to
cash within the next 12 months, while current liabilities are those which the Council must pay or settle within the
next 12 months.
The components of the Balance Sheet include:
Current and non‐current assets
• Cash and cash equivalents includes cash and investments, i.e. cash held in the bank and in petty cash and
cash investments maturing within three months
• Trade and other receivables are monies owed to Council for rates, parking, fines, GST refunds, home
support and other services provided by Council
• Other financial assets includes the value of Council’s longer‐term financial investments (maturity greater
than three months), such as bank bills, term deposits and floating rate notes, as well as the value of shares
Council holds
• Inventories include the stock held for sale or consumption in Council services
• Non‐current assets classified as held for sale represents the value of assets and related liabilities less costs
to sell that are earmarked for a highly probable sale in the coming financial period
• Other assets represents income due to Council, but not yet paid or billed, and prepayments which are
expenses that have been paid in advance by Council
• Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment is the largest component of Council’s worth and represents
the value of all the land, buildings, roads, vehicles, equipment, etc. which has been built up by Council over
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•

many years. It also includes those assets which Council does not own but has significant control over, and
responsibility for, such as foreshore pavilions, parks and Crown land
Intangibles represent non‐current assets held by Council that are not tangible such as computer software.

Current and non‐current liabilities
• Trade and other payables are suppliers to whom the Council owes money as at 30 June 2016
• Trust funds and deposits represent monies held in trust or deposits received and held by Council
• Provisions include long service and annual leave entitlements owing to employees at the end of the financial
year


Interest bearing loans and borrowings are the borrowings taken out by Council

Net assets
This term is used to describe the difference between the value of total assets and the value of total liabilities. It
represents the net worth of Council as at 30 June 2016.
The net value of Council is also described as total equity.
Total equity
Total equity always equals the net assets. It is made up of the following components:
• Accumulated surplus is the profit or loss results of all financial years totalled and carried forward
• Asset revaluation reserve is the difference between the previously recorded value of property and
infrastructure assets and their current valuations. In other words, it is the value of assets in excess of what
we paid for the assets
• Other Reserves are allocations of the accumulated surplus to specific projects or obligations such as unspent
funds from developer contributions and the sale of open space lands

Statement of Changes in Equity
The Statement of Changes in Equity summarises the increase (or decrease) in Council’s net worth for the year ended
30 June 2016. Council’s net worth can only change as a result of:


A surplus or deficit as recorded in the Comprehensive Income Statement



An increase or decrease in the value of non‐current assets resulting from a revaluation of those assets. The
value of all non‐current assets are reviewed and assessed each year to ensure that they reflect their true
value in the Balance Sheet



Transfer of monies to or from Council’s reserves

Cash Flow Statement
The Cash Flow Statement shows all the cash received and paid during the financial year. Figures without brackets
are inflows (receipts) and figures inside brackets are outflows (payments). This statement shows how much cash
Council had at the beginning of the financial year, the inflows and outflows during the financial year and the cash
balance at the end of the financial year. It differs from the Income Statement in that:


It excludes non‐cash expenses, such as depreciation



It excludes the accruals taken into account by the Income Statement



It includes payments or receipts in relation to capital items



It includes any ‘financing’ activities, such as any additional cash that Council may hold as a result of holding
increased trust deposits
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Council’s cash arises from, and is used, in three main areas as follows:
Operating activities
Receipts represents all cash received into Council’s bank account from ratepayers and others who owed money to
the council. Receipts also include the interest earnings from Council’s cash investments.
Payments represents all cash paid by Council from its bank account to employees, creditors and other persons. It
does not include the costs associated with the creation of assets.
Investing activities
Relates to payments for assets such as building improvements, footpaths and road renewals and other long term
revenue producing assets and the cash received from the sale of these assets. It also shows the movement in
investments.
Financing activities
This is where the receipt and repayment of borrowed funds are recorded.

Statement of Capital Works
The Statement of Capital Works sets out all the capital expenditure in relation to non‐current assets for the year. It
also shows the amount of capital works expenditure that was spent on expanding, renewing or upgrading Council’s
asset base. This is important because each of these categories has a different impact on Council’s future costs.
Council’s capital works occur in three main areas:

Property
Relates to land, buildings and leasehold. Improvements to existing assets are separately identified and heritage
buildings are separated from other buildings.

Plant and equipment
Comprises fixtures, fittings and furniture, computers and telecommunications, library books, heritage plant and
equipment and other plant, machinery and equipment.

Infrastructure
Includes roads, bridges, footpaths and cycleways, drainage, recreational, leisure and community facilities, waste
management, parks, open space and streetscapes and off‐street car parks.
Council’s total capital works payments for the year is then also categorised into new, renewed, expanded or
upgraded asset expenditure.
This statement reflects Council’s investment in a broad spectrum of community assets. It also demonstrates
whether the expenditure was made for new assets or modifications to existing assets.

Asset renewal expenditure
Asset renewal expenditure is expenditure on an existing asset that returns the service potential or the life of the
asset up to that which it had originally. It is periodically required expenditure, relatively large (material) in value
compared with the value of the components or sub‐components of the asset being renewed. As it reinstates existing
service potential it has no impact on revenue, but may reduce future operating and maintenance expenditure if
completed at the optimum time.

Asset upgrade expenditure
This expenditure enhances an existing asset to provide a higher level of service or expenditure that will increase the
life of the asset beyond that which it had originally. Upgrade expenditure is discretional and often does not result in
additional revenue unless direct user charges apply. It will increase operating and maintenance expenditure in the
future because of the increase in Council’s asset base.
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Asset expansion expenditure
This expenditure extends an existing asset at the same standard as is currently enjoyed by residents, to a new group
of users. It is discretional expenditure which increases future operating and maintenance costs because it increases
Council’s asset base, but may be associated with additional revenue from the new user group.

Asset new expenditure
This expenditure results in the creation or acquisition of a new asset.

Notes to the Financial Statements
The Financial Report contains 37 notes that form an important and informative section of the report. The notes give
greater meaning to the figures used in the five main statements. They should be read in conjunction with the
statements to get a clearer picture of Council’s finances. The notes give the details behind the summary line items
contained in the statements, showing exactly what each of the accumulated amounts include.
The notes provide details of Council’s accounting policies, which are described in note 1. The notes also advise the
reader about any changes to the Australian Accounting Standards, policy or legislation that may affect the way the
statements are prepared. The notes are particularly useful where there has been a significant change from the
previous year’s comparative figure.
Where Council wishes to disclose other information, which cannot be incorporated into the statements, it is shown
in the notes. Other notes include:


The breakdown of expenses, revenues, reserves and other assets



Transactions with persons related to Council



Comparisons of budget to actual results

Statements by Principal Accounting Officer, Councillors and CEO
The Certification of the Principal Accounting Officer is made by the person responsible for the financial management
of Council that, in her/his opinion, the Financial Report has met all statutory and professional reporting
requirements.
The certification by Councillors and the Chief Executive Officer is a statement made on behalf of Council that, in
their opinion, the Financial Report is fair and not misleading.

Auditor‐General’s Report
The Independent Audit Report is the external and independent opinion on the Financial Report. The audit opinion
confirms that the Financial Report fairly presents the results in all material respects of Council and complies with the
statutory reporting requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Planning and
Reporting) Regulations 2014.
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2015‐2016 Financial Report

Comprehensive Income Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2016
Note

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

108,003
5,395
18,142
14,801
5,062
2,361
6,014
4,444
164,222

101,381
5,107
14,489
23,933
6,525
1,287
1,032
4,130
157,884

63,444
43,344
24,880
‐
3,287
2,915
1,792
898
140,560

61,828
42,727
24,324
9,000
2,821
1,506
1,545
881
144,632

23,662

13,252

48,090
71,752

(8,228)
5,024

Income
Rates and charges
Statutory fees and fines
User fees
Grants ‐ operating
Grants ‐ capital
Contributions ‐ monetary
Contributions ‐ non‐monetary
Other income
Total income

3
4
5
6(a)
6(b)
7(a)
7(b)
8

Expenses
Employee costs
Materials and services
Depreciation and amortisation
Legal settlement
Other expenses
Net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, intangibles, plant and equipment
Borrowings costs
Bad and doubtful debts
Total expenses

9(a)
10
11
12(a)
12(b)
13
14
15

Surplus for the year

Other comprehensive income
Net asset revaluation increment (decrement)
Total comprehensive result

28(a)

The above Comprehensive Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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2015‐2016 Financial Report

Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2016
Note

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

32,695
13,360
22,982
197
72
763
70,069

40,538
14,064
13,957
191
751
897
70,398

184
1,309,362
2,730
1,312,276
1,382,345

459
1,228,450
23
1,228,932
1,299,330

13,635
5,277
11,093
1,336
31,341

17,379
5,374
11,378
8,812
42,943

1,748
35,864
37,612
68,953
1,313,392

1,659
21,658
23,317
66,260
1,233,070

619,238
694,154
1,313,392

603,285
629,785
1,233,070

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Inventories
Non‐current assets classified as held for sale
Other assets
Total current assets

16
17
18
19
20
21

Non‐current assets
Trade and other receivables
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total non‐current assets
Total assets

17
22
23

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Trust funds and deposits
Provisions
Interest‐bearing loans and borrowings
Total current liabilities

24
25
26
27

Non‐current liabilities
Provisions
Interest‐bearing loans and borrowings
Total non‐current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

26
27

Equity
Accumulated surplus
Reserves
Total equity

28

The above Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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2015‐2016 Financial Report

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2016
2016

Balance at beginning of the financial year
Surplus for the year
Prior year adjustment
Net asset revaluation increment
Transfers to other reserves
Transfers from other reserves
Balance at end of the financial year

2015

Balance at beginning of the financial year
Surplus for the year
Net asset revaluation (decrement)
Transfers to other reserves
Transfers from other reserves
Balance at end of the financial year

Note

28(a)
28(b)
28(b)

Note

28(a)
28(b)
28(b)

Total

Accumulated
Surplus

2016
$'000

2016
$'000

1,233,070
23,662
8,570
48,090
‐
‐
1,313,392

603,285
23,662
8,570
‐
(26,977)
10,698
619,238

Total

Accumulated
Surplus

2015
$'000
1,228,046
13,252
(8,228)
‐
‐
1,233,070

Asset
Revaluation
Reserve
2016
$'000
614,236
‐
‐
48,090
‐
‐
662,326

Other
Reserves
2016
$'000
15,549
‐
‐
‐
26,977
(10,698)
31,828

Other
Reserves

2015
$'000

Asset
Revaluation
Reserve
2015
$'000

584,766
13,252
‐
(10,138)
15,405
603,285

622,464
‐
(8,228)
‐
‐
614,236

20,816
‐
‐
10,138
(15,405)
15,549

2015
$'000

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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2015‐2016 Financial Report

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Note

2016
Inflows /
(Outflows)
$'000

2015
Inflows /
(Outflows)
$'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts
Rates and charges
Statutory fees and fines
User fees
Grants ‐ operating
Grants ‐ capital
Contributions ‐ monetary
Interest received
Other receipts
Net GST refund

107,149
4,650
20,173
14,806
5,062
2,361
1,713
2,771
329
159,014

101,478
3,344
17,150
24,537
9,950
1,287
1,631
2,438
672
162,487

(65,095)
(45,351)
‐
(3,288)
(981)
(114,715)
44,299

(60,437)
(44,192)
(9,000)
(2,821)
440
(116,010)
46,477

(50,207)
2,152
(9,025)
(57,080)

(38,846)
1,558
(4,512)
(41,800)

Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Borrowing costs
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities

9,818
(3,088)
(1,792)
4,938

5,724
(2,957)
(1,548)
1,219

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

(7,843)
40,538
32,695

5,896
34,642
40,538

Payments
Employees costs
Materials and services
Legal settlement
Other payments
Trust funds and deposits taken and repaid
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

29

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, infrastructure, intangibles, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
Payments for investments
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities

13

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

16

Financing arrangements
Restrictions on cash assets

30
16

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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2015‐2016 Financial Report

Statement of Capital Works
For the year ended 30 June 2016
2016
$'000

2015
$'000

5,349
5,349

1,003
1,003

14,448
814
15,262
20,611

14,436
‐
14,436
15,439

2,358
943
1,029
566
4,896

2,557
663
1,359
696
5,275

Total infrastructure

4,333
1,142
1,853
550
3,878
3,090
8,948
1,865
99
25,758

5,977
1,709
2,173
1,087
2,824
1,346
3,424
1,185
110
19,835

Total capital works expenditure

51,265

40,549

22,355
20,835
852
7,223
51,265

12,593
17,030
282
10,644
40,549

Note

Property
Land
Total land
Buildings
Building improvements
Total buildings

Total property
Plant and equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment
Fixtures, fittings and furniture
Computers and telecommunications
Library books

Total plant and equipment
Infrastructure
Roads
Bridges
Footpaths and cycleways
Drainage
Recreational, leisure and community facilities
Waste management
Parks, open space and streetscapes
Off street car parks
Other infrastructure

Represented by:
New asset expenditure
Asset renewal expenditure
Asset expansion expenditure
Asset upgrade expenditure

Total capital works expenditure
The above Statement of Capital Works should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016
Introduction
Frankston City Council was established by an Order of the Governor in Council on 15 December 1994 and is a body
corporate. The Council's main office is located at 30 Davey Street, Frankston, Victoria.

Statement of compliance
These financial statements are a general purpose financial report that consists of a Comprehensive Income
Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Capital Works
and Notes accompanying these financial statements. The general purpose financial report complies with Australian
Accounting Standards (AAS), other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board
(AASB), the Local Government Act 1989 , and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014.

Note 1

Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of accounting
The accrual basis of accounting has been used in the preparation of these financial statements, whereby assets,
liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of
when cash is received or paid.
This financial report has been prepared under the historical cost convention, except where specifically stated in
notes 1(f) and 1(j).
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated judgements are based on
professional judgement derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future
periods that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in the application of
AAS that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to:
‐ The fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, intangibles, plant and equipment (refer to note 1 (l))
‐ The determination of depreciation for buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to note 1 (p))
‐ The determination of employee provisions (refer to note 1 (r))
Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the prior year. Where
appropriate, comparative figures have been amended to accord with current presentation and disclosure has been
made of any material changes to comparatives.
The Frankston Cemetery Trust has been specifically excluded from this report by virtue of the Cemeteries Trust Act
(1958).

(b) Change in accounting policies and restatement of items in the financial statements due to reclassification
Restatement of comparatives in the financial statements
In order to comply with the Local Government Model Financial Report (LGMFR), there has been a number of
changes to 2014–2015 comparatives. The following financial statements and accompanying notes have been
amended to reflect reclassifications:
‐ Comprehensive Income Statement and notes 4 and 5.
‐ Balance Sheet and notes 17, 21, 22, 23, 24 and 25.
‐ Statement of Cash Flows and note 29 (reconciliation from cash flows to operating activities).
During the 2015–2016 financial year a number of changes have also been made to the categories that asset classes
are disclosed in to comply with the LGMFR.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016
Note 1
(c)

Significant accounting policies (cont.)
Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of Council incorporate all entities controlled by Council as at 30 June 2016
and their income and expenses for that part of the reporting period in which control existed.
Subsidiaries are all entities over which Council has control. Council controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to Council. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
Where dissimilar accounting policies are adopted by entities and their effect is considered material, adjustments
are made to ensure consistent policies are adopted in these financial statements.
In the process of preparing consolidated financial statements all material transactions and balances between
consolidated entities are eliminated.
Entities consolidated into Council include:
‐ Peninsula Leisure Pty Ltd (formally know as FRAC ty Ltd) (ACN: 160 239 770)

(d) Committees of management
All entities controlled by Council that have material revenues, expenses, assets or liabilities, such as committees of
management, have been included in this financial report. Any transactions between these entities and Council
have been eliminated in full.

(e) Revenue recognition
Income is recognised when Council obtains control of the contribution or the right to receive the contribution, it is
probable that the economic benefits comprising the contribution will flow to Council and the amount of the
contribution can be measured reliably.
Rates and charges
Annual rates and charges are recognised as revenues when Council issues annual rates notices. Supplementary
rates are recognised when a valuation and reassessment is completed and a supplementary rates notice issued.
Statutory fees and fines
Statutory fees and fines (including parking fees and fines) are recognised as revenue when the service has been
provided, the payment is received, or when the penalty has been applied, whichever first occurs.
User fees
User fees are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided or the payment is received, whichever
first occurs.
Grants
Grant income is recognised when Council obtains control of the contribution. This is normally obtained upon their
receipt (or acquittal) or upon earlier notification that a grant has been secured, and are valued at their fair value at
the date of transfer.
Where grants or contributions recognised as revenues during the financial year were obtained on condition that
they be expended in a particular manner or used over a particular period and those conditions were undischarged
at balance date, the unused grant or contribution is disclosed in note 6. The note also discloses the amount of
unused grant or contribution from prior years that was expended on Council’s operations during the current year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016
Note 1

Significant accounting policies (cont.)

(e) Revenue recognition (cont.)
Contributions
Monetary and non monetary contributions are recognised as revenue when Council obtains control over the
contributed asset.
Sale of property, plant and equipment, infrastructure
The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined when control of the asset has irrevocably passed to the buyer.
Interest
Interest is recognised as it is earned.
Other income
Other income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when
Council gains control over the right to receive the income.

(f) Fair value measurement
Council measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value where required or permitted by AAS. AASB 13 Fair value
measurement, aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a definition of fair value and a
single source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across AAS.
AASB 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value under AASB 13 is an exit price
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within a fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:
Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable.
Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Council has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the
nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.
In addition, Council determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re‐assessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.

(g) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits at call, and other highly liquid investments with original
maturities of 90 days or less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(h) Trade and other receivables
Receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. A provision for doubtful debts is
recognised when there is objective evidence that an impairment has occurred.

(i) Other financial assets
Other financial assets are valued at fair value, being market value, at balance date. Term deposits are measured at
amortised cost. Any unrealised gains and losses on holdings at balance date are recognised as either a revenue or
expense.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016
Note 1

Significant accounting policies (cont.)

(j) Inventories
Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost, adjusted when applicable for any loss of service potential.
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
All other inventories, including land held for sale, are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Where inventories are acquired for no cost or nominal consideration, they are measured at current replacement
cost at the date of acquisition.

(k) Non‐current assets classified as held for sale
A non‐current asset classified as held for sale (including disposal groups) is measured at the lower of its carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell, and are not subject to depreciation. Non‐current assets, disposal groups
and related liabilities and assets are treated as current and classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will
be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met
only when the sale is highly probable and the asset's sale (or disposal group sale) is expected to be completed
within 12 months from the date of classification.

(l) Recognition and measurement of property, infrastructure, intangibles, plant and equipment
Acquisition
The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets, being the fair value of assets provided as
consideration at the date of acquisition plus any incidental costs attributable to the acquisition. Fair value is the
amount for which the asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length
transaction.
Where assets are constructed by Council, cost includes all materials used in construction direct labour, borrowing
costs incurred during construction and an appropriate share of directly attributable variable and fixed overheads.
In accordance with Council's policy, the threshold limits detailed in note 1(p) have applied when recognising assets
within an applicable asset class and unless otherwise stated are consistent with the prior year.
Revaluation
Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, non‐current physical assets, other than plant and equipment, are
measured at their fair value, being the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. At balance date, Council reviewed
the carrying value of the individual classes of assets measured at fair value to ensure that each asset materially
approximated its fair value. Where the carrying value materially differed from the fair value at balance date, the
class of asset was revalued.
Fair value valuations are determined in accordance with a valuation hierarchy. Changes to the valuation hierarchy
will only occur if an external change in the restrictions or limitations of use of an asset result in changes to the
permissible or practical highest and best use of the asset. Further details regarding the fair value hierarchy are
disclosed at note 22: Property, infrastructure and plant and equipment.
In addition, Council undertakes a formal revaluation of land, buildings and infrastructure assets on a regular basis
ranging from two to three years. The valuation is performed either by experienced Council officers or
independent experts.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016
Note 1

Significant accounting policies (cont.)

(l) Recognition and measurement of property, infrastructure, intangibles, plant and equipment (cont.)
Revaluation
Where the assets are revalued, the revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve
except to the extent that an increment reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset that had been
recognised as an expense in which case the increment is recognised as revenue up to the amount of the expense.
Revaluation decrements are recognised as an expense except where prior increments are included in the asset
revaluation reserve for that class of asset in which case the decrement is taken to the reserve to the extent of the
remaining increments. Within the same class of assets, revaluation increments and decrements within the year
are offset.
Land under roads
Land under roads acquired after 30 June 2008 are brought to account using the cost basis. Council does not
recognise land under roads that were controlled prior to that period in its financial report.
Roads received from developers are valued based on the base block value for the area in which they are located.
The base block value is determined by reference to the biennial valuations performed by Council. The rate
determined is applied to the area of the land. The base block value is then discounted by 92.50 per cent to
determine fair value.

(m) Repairs and maintenance
Routine maintenance, repair costs and minor renewal costs are expensed as incurred. Where the repair relates to
the replacement of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation threshold the cost is
capitalised and depreciated. The carrying value of the replaced asset is expensed.

(n) Impairment of assets
At each reporting date, Council reviews the carrying value of its assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset,
being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the assets carrying
value. Any excess of the assets carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the Comprehensive
Income Statement, unless the asset is carried at the revalued amount. In this case,the impairment loss is
recognised directly against the revaluation surplus for the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment
loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that same class of asset.

(o) Trust funds and deposits
Amounts received as deposits and retention amounts controlled by Council are recognised as trust funds until
they are returned, transferred in accordance with the purpose of the receipt or forfeited (refer to note 25).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016
Note 1

Significant accounting policies (cont.)

(p) Depreciation and amortisation of property, infrastructure,intangibles, plant and equipment
Buildings, land improvements, plant and equipment, infrastructure and other assets having limited useful lives are
systematically depreciated over their useful lives to Council in a manner which reflects consumption of the service
potential embodied in those assets. Estimates of remaining useful lives and residual values are made on a regular
basis with major asset classes reassessed annually. Depreciation rates and methods are reviewed annually.
Where assets have separate identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components
are assigned distinct useful lives and residual values and a separate depreciation rate is determined for each
component.
Road earthworks are not depreciated on the basis that they are assessed as not having a limited useful life. Straight
line depreciation is charged based on the residual useful life as determined each year. Depreciation periods used
are listed below and are consistent with the prior year unless otherwise stated.
Asset recognition thresholds and depreciation periods
Property and buildings
Buildings
Land improvements
Plant and equipment
Plant and machinery
Other structures (incl. playground equipment)
Furniture and equipment
Library books
Infrastructure
Sealed road pavement foundation
Sealed road pavement base
Unsealed roads
Kerb and channel
Footpaths
Bridges
Traffic management devices
Carparks
Bicycle paths
Drainage
Intangible assets
Intangible assets

Depreciation period

Threshold limit

40‐60 years
10 years

15,000
1,000

5‐10 years
10 years
5 years
5 years

15,000
1,000
15,000
Nil

No depreciation applied
100 years
20 years
70 years
70 years
70‐100 years
50 years
50 years
20 years
80 years

15,000
15,000
15,000
15,000
15,000
15,000
15,000
15,000
15,000
5,000

3 ‐ 5 years

15,000

19

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016
Note 1
(q)

Significant accounting policies (cont.)
Borrowings
Borrowings are initially measured at fair value, being the cost of the interest bearing liabilities, net of transaction
costs. The measurement basis subsequent to initial recognition depends on whether Council has categorised its
interest‐bearing liabilities as either financial liabilities designated at fair value through the profit and loss, or
financial liabilities at amortised cost. Any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption
value is recognised in net result over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest method.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the interest bearing liabilities. Council determines the
classification of its interest bearing liabilities at initial recognition.
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, except where they are
capitalised as part of a qualifying asset constructed by Council. Except where specific borrowings are obtained for
the purpose of specific asset acquisition, the weighted average interest rate applicable to borrowings at balance
date, excluding borrowings associated with superannuation, is used to determine the borrowing costs to be
capitalised.
Borrowing costs include interest on bank overdrafts, interest on borrowings and finance lease charges.

(r)

Employee costs and benefits
The calculation of employee costs and benefits includes all relevant on‐costs and are calculated as follows at
reporting date.
Wages and salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non‐monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulated sick leave
expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in the provision for employee
benefits in respect of employee services up to the reporting date, classified as current liabilities and measured at
their nominal values.
Liabilities that are not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in the
provision for employee benefits as current liabilities, measured at present value of the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.
Long service leave
Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.
Current liability ‐ unconditional LSL is disclosed as a current liability even when Council does not expect to settle the
liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer settlement of the entitlement
should an employee take leave within 12 months.
The components of this current liability are measured at:
‐ Present value ‐ component that is not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months
‐ Nominal value ‐ component that is expected to be wholly settled within 12 months
Classification of employee costs
Non‐current liability ‐ conditional LSL that has been accrued, where an employee is yet to reach a qualifying term of
employment, is disclosed as a non ‐ current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.
This non‐current LSL liability is measured at present value.
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Note 1
(s)

Significant accounting policies (cont.)
Leases
Operating leases
Lease payments for operating leases are required by the accounting standard to be recognised on a straight line
basis, rather than expensed in the years in which they are incurred.

(t)

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred
is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are
shown inclusive of GST.
Cash flows are presented in the Statement of Cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of investing
and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

(u) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities and commitments
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet, but are disclosed by way of a
note and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of
GST receivable or payable respectively.
Commitments are not recognised in the Balance Sheet. Commitments are disclosed at their nominal value by way of
note and presented inclusive of the GST payable.

(v) Pending accounting standards
Certain new AAS's have been issued that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2016 reporting period. Council has
assessed these pending standards and has identified that no material impact will flow from the application of these
standards in future reporting periods.

(w) Rounding
Unless otherwise stated, amounts in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars.
Figures in the financial statement may not equate due to rounding.
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Note 2. Budget comparison
The budget comparison notes compare Council’s financial plan, expressed through its Annual Budget, with actual
performance. The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 requires explanation of any
material variances. Council has adopted a materiality threshold of 10 per cent where further explanation is
warranted. Explanations have not been provided for variations below the materiality threshold unless the variance
is considered to be material because of its nature.
The budget figures detailed below are those adopted by Council on 25 May 2015. The budget was based on
assumptions that were relevant at the time of adoption of the Budget. Council sets guidelines and parameters for
income and expense targets in this budget in order to meet Council’s planning and financial performance targets
for both the short and long‐term. The Budget did not reflect any changes to equity resulting from asset
revaluations, as their impacts were not considered predictable.
These notes are prepared to meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government
(Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014.

(a) Income and Expenditure

Income
Rates and charges
Statutory fees and fines
User fees
Contributions ‐ Monetary
Contributions ‐ non monetary
Grants ‐ operating
Grants ‐ capital
Other income
Total income
Expenses
Employee costs
Materials and services
Bad and doubtful debts
Depreciation and amortisation
Net loss on disposal of property,infrastructure,
intangibles, plant and equipment
Borrowing costs
Other expenses
Total expenses
Surplus for the year

Consolidated
Budget
2016
$'000

Consolidated
Actual
2016
$'000

107,969
3,427
22,878
953
800
18,506
2,603
2,101
159,237

108,003
5,395
18,142
2,361
6,014
14,801
5,062
4,444
164,222

34
1,968
(4,736)
1,408
5,214
(3,705)
2,459
2,343
4,985

64,278
45,807
916
26,121

63,444
43,344
898
24,880

834
2,463
18
1,241

967
2,122
2,929
143,140
16,097

2,915
1,792
3,287
140,560
23,662

1,948
330
(358)
6,476
(1,491)

13,179
29,276

48,090

(34,911)
(36,402)

Variances
$'000

% Notes
0%
57%
(21%)
148%
652%
(20%)
94%
112%

1%
6%
2%
5%
201%
16%
(16%)

Other comprehensive income

Net asset revaluation increment
Total comprehensive result

71,752

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
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Note 2.
(i)

Budget comparison (cont.)
Explanation of material variations

Variance Item
Ref

Explanation

1.

Statutory fees and fines has a favourable actual to budget variance of $1.97m mainly due to the
reclassification of $1.48m of income from user fees together with a $0.52m increase in parking
infringements issued.

2.

User fees has an unfavourable actual to budget variance of $4.74m primarily due to the
underperformance of the Frankston Regional Recycling and Recovery Centre. The trading at the centre
was impacted by the Council decision to maintain a blanket hard rubbish collection and the lack of
custom from clients outside of the municipality which led to a $2.67m income deficit from budget. In
addition, the reclassification of income to other income categories has resulted in a $2.26m negative
effect.

3.

Contributions ‐ monetary has a favourable actual to budget variance of $0.75m mainly due to an
increase in contributions received from local organisations towards our capital works projects.

4

Contributions ‐ non‐monetary has a favourable actual to budget variance of $5.21m as a result of an
increase in the gifted land, roads and drainage received from subdivisions within the municipality. In
particular we received a large parcel of gifted land at the Stringybark Bush Reserve that contributed a
value of $2.59m.
Grants ‐ operating (recurrent) has a unfavourable actual to budget variance of $3.70m mainly due to
the receipt of $3.80m early from the Victorian Grants Commission in 2014‐2015.

5.

6.

Grants ‐ capital (non‐recurrent) has a favourable variance of $2.46m as a result of the early receipt of
grant funding for capital works projects commencing in 2016‐2017.

7.

Net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, intangibles, plant and equipment has an unfavourable
actual to budget variance of $3.88m mainly due to the continued review of the infrastructure registers
which has resulted in a $3.04m write‐off of recreation assets.
Other income has a favourable actual to budget variance of $2.34m mainly due to higher than
anticipated café and merchandise sales at Peninsula Leisure Services Pty Ltd.

8.

9.

Borrowing costs has a favourable actual to budget variance of $0.33m as a result of lower interest
rates being offered for new loan borrowings relating to the purchase of the Frankston Regional
Recycling and Recovery Centre.

10.

Other expenses has an unfavourable actual to budget variance of $1.39m mainly due to the
reclassification of $1.80m from materials and services to other expenses.
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Note 2. Budget comparison (cont.)
(b) Capital Works
Budget
2016
$'000

Actual
2016
$'000

Land
Buildings
Building improvements

7,354
17,096
539

5,349
14,448
814

2,005
2,648
(275)

Total Property

24,989

20,611

4,378

2,646
65
2,149
600
5,460

2,358
943
1,029
566
4,896

288
11%
(878) (1351%)
1,120
52%
34
6%
564

Roads
Bridges
Footpaths and cycleways
Drainage
Recreational, leisure and community facilities
Waste management
Parks, open space and streetscapes
Off street car parks
Other infrastructure
Total infrastructure

5,283
1,295
2,887
803
3,036
150
5,525
1,863
60
20,902

4,333
1,142
1,853
550
3,878
3,090
8,948
1,865
99
25,758

950
18%
153
12%
1,034
36%
253
32%
(842)
(28%)
(2,940) (1960%)
(3,423)
(62%)
(2)
(0%)
(39) (100%)
(4,856)

Total capital works expenditure

51,351

51,265

20,450
22,551
2,816
5,534
51,351

22,355
20,835
852
7,223
51,265

Variances
$'000

% Notes

Property

Plant and equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment
Fixtures, fittings and furniture
Computers and telecommunications
Library books
Total plant and equipment

27%
15%
(51%)

1.
2.
3.

4.
5.

Infrastructure
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.

86

Represented by:
New asset expenditure
Asset renewal expenditure
Asset expansion expenditure
Asset upgrade expenditure
Total capital works expenditure

(1,905)
1,716
1,964
(1,689)
86

(9%)
8%
(100%)
(31%)
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Note 2.
(i)

Budget comparison (cont.)
Explanation of material variations

Variance Item
Ref

Explanation

1.

Land budget to actual is underspent mainly due to the deposit for the purchase of the Frankston
Regional Recycling and Recovery Centre occurring in a previous financial year.

2.

The buildings budget was adjusted down by $2.40m at the mid‐year budget review due to the
postponement of the Civic Centre redevelopment project and the decision to stage the Carrum Downs
new pavilion in line with funding expectations.

3.

Building improvements budget to actual overspend of $0.28m is due to the carry forward of the
Seaford Community Centre Library project which commenced in 2014‐2015.

4

There were a number of furniture, fittings and fixtures projects commenced in 2014‐2015 that were
carried forward to 2015‐2016 which led to the overspend of $0.88m compared to the budget.

5.

Computers and telecommunications budget to actual underspend $1.12m mainly due to the
reclassification of some expenditure from capital to operations and a $0.90m carry forward to 2016‐
2017.
Roads budget to actual is $0.95m underspent mainly due to savings and a carry forward for one
project which is nearing completion.

6.
7.

Bridges budget to actual is $0.15m underspent as a result of carry forward of projects with designs
and construction in progress.

8.

Drainage budget to actual is underspent by $0.25m mainly due to $0.17m transferred to operations as
deemed not capital in nature. Funds are also being carried forward to 2016‐2017 for finalising works
in progress.

9.

Waste management budget to actual overspend of $2.94m mainly due to the reclassification of part
of the purchase price of the Frankston Regional Recycling and Recovery Centre.

10.

Parks, open space and streetscapes budget to actual is overspent by $3.42m as a result of the budget
being increased to $10.67m at the mid‐year budget review which included carry forward from the
2014‐2015 financial year. There are also funds carried forward to 2016‐2017 to complete works in
progress.

11.

New assets expenditure budget to actual overspend of $1.90m mainly due to the carry forward of
multi year projects from 2014‐2015 such as the Frankston Yacht Club, the War Memorial, a
playground at Jubilee Park and the new pavilion at Carrum Downs.

12.

Asset renewal expenditure budget to actual under spend of $1.70m mainly due to the carry forward
of works in progress projects into financial year 2016‐2017.

13.

Asset expansion expenditure budget to actual underspent due to reclassification of the Jubilee Park
redevelopment from all expansion to include a renewal and upgrade componant.

14.

Asset upgrade expenditure budget to actual over spend of $1.69m due to the budget at the mid‐year
budget review was increased with carry forward projects from the previous financial year.

25

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016
2016
$'000

Note 3

2015
$'000

Rates and charges
Council uses capital improved value as the basis of valuation of all properties within the municipal district. The
capital improved value of a property is its site value plus the value of any structures on the property (excluding
goods and chattels).
The valuation base used to calculate general rates for 2015‐2016 was $24,349m (2014‐2015 $24,115 m). The 2015‐
2016 rate in the capital improved value dollar was 0.3118 (2014‐2015 0.2955).
The municipal charge is levied at the rate of $148.85 (2014‐2015 $141.10) per rateable property.
General rates
Residential
Commercial
Industrial
Rural/farm
Waste management charge
Municipal charge
Supplementary rates and rate adjustments
Special rates and charges
Total rates and charges

63,086
7,834
4,900
2,355
20,053
9,043
732
‐
108,003

59,587
7,420
4,438
2,146
18,699
8,475
661
(45)
101,381

The date of the latest general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the municipal district was 1 January
2014, and the valuation was first applied in the rating year commencing 1 July 2014.
Valuations were prepared by registered valuers Patel Dore Pty Ltd under contract to Council.

Note 4

Statutory fees and fines
Infringements and costs
Permits
Building and town planning fees
Court recoveries
Land information certificates
Total statutory fees and fines

2,667
1,633
622
358
115
5,395

2,736
1,536
607
103
125
5,107
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Note 5

2015
$'000

9,769
2,331
1,670
1,127
912
612
395
318
317
302
178
137
74
18,142

6,836
2,087
1,378
181
903
593
473
284
311
735
245
109
354
14,489

8,319
11,544
19,863

18,745
11,713
30,458

User fees
Recreation and leisure fees
Frankston Arts Centre
Parking fees
Waste management
Aged and disability services fees
Other fees and charges
Child care/children's program fees
Registrations and other permits
Building permits and other charges
Transportation and developments
Library fees and fines
Events and festivals
Valuation fees/supplementary charges
Total user fees

Note 6

2016
$'000

Grants
Grants were received in respect of the following:
Summary of grants
Commonwealth funded grants
State funded grants
Total grant funding received
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Note 6

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

4,207
698
204
20
‐
‐

13,013
624
190
43
1,132
(8)

4,312
364
226
106
24
1,264
850
422
244
117
81
75
48
13,262

4,165
358
222
105
24
1,541
830
390
240
102
34
78
93
23,176

327
318
79
15
‐

‐
200
25
‐
4

282
196
151
151
11
8
1
1,539
14,801

‐
282
34
120
‐
12
80
757
23,933

Grants (cont.)

(a) Operating Grants
Recurrent ‐ Commonwealth Government
Victoria Grants Commission
Childcare centre
Home care
Immunisation
Family day care
Out of school hours programs

Recurrent ‐ State Government
Aged and disability
‐ Home care
‐ Home maintenance
‐ Meals on wheels
‐ Social support
‐ Senior citizens
Maternal and child health
Library
Community support
School crossing supervision
Immunisation
Community safety
Childcare centre
Recreation
Total recurrent operating grants

Non‐recurrent ‐ Commonwealth Government
Victoria Grants Commission ‐ natural disaster
Family day care
Community arts
Home care
Other

Non‐recurrent ‐ State Government
Maternal and child health
Community support
Recreation
Youth
Community arts
Community safety
Environment
Total non‐recurrent operating grants
Total operating grants
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Note 6

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

1,571
1,571

628
628

Non‐recurrent ‐ Commonwealth Government
Buildings
Parks, open space and streetscapes
Fixtures, fittings and furniture
Recreational, leisure and community facilities

688
118
74
‐

2,433
‐
249
212

Non‐recurrent ‐ State Government
Buildings
Recreational, leisure and community facilities
Bridges
Parks, open space and streetscapes
Roads
Footpaths and cycleways
Total non‐recurrent capital grants
Total capital grants

1,719
639
120
90
43
‐
3,491
5,062

1,874
332
‐
752
‐
45
5,897
6,525

7,240
2,806
(6,091)
3,955

4,398
6,112
(3,270)
7,240

2,361
6,014
8,375

1,287
1,032
2,319

1,701
660
2,361

856
431
1,287

Grants (cont.)

(b) Capital grants
Recurrent ‐ Commonwealth Government
Roads to recovery
Total recurrent capital grants

Conditions on grants
Balance at start of year
Received during the financial year and remained unspent at balance date
Received in prior year and spent during the financial year
Balance at year end

Note 7

Contributions
Monetary
Non‐monetary

Total contributions
(a) Capital ‐ cash
Public open space
Local organisations
Total capital contributions

Public open space fees received during the year are transferred to other reserves pursuant to section 18 of the
Subdivision Act 1988 (public open space reserve). Refer to note 28 (b).
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Note 7

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

Contributions of non monetary assets were received in relation to the following asset classes:
Land
3,212
Roads
1,414
Drainage
1,075
Land under roads
311
Other
2
Total non‐monetary contributions
6,014

357
517
158
‐
‐
1,032

Contributions (cont.)

(b) Non‐monetary contributions

Note 8

Other income
Interest
‐ Interest received on investments
‐ Rate interest
‐ Interest received on special charge debtors
Sales
Other rent
Reimbursements
Sundry income
Total other income

Note 9

1,136
513
23
1,315
1,074
113
270
4,444

1,036
635
21
1,130
895
234
179
4,130

49,499
5,550
5,111
1,264
1,086
647
159
128
63,444

49,261
3,752
4,886
1,267
1,792
563
163
144
61,828

1,223

961

Employee costs

(a) Employee costs
Salaries and wages
Casual and agency staff
Superannuation
Workcover
Long service leave
Redundancies
Fringe benefits tax
Other
Total employee costs
Capitalised salaries
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Note 9

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

314
314

416
416

‐

‐

4,326
471
4,797

4,152
318
4,470

998

477

Employee costs (cont.)

(b) Superannuation
Council made contributions to the following funds:
Defined benefit fund
Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision
Super)
Employer contributions payable at reporting date
Accumulation funds
Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision
Super)
Employer contributions to Hostplus
Employer contributions payable at reporting date

Please refer to note 33 for further information relating to Council's superannuation obligations

Note 10 Materials and services
Contract services
Materials
Building maintenance
Utilities
Information technology
Plant and equipment
Consultants
Office administration
Marketing and promotion
Insurance and fire services levy
Finance and legal
Cost of goods sold
General maintenance
Total materials and services

21,852
4,232
3,510
3,396
2,410
1,921
1,329
1,126
1,002
975
799
529
263
43,344

21,278
4,282
2,376
3,515
2,358
1,902
1,652
1,144
714
990
1,748
431
337
42,727

11,748
8,919
3,391
24,058
822
24,880

11,850
8,171
4,291
24,312
12
24,324

Note 11 Depreciation
Infrastructure
Property
Plant and equipment
Total depreciation
Intangible assets
Total depreciation and amortisation

Please refer to note 22 and note 23 for a more detailed breakdown of depreciation and amortisation charges
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2016
$'000

2015
$'000

‐
‐

9,000
9,000

Note 12 Other expenses
(a) Legal settlement
Legal settlement
Total legal settlement

Council had settled a legal case with the City of Casey on remediation costs of the former Cranbourne landfill site in Stevenson's
Road. The settlement was completed on 19 November 2014. Council has now been released from any future obligations
regarding this matter.

(b) Other expenditure
Grants and contributions
Training and professional development
Operating lease rentals
Court lodgement fees
Councillors' allowances and expenses
Internal auditor remuneration
Director fees and expenses
Auditors' remuneration ‐ VAGO ‐ audit of the financial statements,
performance statement and grant acquittals
Board costs
Total other expenses

990
565
507
366
351
175
162

691
551
505
195
355
101
85

98
73
3,287

93
245
2,821

Note 13 Net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, intangibles, plant and equipment
(a) Plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale
Written down value of assets sold
Total net gain on disposal of plant and equipment

917
(847)
70

857
(425)
432

(3,038)
(3,038)

(740)
(740)

1,235
(283)
(714)
238

701
(1,899)
‐
(1,198)

(b) Property and infrastructure
Infrastructure
Written down value of assets disposed
Total net loss on disposal of infrastructure
Land and buildings
Proceeds from sale
Written down value of assets sold
Written down value of assets disposed
Total net gain on disposal of land and buildings

(c)

Intangibles
Written down value of assets disposed
Total net loss on disposal of intangibles
Total net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, intangibles, plant and
equipment

(185)
(185)

‐
‐

(2,915)

(1,506)
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2016
$'000

2015
$'000

1,792
1,792

1,545
1,545

614
284
898

718
163
881

29,397
3,279
19
32,695

33,568
6,951
19
40,538

Note 14 Borrowing costs
Interest ‐ borrowings
Total borrowing costs

Note 15 Bad and doubtful debts
Parking fine debtors
Other debtors
Total bad and doubtful debts

Note 16 Cash and cash equivalents
Term deposits
Cash at bank
Cash on hand
Total cash and cash equivalents

Council's cash and cash equivalents are subject to external restrictions that limit amounts available for
discretionary use. These include:
‐ Trust funds and deposits (note 25)
5,277
Total restricted funds
5,277
Total unrestricted funds
27,418

5,374
5,374
35,164

Intended allocations
Although not externally restricted the following amounts have been allocated for specific future purposes by
Council:
‐ MAV LGFV Fund (note 28b)
11,665
‐
‐ Strategic asset reserve (note 28b)
10,000
1,630
‐ Cash held to carried forward capital works
5,455
10,100
‐ Unexpended grants (note 28b)
3,961
7,240
‐ Statutory reserves (note 28b)
3,773
4,082
‐ Capital project reserve (note 28b)
1,482
2,519
‐ PARC asset management plan reserve (note 28b)
640
‐
‐ PARC strategic reserve (note 28b)
240
‐
‐ Resource efficiency reserve (note 28b)
67
78
Total funds subject to intended allocations
37,283
25,649
Please refer also to note 18 for details of other financial assets held by Council.
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2016
$'000

2015
$'000

8,351
4,228
(103)
2,277
(1,539)
146
13,360

7,083
6,047
(75)
2,046
(1,183)
146
14,064

Note 17 Trade and other receivables
Current
Ratepayer debtors
Other debtors
Provision for doubtful debts ‐ other debtors
Infringement debtors
Provision for doubtful debts ‐ infringements
Special rate scheme
Total current trade and other receivables

Non‐current
Special rate scheme
Total non‐current trade and other receivables

184
184

459
459

(a) Ageing of Receivables
At balance date other debtors representing financial assets were past due but not impaired. These amounts relate
to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing of the Council's
trade & other receivables (excluding statutory receivables) was:
Current (not yet due)
Past due by up to 30 days
Past due between 31 and 180 days
Total trade and other receivables

3,612
207
409
4,228

5,147
581
319
6,047

(1,258)
(854)
470
‐
(1,642)

(381)
(932)
50
5
(1,258)

(b) Movement in provisions for doubtful debts
Balance at the beginning of the year
New provisions recognised during the year
Amounts already provided for and written off as uncollectible
Amounts provided for but recovered during the year
Balance at end of year
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2016
$'000

2015
$'000

Note 18 Other financial assets
Term deposit ‐ (maturing > three months)
Total financial assets

22,982
22,982

13,957
13,957

113
84
197

156
35
191

72
72

751
751

383
375
5
763

660
232
5
897

Note 19 Inventories
Inventories held for distribution
Inventories held for sale
Total inventories

Note 20 Non current assets classified as held for sale
Cost of acquisition
Total non current assets classified as held for sale

Note 21 Other assets
Prepayments
Accrual Income
Other
Total other assets
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Note 22 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
Summary of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
At Fair Value 30 Accumulated
June 2016

Land
Buildings
Infrastructure
Plant and Equipment
Work in progress

WDV 30 June
2016

At Fair Value 30
June 2015

Accumulated

WDV 30 June
2015

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

587,855
307,640
857,032
22,783
17,089
1,792,399

(14,477)
(112,375)
(342,987)
(13,198)
‐
(483,037)

573,378
195,265
514,045
9,585
17,089
1,309,362

537,675
269,461
835,141
25,857
13,964
1,682,098

(13,372)
(97,997)
(329,176)
(13,103)
‐
(453,648)

524,303
171,464
505,965
12,754
13,964
1,228,450

Additions
$'000

Transfers
$'000

Write offs
$'000

‐
(5,375)
‐
‐
(5,375)

(24)
(1,483)
(430)
(478)
(2,415)

Summary of Work in Progress
Opening WIP
$'000
Land
Buildings
Infrastructure
Plant and equipment
Total

1,489
10,436
1,584
455
13,964

942
9,659
314
10,915

Closing WIP
$'000
2,407
3,578
10,813
291
17,089
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Note 22 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)
Land and buildings

At fair value 1 July 2015
Accumulated depreciation 1 July 2015
Movements in fair value
Acquisition of assets at fair value
Revaluation increments/decrements
Fair value of assets disposed
Transfers
Movements in accumulated depreciation
Depreciation and amortisation
Revaluation increments/decrements
Accumulated depreciation of disposals
Transfers
At fair value 30 June 2016
Accumulated depreciation 30 June 2016

Land ‐
specialised

Land ‐ non Land under
Land
specialised
roads improvements

Work in
progress

Total land

Buildings ‐
specialised

Buildings‐
non
specialised

Work in
progress

Total
buildings

Total
property

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

446,941
‐
446,941

60,996
‐
60,996

3,122
‐
3,122

26,617
(13,372)
13,245

1,489
‐
1,489

539,165
(13,372)
525,793

17,406
(10,073)
7,333

252,055
(87,925)
164,130

10,436
‐
10,436

279,897
(97,998)
181,899

819,062
(111,370)
707,692

311
‐
‐
‐
311

748
‐
(2,022)
245
(1,029)

918
‐
‐
‐
918

11,542
41,405
(2,670)
820
51,097

15,358
3,709
(349)
183
18,901

6,730
12,572
(301)
277
19,278

(6,858)
‐
‐
‐
(6,858)

15,230
16,281
(650)
460
31,321

26,772
57,686
(3,320)
1,280
82,418

6,353
41,225
(624)
47,837
94,791

3,212
180
(24)
(47,262)
(43,894)

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

(2,357)
‐
1,308
(56)
(1,105)

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

(2,357)
‐
1,308
(56)
(1,105)

(502)
(845)
257
(305)
(1,395)

(6,060)
(7,628)
760
(54)
(12,982)

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

(6,562)
(8,473)
1,017
(359)
(14,377)

(8,919)
(8,473)
2,325
(415)
(15,482)

541,732
‐
541,732

17,102
‐
17,102

3,433
‐
3,433

25,588
(14,477)
11,111

2,407
‐
2,407

590,262
(14,477)
575,785

36,307
(11,468)
24,839

271,333
(100,907)
170,426

3,578
‐
3,578

311,218
(112,375)
198,843

901,480
(126,852)
774,628
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Note 22 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)
Roads
Infrastructure

At fair value 1 July 2015
Accumulated depreciation 1 July 2015
Movements in fair value
Acquisition of assets at cost
Revaluation increments/decrements
Fair value of assets disposed
Found assets*
Transfers
Movements in accumulated depreciation
Depreciation and amortisation
Revaluation increments/decrements
Accumulated depreciation of disposals
Found assets*
Transfers
At fair value 30 June 2016
Accumulated depreciation 30 June 2016

Bridges Footpaths and
cycleways

Drainage Recreational,
Other
Waste Off street car
leisure and Management
parks Infrastructure
community
$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

442,030
(160,929)
281,101

19,855
(6,975)
12,880

68,317
(28,885)
39,432

4,427
(923)
‐
‐
‐
3,504

‐
551
(539)
‐
836
848

1,751
(982)
‐
‐
‐
769

1,891
6,174
‐
‐
‐
8,065

(5,683)
473
‐
‐
‐
(5,210)

(387)
(69)
374
(75)
‐
(157)

(135)
29
‐
‐
‐
(106)

(3,271)
(2,672)
‐
‐
‐
(5,943)

(990)
‐
378
‐
(11)
(623)

445,534
(166,139)
279,395

20,703
(7,132)
13,571

69,086
(28,991)
40,095

261,722
(113,817)
147,905

12,978
(5,467)
7,511

253,657
(107,874)
145,783

Work in
Total
progress Infrastructure
$'000

$'000

12,551
(4,844)
7,707

‐
‐
‐

30,583
(17,377)
13,206

8,148
(2,292)
5,856

1,584
‐
1,584

836,725
(329,176)
507,549

2,859
‐
(2,147)
‐
(285)
427

2,950
‐
‐
‐
‐
2,950

1,690
(1,144)
(113)
93
‐
526

148
(7,491)
(1,575)
13,720
‐
4,802

9,229
‐
‐
‐
‐
9,229

24,945
(3,815)
(4,374)
13,813
551
31,120

(197)
‐
‐
‐
‐
(197)

(787)
2,481
96
(38)
‐
1,752

(298)
2,451
488
(5,967)
‐
(3,326)

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

(11,748)
2,693
1,336
(6,080)
‐
(13,799)

2,950
(197)
2,753

31,109
(15,625)
15,484

12,950
(5,618)
7,332

10,813
‐
10,813

867,845
(342,986)
524,859

* Under Council’s program of rolling revaluations, the other infrastructure asset class was formally revalued for current year valuations. This entailed a complete review of data, valuation rates, asset useful and remaining lives. These detailed reviews
have resulted in a significant improvement in the quality of Council’s asset records. The category affected by this revaluation is traffic devices.
During the review Council has found other infrastructure assets aggregating $7.75m. Management is comfortable with the data that has been recognised and the accounting treatment applied. Council is half way through the project and it is our
expectation that there will be further assets found of immaterial value that will come to light over the next two years.
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Note 22 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)
Plant and equipment

At fair value 1 July 2015
Accumulated depreciation 1 July 2015
Movements in fair value
Acquisition of assets at cost
Fair value of assets disposed
Transfers
Movements in accumulated depreciation
Depreciation and amortisation
Accumulated depreciation of disposals
Transfers
At fair value 30 June 2016
Accumulated depreciation 30 June 2016

Plant
machinery
and
equipment
$'000

Fixtures
fittings and
furniture

Computers
and
telecomms

Library
books

Work in
progress

Total plant
and
equipment

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

12,891
(7,209)
5,682

9,663
(4,235)
5,428

‐
‐
‐

3,303
(1,659)
1,644

455
‐
455

26,312
(13,103)
13,209

2,803
(2,633)
2,448
2,618

103
‐
(9,421)
(9,318)

395
‐
2,665
3,060

566
‐
‐
566

(164)
‐
‐
(164)

3,703
(2,633)
(4,308)
(3,238)

(2,207)
1,786
(1,233)
(1,654)

(24)
‐
4,104
4,080

(509)
‐
(1,361)
(1,870)

(651)
‐
‐
(651)

‐
‐
‐
‐

(3,391)
1,786
1,510
(95)

15,509
(8,863)
6,646

345
(155)
190

3,060
(1,870)
1,190

3,869
(2,310)
1,559

291
‐
291

23,074
(13,198)
9,876
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Note 22 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)
Valuation of land and buildings
Valuation of land and buildings were undertaken by a qualified independent valuer Darren Hale AAPI of Patel
Dore Pty Ltd. The valuation of land and buildings is at fair value, being market value based on highest and best
use permitted by relevant land planning provisions. Where land use is restricted through existing planning
provisions the valuation is reduced to reflect this limitation. This adjustment is an unobservable input in the
valuation. The adjustment has no impact on the Comprehensive Income Statement.
Specialised land is valued at fair value using site values adjusted for englobo (undeveloped and/or unserviced)
characteristics, access rights and private interests of other parties and entitlements of infrastructure assets and
services. This adjustment is an unobservable input in the valuation. The adjustment has no impact on the
Comprehensive Income Statement.
Any significant movements in the unobservable inputs for land and land under roads will have a significant
impact on the fair value of these assets.
Details of the Council’s land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2016 are
as follows:

Land – non specialised
Land – specialised
Land held for re‐sale
Land under roads
Land improvements
Buildings – non specialised
Buildings – specialised
Total

Level 1
$'000

Level 2
$'000

Level 3
$'000

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

17,102
‐
‐
‐
‐
170,426
‐
187,528

‐
541,732
72
3,433
11,111
‐
24,839
581,187

Valuation of infrastructure
Valuation of infrastructure assets has been determined in accordance with an independent valuation
undertaken by Andrew Bainbridge Bachelor of Engineering (Civil).The valuation is at fair value based on
replacement cost less accumulated depreciation as at the date of valuation.
Details of the Council’s infrastructure and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2016 are as
follows:

Roads
Bridges
Footpaths and cycleways
Drainage
Recreational, leisure and community facilities
Waste management
Off Street Carparks
Other infrastructure
Total

Level 1
$'000

Level 2
$'000

Level 3
$'000

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

279,395
13,571
40,095
147,905
7,511
2,753
15,484
7,332
514,046
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Note 22 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)
Description of significant unobservable inputs into level 3 valuations
Specialised land and land under roads is valued using a market based direct comparison technique. Significant
unobservable inputs include the extent and impact of restriction of use and the market cost of land per square
metre. The extent and impact of restrictions on use varies and results in a reduction to surrounding land values
between 5% and 95%. The market value of land varies significantly depending on the location of the land and the
current market conditions. Currently land values range between $80 and $3,250 per square metre.
Specialised buildings are valued using a depreciated replacement cost technique. Significant unobservable inputs
include the current replacement cost and remaining useful lives of buildings. Current replacement costs is
calculated on a square metre basis and ranges from $185 to $9,000 per square metre. The remaining useful lives
of buildings are determined on the basis of the current condition of buildings and vary from 2 years to 94 years.
Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market conditions, with any increase or decrease in cost flowing
through to the valuation. Useful lives of buildings are sensitive to changes in expectations or requirements that
could either shorten or extend the useful lives of buildings.
Infrastructure assets are valued based on the depreciated replacement cost. Significant unobservable inputs
include the current replacement cost and remaining useful lives of infrastructure. The remaining useful lives of
infrastructure assets are determined on the basis of the current condition of the asset and vary from 2 years to
100 years. Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market conditions, with any increase or decrease in cost
flowing through to the valuation. Useful lives of infrastructure are sensitive to changes in use, expectations or
requirements that could either shorten or extend the useful lives of infrastructure assets.

2016
$'000

2015
$'000

541,732
3,433
545,165

446,941
3,122
450,063

Reconciliation of specialised land
Land
Land under roads
Total specialised land

Note 23 Intangible assets
Software
At cost
Less accumulated amortisation
Gross carrying amount
Balance at 1 July
Acquisitions
Disposals
Transfers
Balance at 30 June 2016
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 July
Amortisation expense
Disposals
Transfers
Balance at 30 June
Net book value 30 June

4,531
(1,801)
2,730

35
(12)
23

35
808
(660)
4,349
4,532

35
‐
‐
‐
35

12
822
(475)
1,443
1,802
2,730

‐
12
‐
12
23
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2016
$'000

2015
$'000

11,275
2,173
187
13,635

13,533
3,681
165
17,379

2,019
1,963
993
112
190
5,277

2,002
1,377
1,803
109
83
5,374

Note 24 Trade and other payables
Trade payables
Accrued expenses
Net GST payable
Total trade and other payables

Note 25 Trust funds and deposits
Refundable deposits and bonds
Prepaid income
Fire Services Levy
Unclaimed moneys
Trust deposits
Total trust funds and deposits

Nature and purpose of items
Deposits ‐ Deposits are taken by Council as a form of surety in a number of circumstances, including for building
works, tender deposits, contract deposits and the use of Council facilities.
Fire Services Levy ‐ Council is the collection agent for the Fire Services Levy on behalf of the Victorian Government.
Council remits amounts received on a quarterly basis. Amounts disclosed here will be remitted to the Victorian
Governmentt in line with that process.

Note 26 Provisions

$'000

Long service
leave
$'000

3,969
3,779
(3,778)
3,970

8,921
406
(603)
8,724

147
2
(2)
147

13,037
4,187
(4,383)
12,841

3,961
3,900
(3,892)
3,969

8,245
1,754
(1,078)
8,921

152
3
(8)
147

12,358
5,657
(4,978)
13,037

Annual leave

Gratuity

Total

$'000

$'000

2016
Balance at beginning of financial year
Additional provisions
Amounts used
Balance at the end of the financial year

2015
Balance at beginning of financial year
Additional provisions
Amounts used
Balance at the end of the financial year
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2016
$'000

2015
$'000

3,772
1,046
4
4,822

3,175
2,905
28
6,108

198
5,930
143
6,271
11,093

795
4,357
118
5,270
11,378

1,748
1,748

1,659
1,659

11,093
1,748
12,841

11,378
1,659
13,037

1,336
1,336

8,812
8,812

35,864
35,864
37,200

21,658
21,658
30,470

Note 26 Provisions (cont.)
(a) Current provisions expected to be wholly settled within 12 months
Annual leave
Long service leave
Gratuity

Current provisions expected to be wholly settled after 12 months
Annual leave
Long service leave
Gratuity
Total current employee provisions

(b) Non‐current
Long service leave
Total non‐current employee provisions
Aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions:
Current
Non‐current
Total aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions:

Note 27 Interest‐bearing loans and borrowings
Current
Borrowings ‐ secured
Total current

Non‐current
Borrowings ‐ secured
Total non‐current
Total interest‐bearing loans and borrowings

Borrowings are secured over the general rate of Council as per section 141 of the Local Government Act 1989

(a) The maturity profile for Council's borrowings is:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years
Aggregate carrying amount of interest‐bearing loans and borrowings:
Current
Non‐current

1,336
3,365
32,499
37,200

8,812
3,787
17,871
30,470

1,336
35,864
37,200

8,812
21,658
30,470
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Note 28 Reserves
(a) Asset revaluation reserves
Balance at
beginning of
reporting
period
$'000

Increment
(decrement)

Balance at end
of reporting
period

$'000

$'000

425,895
49,919
614
476,428

41,405
7,808
‐
49,213

467,300
57,727
614
525,641

78,566
59,242
137,808
614,236

3,502
(4,625)
(1,123)
48,090

82,068
54,617
136,685
662,326

2016
Property
Land revaluation
Building revaluation
Plant and machinery revaluation

Infrastructure
Drainage revaluation
Roads revaluation
Total asset revaluation reserves

2015
Property
Land revaluation
Building revaluation
Plant and machinery revaluation

425,895
49,919
614
476,428

‐
‐
‐
‐

425,895
49,919
614
476,428

Infrastructure
Drainage revaluation
Roads revaluation
Total asset revaluation reserves

82,598
63,438
146,036
622,464

(4,032)
(4,196)
(8,228)
(8,228)

78,566
59,242
137,808
614,236

Nature and purpose of reserves
Asset revaluation reserves have been established and account for the increment in the carrying cost of each fixed
asset class following their revaluation.
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Note 28 Reserves (cont.)
(b) Other reserves
Balance at
beginning of
reporting
period
$'000

Transfer from
accumulated
surplus

Transfer to
accumulated
surplus

Balance at end
of reporting
period

$'000

$'000

$'000

3,865
133
74
10
4,082

1,701
‐
‐
‐
1,701

(2,010)
‐
‐
‐
(2,010)

3,556
133
74
10
3,773

‐
1,630
7,240
2,519
‐
‐
78
11,467
15,549

11,665
8,945
2,872
913
640
240
1
25,276
26,977

‐
(575)
(6,151)
(1,950)
‐
‐
(12)
(8,688)
(10,698)

11,665
10,000
3,961
1,482
640
240
67
28,055
31,828

4,676
133
74
10
4,893

856
‐
‐
‐
856

(1,667)
‐
‐
‐
(1,667)

3,865
133
74
10
4,082

10,500
4,398
928
97
15,923
20,816

2,446
6,112
702
22
9,282
10,138

(10,427)
(3,270)
‐
(41)
(13,738)
(15,405)

2,519
7,240
1,630
78
11,467
15,549

2016
Statutory
Public resort and recreation
Subdivision roadworks
Infrastructure assets
Carparking
Total statutory reserves

Discretionary
MAV LGFV Fund
Strategic asset reserve
Unexpended grant reserve
Capital projects reserve
PARC asset management plan reserve
PARC strategic reserve
Resource efficiency reserve
Total discretionary reserves
Total other reserves

2015
Statutory
Public resort and recreation
Subdivision roadworks
Infrastructure assets
Carparking
Total statutory reserves

Discretionary
Capital projects reserve
Unexpended grant reserve
Strategic asset reserve
Resource efficiency reserve
Total discretionary reserves
Total other reserves
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2016
$'000

2015
$'000

Note 28 Reserves (cont.)
Nature and purpose of reserves
Statutory reserves have been established to record revenues received from developers that are to be applied
specifically to undertaking future capital works for carparking, public open space and recreation, subdivision
roadworks and community infrastructure.
Strategic asset reserve has been established by Council a to fund works considered by Council to be of a strategic
nature.
Unexpended grant reserve has been established by Council to quarantine unexpended grant funding.
Resource efficiency reserves has been established by Council to reinvest savings from energy costs in further works
to minimise energy consumption.
Capital projects reserve has been established to quarantine specific purpose funding for the delivery of capital
projects.
MAV LGFV Fund has been established to provide for the $15.542 million principal repayment required on the
maturity of the interest‐only Local Government Funding Vehicle in 2025‐2026.

Note 29 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus
Surplus for the year
Items not involving cash
Depreciation
Net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, intangibles, plant and
equipment
Borrowing costs
Contributions ‐ non‐monetary assets
Change in assets and liabilities:
Decrease in receivable
Decrease in other operating assets
(Increase)/decrease in inventory
Decrease in payables
Decrease/(increase) in provisions
Decrease/(increase) in other liabilities
Net Cash provided by operating activities

23,662

13,252

24,880

24,324

2,915
1,792
(6,014)

1,506
1,545
(1,032)

979
134
(12)
(3,744)
(196)
(97)
44,299

5,872
301
80
(766)
680
715
46,477

2,500
45
2,545

2,500
45
2,545

37,200
37,200

30,470
30,470

Note 30 Financing arrangements
Bank overdraft
Credit card facilities
Total unused facilities
Interest‐bearing loans and borrowings – secured
Used facilities
Council has a bank overdraft facility secured over rates with the Commonwealth Bank.
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Note 31 Commitments
Council has entered into the following commitments

2016 Not later than
1 year

$'000

1 year and
not later
than
2 years
$'000

Operating
Recycling and waste collection
Street lighting (public lighting)
Council building maintenance
Copier
Other
Utilities
Tree maintenance
Total

5,334
1,056
873
250
445
778
93
8,829

6,257
‐
‐
83
77
685
‐
7,102

2,227
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
2,227

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

13,818
1,056
873
333
522
1,463
93
18,158

Capital
Buildings
Infrastructure
Total

1,659
3,797
5,456

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

1,659
3,797
5,456

2015 Not later than
1 year

2 years and
not later
than
5 years
$'000

Later than 5
years

$'000

1 year and
not later
than
2 years
$'000

6,787
2,614
2,810
1,056
923
250
219
109
14,768

11,058
5,228
3,286
‐
‐
333
‐
‐
19,905

4,978
2,614
414
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
8,006

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Operating
Recycling and waste collection
Council building maintenance
Other
Street lighting (public lighting)
Utilities
Copier
Tree maintenance
Tree planting
Total

2 years and
not later
than
5 years
$'000

Later than 5
years

Total

$'000

Total

$'000
22,823
10,456
6,510
1,056
923
583
219
109
42,679

Note 32 Operating leases
(a) Operating lease commitments
At the reporting date, Council had the following obligations under non‐cancellable operating leases for the lease of
equipment, land and buildings for use within Council's activities (these obligations are not recognised as liabilities):
No later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Total

455
414
869

402
979
1,381
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2016
$'000

2015
$'000

Note 32 Operating leases (cont.)
(b) Operating lease receivables (cont.)
Council has entered into leases on its property. These properties held under operating leases have remaining non‐
cancellable lease terms of between 1 and 20 years. All leases include a CPI based revision of the rental charge
annually.
Future minimum rentals receivable under non‐cancellable operating leases
are as follows:
No later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Greater than five years
Total

631
1,870
5,275
7,776

633
1,973
5,888
8,494

Note 33 Superannuation
Council makes the majority of its employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to the Local
Authorities Superannuation Fund (the Fund). This Fund has two categories of membership, accumulation and
defined benefit, each of which is funded differently. Obligations for contributions to the Fund are recognised as an
expense in the Comprehensive Income Statement when they are made or due.

Accumulation
The Fund's accumulation categories, Vision MySuper and Vision Super Saver, receive both employer and employee
contributions on a progressive basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee
earnings (for the year ended 30 June 2016, this was 9.5 per cent as required under Superannuation Guarantee
legislation).

Defined benefit
Council does not use defined benefit accounting for its defined benefit obligations under the Fund's defined benefit
category. This is because the Fund's defined benefit category is a pooled multi‐employer sponsored plan.
There is no proportional split of the defined benefit liabilities, assets or costs between the participating employers
as the defined benefit obligation is a floating obligation between the participating employers and the only time that
the aggregate obligation is allocated to specific employers is when a call is made. As a result, the level of
participation of Council in the Fund cannot be measured as a percentage compared with other participating
employers. Therefore, the Fund Actuary is unable to allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between employers
for the purposes of AASB 119.

Funding arrangements
Council makes employer contributions to the defined benefit category of the Fund at rates determined by the
Trustee on the advice of the Fund Actuary.
As at 30 June 2015, an interim acturial investigation was held as the Fund provides lifetime pensions in the defined
benefit category. The vested benefit index (VBI) of the defined benefit category of which Council is a contributing
employer was 105.8 per cent. To determine the VBI, the fund Actuary used the following long‐term assumptions:
Net investment returns 7.0 per cent pa
Salary information 4.25 per cent pa
Price inflation (CPI) 2.5 per cent pa.
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Funding arrangements (cont.)
Vision Super has advised that the estimated VBI at 30 June 2016 was 102 per cent. The VBI is to be used as the
primary funding indicator. Because the VBI was above 100 per cent, the 2015 interim actuarial investigation
determined the defined benefit category was in a satisfactory financial position and that no change was necessary
to the defined benefit category’s funding arrangements from prior years.

Employer contributions
Regular contributions
On the basis of the results of the 2015 interim actuarial investigation conducted by the Fund Actuary, Council
makes employer contributions to the Fund’s defined benefit category at rates determined by the Fund’s Trustee.
For the year ended 30 June 2016, this rate was 9.5 per cent of members' salaries (9.5 per cent in 2014‐2015). This
rate will increase in line with any increase to the contribution rate. In addition, Council reimburses the Fund to
cover the excess of the benefits paid as a consequence of retrenchment above the funded resignation or retirement
benefit.

Funding calls
If the defined benefit category is in an unsatisfactory financial position at an actuarial investigation or the defined
benefit category‘s VBI is below its shortfall limit at any time other than the date of the actuarial investigation, the
defined benefit category has a shortfall for the purposes of SPS 160 and the Fund is required to put a plan in place
so that the shortfall is fully funded within three years of the shortfall occurring. The Fund monitors its VBI on a
quarterly basis and the Fund has set its shortfall limit at 97 per cent.
In the event that the Fund Actuary determines that there is a shortfall based on the above requirement, the Fund’s
participating employers (including Council) are required to make an employer contribution to cover the shortfall.
Using the agreed methodology, the shortfall amount is apportioned between the participating employers based on
the pre‐1 July 1993 and post‐30 June 1993 service liabilities of the Fund’s defined benefit category, together with
the employer’s payroll at 30 June 1993 and at the date the shortfall has been calculated.
Due to the nature of the contractual obligations between the participating employers and the Fund, and that the
Fund includes lifetime pensioners and their reversionary beneficiaries, it is unlikely that the Fund will be wound up.
If there is a surplus in the Fund, the surplus cannot be returned to the participating employers. In the event that a
participating employer is wound‐up, the defined benefit obligations of that employer will be transferred to that
employer’s successor.

2015 interim actuarial investigation surplus amounts
The Fund’s interim actuarial investigation as at 30 June 2015 identified the following in the defined benefit category
of which Council is a contributing employer:
A VBI surplus of $130.8 million; and
A total service liability surplus of $239 million.
The VBI surplus means that the market value of the Fund’s assets supporting the defined benefit obligations exceed
the vested benefits that the defined benefit members would have been entitled to if they had all exited on 30 June
2015. The total service liability surplus means that the current value of the assets in the Fund’s defined benefit
category plus expected future contributions exceeds the value of expected future benefits and expenses. Council
was notified of the 30 June 2015 VBI during August 2015.

Future superannuation contributions
The expected contributions to be paid to the defined benefit category of Vision Super for the year ending 30 June
2017 is $597,516.

49

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016
Note 34 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Contingent liabilities
(a) Defined benefit scheme
Council has obligations under a defined benefit superannuation scheme that may result in the need to make
additional contributions to the scheme, matters relating to this potential obligation are outlined in note 33. As a
result of the volatility in financial markets the likelihood of making such contributions in future periods exists. At
this point in time it is not known if additional contributions will be required, their timing or potential amount.

Contingent assets
(b) Contingent assets arising from developer contributions
In accordance with AASB 137, Council is required to recognise an asset for which it is probable that a future
economic benefit will eventuate and the amount of this asset can be reliably measured. Council anticipates
developer contributions to be received in respect of estates currently under development. Council estimates the
total of these contributions for 2016‐2017 to be $0.783 million ($0.763 million 2014‐2015).

Note 35 Financial instruments
(a)

Objectives and policies
Council's principal financial instruments comprise cash assets, term deposits, receivables (excluding statutory
receivables), payables (excluding statutory payables) and bank borrowings. Details of the significant accounting
policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on
which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity
instrument is disclosed in note 1 of the financial statements. Risk management is carried out by senior management
under policies approved by Council. These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure to Council
and appropriate procedures, controls and risk minimisation.

(b) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of our financial instruments will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices. Council's exposures to market risk are primarily through interest rate risk with only
insignificant exposure to other price risks and no exposure to foreign currency risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. Council's interest rate liability risk arises primarily
from long term loans and borrowings at fixed rates which exposes us to fair value interest rate risk. Cash flow
interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates.
Investment of surplus funds is made with approved financial institutions under the Local Government Act 1989 .
Council manages interest rate risk by adopting an investment policy that ensures:
‐ Diversification of investment product
‐ Monitoring of return on investment;
‐ Benchmarking of returns and comparison with budget.
There has been no significant change in Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing
interest rate risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.
Interest rate movements have not been sufficiently significant during the year to have an impact on Council's year
end result.
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(c)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and
cause us to make a financial loss. Council has exposure to credit risk on some financial assets included in the
Balance Sheet. To help manage this risk:
‐ Council have a policy for establishing credit limits for the entities Council deals with
‐ Council may require collateral where appropriate
‐ Council only invest surplus funds with financial institutions which have a recognised credit rating specified in
Council's investment policy
Receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across the ratepayer, business and government sectors.
Credit risk associated with Council's financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is secured by a charge over
the rateable property.
There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired.
Council may also be subject to credit risk for transactions which are not included in the Balance Sheet, such as
when Council provide a guarantee for another party. Details of our contingent liabilities are disclosed in note 34.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount,
net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the Balance Sheet and Notes to the Financial
Statements. Council does not hold any collateral.

(d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of Council's operational liquidity requirements it will not have
sufficient funds to settle a transaction when required or will be forced to sell a financial asset at below value or may
be unable to settle or recover a financial asset.
To help reduce these risks Council:
‐ Has a liquidity policy which targets a minimum and average level of cash and cash equivalents to be
maintained
‐ Has readily accessible standby facilities and other funding arrangements in place
‐ Has a liquidity portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested within various bands of liquid
instruments
‐ Monitors budget to actual performance on a regular basis
‐ Sets limits on borrowings relating to the percentage of loans to rate revenue and percentage of loan principal
repayments to rate revenue.
Council's maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as disclosed on the face
of the Balance Sheet is deemed insignificant based on prior periods' data and current assessment of risk.
There has been no significant change in Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing
liquidity risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.
With the exception of borrowings, all financial liabilities are expected to be settled within normal terms of trade.
Details of the maturity profile for borrowings are disclosed at note 27.
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value.

(e)

Fair value
Fair value hierarchy
Council's financial assets and liabilities are not valued in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, Council's financial
assets and liabilities are measured at amortised cost.
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(f)

Sensitivity disclosure analysis
Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts and management's knowledge and
experience of the financial markets, Council believes the following movements are 'reasonably possible' over the
next 12 months:
‐ A parallel shift of +2 per cent and ‐1 per cent in market interest rates (AUD) from year‐end rates of 2 per cent.
These movements will not have a material impact on the valuation of Council's financial assets and liabilities, nor
will they have a material impact on the results of Council's operations.

Note 36 Related party transactions
(i)

Responsible Persons
Names of persons holding the position of a Responsible Person at Frankston City Council at any time during the year
are:
Councillors
Councillor James Dooley
(Mayor from 12 November 2015 to current)
(Mayor)
Councillor Sandra Mayer
(Mayor from 12 November 2014 to 12 November
(Mayor)
2015)
Councillor Glen Aitken
Councillor Brian Cunial
Councillor Colin Hampton
Councillor Michael O'Reilly
Councillor Rebekah Spelman
Councillor Darrel Taylor
Councillor Suzette Tayler
Chief Executive Officer

Dennis Hovenden

(29 October 2012 to current)

(ii) Remuneration of Responsible Persons
The numbers of Responsible Officers, whose total remuneration from Council and any related entities, excluding
retirement benefits, fall within the following bands:

$ 30,000 ‐ $ 39,999
$ 50,000 ‐ $ 59,999
$ 70,000 ‐ $ 79,999
$310,000 ‐ $319,999
$330,000 ‐ $339,999

Total remuneration for the reporting year for Responsible Persons included
above amounted to:

2016
No.

2015
No.

7
1
1
‐
1

7
1
1
1
‐

10

10

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

685

661
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(iii) Senior Officers remuneration
A Senior Officer other than a Responsible Person, is an officer of Council who:
a) has management responsibilities and reports directly to the Chief Executive; or
b) whose total annual remuneration exceeds $139,000
The number of Senior Officers other than the Responsible Persons, are shown below in their relevant income
bands:
Income Range:
$133,000 ‐ $139,999
$140,000 ‐ $149,999
$150,000 ‐ $159,999
$160,000 ‐ $169,999
$170,000 ‐ $179,999
$180,000 ‐ $189,999
$190,000 ‐ $199,999
$230,000 ‐ $239,999
$240,000 ‐ $249,999
$280,000 ‐ $290,999

Total Remuneration for the reporting year for Senior Officers included
above, amounted to:

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

1
2
‐
9
3
1
1
‐
‐
3
20

2
1
4
11
6
‐
‐
2
1
‐
27

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

3,806

4,689

(iv) Responsible persons retirement benefits
No retirement benefits have been made by Council to a Responsible Person (2014‐2015, nil).

(v) Loans to responsible persons
No loans have been made, guaranteed or secured by Council to a Responsible Person during the reporting year
(2014‐2015, nil).

(vi) Transactions responsible persons
No transactions other than remuneration payments or the reimbursement of approved expenses were entered
into by Council with Responsible Persons, or related parties of such Responsible Persons during the reporting year
(2014‐2015, nil).
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Subsidiary
Peninsula Leisure Pty Ltd (formally know as FRAC Pty Ltd) (ACN: 160 239 770)

Background
Peninsula Leisure Pty Ltd is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Frankston City Council. Peninsula Leisure Pty Ltd operates
Peninsula Aquatic Recreation Centre (Frankston PARC) an aquatic and recreation facility servicing the region. The
centre was established in 2014 and is located near the heart of the Frankston CBD. Peninsula Leisure Pty Ltd also
operates Pines Forest Aquatic centre, Frankston's largest outdoor swimming pool. The centre is open seasonally
and is located in Frankston's north.

Summarised financial information
2016
$'000

2015
$'000

11,182
9,941
1,241

8,250
7,941
309

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive result

1,241

309

Summarised balance sheet
Current assets
Non-current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

2,509
42
2,551
886
99
985
1,566

1,255
24
1,279
906
47
953
326

Summarised statement of cash flows
Net cash provided by
Net cash provided used in investing activities
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

1,230
(31)
1,199

Summarised statement of comprehensive income
Total income
Total expenses
Surplus for the year

904
904

Note 38 Events occurring after balance date
No matters have occurred after balance date that require disclosure in the financial report.
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